Utah Medicaid Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee

Drug Class Review

Approved and Emerging Non-steroidal Agents for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis

Abrocitinib (Cibingo)

Baricitinib (Olumiant)*

Upadacitinib (Rinvoq)

Ruxolitinib (Opzelura)

Tralokinumab (Adbry)

Dupilumab (Dupixent)

Crisaborole (Eucrisa)

Tacrolimus (Protopic)

Pimecrolimus (Elidel)

*The "emerging" medication is not yet FDA-approved for treatment of atopic dermatitis

Report finalized in January 2022 Report presented in February 2022

Review prepared by: Monet Luloh, Pharm.D., Clinical Pharmacist Lauren Heath, Pharm.D., MS, BCACP, Clinical Pharmacist Valerie Gonzales, Pharm.D., Clinical Pharmacist Jacob Crook, MStat, Data and Statistical Analyst Joanne LaFleur, Pharm.D., MSPH, Associate Professor University of Utah College of Pharmacy

University of Utah College of Pharmacy, Drug Regimen Review Center Copyright © 2022 by University of Utah College of Pharmacy Salt Lake City, Utah. All rights reserved

Contents

Abbreviations	4
Executive Summary	6
Introduction	12
Table 1. FDA -Approved Agents for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis	14
Table 2. Emerging (Non FDA- Approved) Agent for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis	17
Methods	17
Disease Overview	19
Table 3. Revised Hanifin and Raika Criteria for the Clinical Diagnosis of Atopic Dermatitis ^{3,4}	
Table 4. Common Severity Scales for Assessing Atopic Dermatitis ^{3,4}	20
Clinical Practice Guideline Recommendations	21
Table 5. Summary of Clinical Practice Guideline Recommendations Regarding Non-steroidal Agents for	or
Atopic Dermatitis	23
Pharmacology	26
Table 6. Mechanism of Action of Non-steroidal Atopic Dermatitis Products ^a	26
Pharmacokinetics and Use in Special Populations	28
Table 7. Pharmacokinetic, Drug-drug Interactions and Dosage Adjustment Information	29
Table 8. Recommendations during Pregnancy or Breastfeeding from Product Information	35
Direct Comparative Evidence	38
Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews	38
Table 10. Head-to-head Randomized Controlled Trials of Dupilumab	57
Safety	61
Table 11. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for JAK inhibitors from Prescribing Informatio	n 64
Table 12. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for Topical Calcineurin Inhibitors and Biologic	
Products from Prescribing Information	71
References	74
Appendix A: Literature Searches	80
Table 1. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Systematic Reviews	80
Table 2. Epistemonikos Search Strategy for Systematic Reviews	80
Table 3. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Janus Kinase Inhibitors and Tralokinumab	
Randomized Controlled Trials	81
Table 4. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Pimecrolimus and Crisaborole Randomized Cont	rolled
	81
Table 5. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Dupilumab Randomized Controlled Trials	81 82
	02
Appendix B: Screening of Studies	83
Figure 1. PRISMA Flow Chart for Publication Screening	83
Appendix C: Supplementary Evidence Tables	84
Table 1. Randomized Controlled Trials (of the Same Agents) Included in Systematic Reviews for the	
Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis	84
Table 2. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Abrocitinib	87

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib	92
Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib	
Table 5. Randomized Placebo Controlled Trials of Tralokinumab	111
Appendix D: Supplementary Guideline Tables	115
Table 1. Summary of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of AD	115
Table 2. Guideline Level of Evidence and Strength of Recommendation Definitions	119
Table 3. Management Plan of Atopic Dermatitis for Primary Care Providers ^{3,37}	120
Appendix E: Included and Excluded References	121

Abbreviations

The following contains a list of abbreviations used throughout the main text of this report:

AAAAI	American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology
AAD	American Academy of Dermatology
ACAAI	American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology
AD	atopic dermatitis
ADA	anti-drug antibodies
AEs	adverse events
BSA	body surface area
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CDLQI	Children's Dermatology Life Quality Index
CI	confidence interval
DDI	drug-drug interactions
DLQI	Dermatology Life Quality Index
DVT	deep vein thrombosis
EADV	European Academy of Dermatology and Venerology
EASI	Eczema Area Severity Index
EDF	European Dermatology Forum
ETFAD	European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
HADS	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
HR	hazard ratio
ICER	Institute for Clinical and Economic Review
IGA	Investigator's Global Assessment
IGADA	Investigator's Global Atopic Dermatitis Assessment (IGADA)
IL	interleukins
IL-4	interleukin-4
IL-13	Interleukin-13
ISGA	Investigator's Static Global Assessment
JAK	Janus kinase inhibitor
kg	kilogram
LD	loading dose
MACE	major adverse cardiovascular events
mg	milligram
MI	myocardial infarction
mL	milliliter
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NMA	network meta-analysis
NMSC	non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC)
PDE-4	phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE-4) inhibitor
PDL	Preferred Drug List
PE	pulmonary embolism
РК	pharmacokinetic
POEM	Patient Oriented Eczema Measure

PP-NRS	Peak Pruritus Numerical Rating Scale
PsA	psoriatic arthritis
PSAAD	Pruritus and Symptoms Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis
P&T	pharmacy & therapeutics
QoL	quality of life
RA	rheumatoid arthritis
RCTs	randomized controlled trials
RR	relative risk
SASSAD	Six Area, Six Sign Atopic Dermatitis
SCORAD	Scoring Atopic Dermatitis Index
SQ	subcutaneous
SRs	systematic reviews
SRMAs	systematic reviews and meta-analysis
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
Tb	tuberculosis
TCIs	topical calcineurin inhibitors
TCSs	topical corticosteroids
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TPIs	topical phosphodiesterase inhibitors
UK	United Kingdom
URTI	upper respiratory tract infection
US	United States
UTI	urinary tract infection
UV	ultraviolet
vIGA-AD	validated Investigator's Global Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis
VTE	venous thromboembolism

Executive Summary

Background:

Disease Introduction: Atopic dermatitis (AD), also referred to as atopic eczema, is a chronic, relapsing, inflammatory skin condition that predominately affects children \leq 5 years of age, but may occur at any age.¹⁻⁵ Treatment consists of topical and systemic therapies. For mild-to-moderate disease, topical treatment as monotherapy is usually sufficient, whereas systemic treatment is reserved for more severe cases.^{3,5-7} This report will review non-steroidal agents that are either under United States (US) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) review (ie, "emerging" therapies) or approved therapies to treat AD.

Agents included in this report: 6 recently-approved agents are included in this report:

- i. 2 oral Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors, abrocitinib (Cinbingo) and upadacitinib (Rinvog);
- ii. 2 subcutaneous products, dupilumab (Dupixent), an antibody that antagonizes interleukin-4 (IL-4) receptor alpha, and tralokinumab (Adbry), a selective IL-13 targeting antibody; and
- iii. 2 topical products, ruxolitinib (Opzelura), a JAK inhibitor, and crisaborole (Eucrisa), a phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE-4) inhibitor.

One other new systemic JAK inhibitor included is baricitinib, which is not yet FDA-approved but is currently under review for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD. Baricitinib has already been approved in other countries for this use.⁸ According to a press release, the FDA decision date for baricitinib has been extended due to safety concerns for major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) and malignancies based on the post-marketing safety study [Oral Surveillance] of another oral JAK inhibitor, tofacitinib.^{9,10} In December 2021, the FDA required revisions to the black box warning for tofacitinib, upadacitinib, and baricitinib to reflect the increased risk of MACE, mortality, and malignancies compared to TNF blockers in rheumatoid arthritis [RA] patients.^{10,11}

Older agents include topical calcineurin inhibitors (TCIs), pimecrolimus (Elidel) and tacrolimus (Protopic).

Indications of included agents: The products reviewed in this report have AD indications that differ (or are likely to differ) in several respects, including age of approved use, AD severity, and route/frequency of administration. They are similar in that they are all approved (or expected to be approved) for use in the adult population; 6 of the 9 products are also approved for the pediatric population (except for abrocitinib, baricitinib, and tralokinumab). Among those with pediatric indications, crisaborole is approved for use at the youngest age (\geq 3 months); other agents have ages for pediatric uses that range from 2+ years (the TCIs, tacrolimus and pimecrolimus), 6+ years (dupilumab), and 12+ years (ruxolitinib and upadacitinib). Most topical products are approved for mild-to-moderate AD except for tacrolimus, which is approved for moderate-to-severe disease. The non-topical treatments tralokinumab and dupilumab are also approved for moderate-to-severe disease that is not controlled by topical treatments, or for when topical treatments cannot be used.^{12,13} Upadacitinib and abrocitinib are approved for moderate-to-severe AD, that is not adequately controlled with other systemic agents, including biologics, or when the use of those therapies is not advised.^{14,15} In Europe, baricitinib is approved for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD in adults requiring systemic treatment for adequate control.⁸

Some of the products are approved for additional non-AD uses. Dupilumab is also approved as add-on treatment for certain types of moderate to severe asthma (ages 6+ years) and as add-on treatment for rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis in adults.¹³ Upadacitinib and baricitinib are approved for the treatment of adults with moderate-to-severe RA with a previous failure or intolerance to one or more tumor necrosis factor (TNF) antagonists,^{15,16} and upadacitinib is also approved for psoriatic arthritis (PsA) in adults with an intolerance or an inadequate response to one or more TNF antagonists.¹⁵

Guideline Recommendations:

Goals of pharmacologic treatment for AD include reducing skin inflammation and pruritus, restoring skin barrier properties, and improving patient quality-of-life (QoL).^{2,5,6,17}

Pimecrolimus and tacrolimus: The most recent US guidelines from American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) [2014] and American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (AAAAI)/ American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (ACAAI) [2012] recommend pimecrolimus and tacrolimus as second-line anti-inflammatory agents for acute and non-continuous chronic treatment in adults and children (ages 2+ years) who have failed to respond to other topical prescription treatments, or who have intolerance to those treatments;^{5,6,17-19} however, only the lower concentration of tacrolimus, which is available in 0.03% and 0.1% formulations, is recommended for children ages 2 to 15 years.¹⁹ During pregnancy, the European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis (ETFAD) <u>favors the use of topical tacrolimus</u> over topical pimecrolimus due to the greater amount of data with systemic use during pregnancy.²⁰ (Nonetheless, prescribing information for both products recommend caution and careful risk/benefit analysis in pregnancy.^{18,19}) These agents may be preferred to topical corticosteroids (TCSs) in particular situations, such as steroid resistance or induced atrophy, involvement of sensitive areas, and long-term continuous use of TCSs.⁶

Newer agents: The US guidelines predate FDA approval for crisaborole, topical ruxolitinib, abrocitinib, upadacitinib, dupilumab, and tralokinumab. However, some European organizations have provided recommendations about the use of systemic agents not addressed by US guidelines. For example, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends dupilumab or baricitinib as alternative options for adults with moderate-to-severe AD, unresponsive or intolerant/contraindicated to at least one other systemic immunosuppressant agent (eg, cyclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, or mycophenolate mofetil).^{21,22} The 2018 consensus-based European guideline recommends the use of dupilumab exclusively for moderate-to-severe AD in adults, in which disease control is not achieved with topical treatment or a contraindication exists; and it is not suitable to use other systemic treatments (similar to those NICE mentions).^{17,23} The 2020 European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venerology (ETFAD/EADV) position paper recommends dupilumab for individuals (\geq 12 years of age) with moderate-to-severe AD, requiring systemic therapy.²⁴

Objective:

The aim of this report is to compile and synthesize experimental evidence from systematic reviews (SRs) and/or randomized controlled trials (RCTs) for any head-to-head safety and efficacy comparisons of the non-steroidal AD agents and any placebo comparisons for non-FDA approved non-steroidal treatments for AD.

Methods:

A systematic search in Ovid MEDLINE and Epistemonikos (SRs only) was conducted from January 2018 to December 2021 for direct head-to-head (for all agents) and placebo-controlled (for non-FDA approved agents) comparisons. Ovid-Medline was searched for RCTs, to supplement the SR search, with a date restriction based on the latest search date of an included robust SR's search strategy, adjusted for the findings for each particular agent. We additionally searched the drug sponsor's website for any preliminary information about drugs that were not approved by the FDA. As some non-FDA-approved medications have been approved in other countries, product information for these agents was searched on the regulatory site of other countries.

Utilization Data: Pharmacy claims were extracted among the Utah Medicaid fee-for-service population from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2021. Data included unique patients counts and claims for each product. Utilization was stratified by age groups (≥ 18 years of age, < 18 years of age), including additional categorization among pediatric ages (ie, 12-17, 6-11, and <6).

Literature search results:

Comparative Efficacy Evidence: 11 SRs and 12 RCTs were identified that met eligibility criteria, including several head-to-head comparisons of tacrolimus versus pimecrolimus, a small number head-to-head comparisons with dupilumab (versus upadacitinib or abrocitinib), and placebo comparisons of baricitinib. No head-to-head studies were found for the remaining approved agents (crisaborole, ruxolitinib, or tralokinumab).

Tacrolimus vs. pimecrolimus: The majority of the evidence suggests that tacrolimus is more effective at treating AD compared to pimecrolimus among children and adults with varying disease severity levels ranging from mild to severe.²⁵⁻²⁷ In adults with moderate to very severe AD, study withdrawal due to a lack of efficacy occurred more frequently with pimecrolimus compared to tacrolimus.^{25,26} In addition, tacrolimus produced a more rapid relief of symptoms compared to pimecrolimus. Numerically, more events of local application-site reactions (eg, burning, pruritus, pain, warmth, erythema) occurred in the tacrolimus-treated patients compared to patients treated with pimecrolimus; however, the differences were not statistically significant.^{25,26}

Dupilumab vs. upadacitinib or abrocitinib: A head-to-head trial suggests that the higher dose of upadacitinib (30 mg daily) is more effective than dupilumab (300 mg every other week after 600 mg loading dose [LD]) at improving moderate-to-severe AD in patients ages 12 years and older at 16 weeks.²⁸ In addition, a quicker onset of action and greater improvements in skin clearance was observed with upadacitinib compared to dupilumab. Rates of acne, serious infection, eczema herpeticum, and herpes zoster were reported more frequently in patients treated with upadacitinib, whereas rates of conjunctivitis (mild or moderate) and injection site reactions were higher among patients that received dupilumab.²⁸

A direct head-to-head trial in adults only, showed comparable efficacy at week 16 for abrocitinib (100 mg or 200 mg daily) versus dupilumab; however the higher end dose of abrocitinib (200 mg) was better at reducing itch response by week 2, suggesting an earlier onset of action compared to dupilumab.²⁹

Conjunctivitis occurred most frequently in the dupilumab arm (6.2%). However, the safety profile may favor dupilumab over abrocitinib in terms of overall adverse events, particularly for acne and nausea.²⁹

Baricitinib vs placebo: No head-to-head comparisons were identified for baricitinib versus other nonsteroidal agents for the treatment of AD. In placebo-controlled trials in adults with AD uncontrolled by TCS therapy, baricitinib (4 mg, 2 mg, or 1 mg daily) demonstrated improvement in signs and symptoms of moderate-to-severe AD compared to placebo, with higher doses showing a larger magnitude of effect.³⁰⁻³² A significantly faster onset of action was observed with baricitinib 4 mg and 2 mg compared to placebo, whereas baricitinib 1 mg made modest improvements compared to placebo. The most common adverse events across clinical trials were URTIs, herpes simplex infection, and nasopharyngitis.³⁰⁻³²

Safety warnings and precautions:

TCIs carry a <u>black box warning</u> regarding a possible increased risk of malignancy and recommend avoiding *continuous* long-term use due to the lack of established long-term safety data.^{18,19} Other considerations with TCIs include the possibility of an elevated risk of immunosuppression and lymphadenopathy, a recommendation to avoid sun exposure or application of TCIs when experiencing pre-malignant lesions, bacterial/viral infections, or conditions associated with insufficient skin barriers leading to increased systemic absorption.^{18,19} TCIs should be avoided in the immunocompromised or those with a developing immune system (children under 2 years of age). Unlike pimecrolimus, tacrolimus carries a warning for renal insufficiency due to post-market reports of acute renal failure during its use.¹⁹

Crisaborole is well-tolerated and carries only a warning about a risk of hypersensitivity reactions (eg, severe itching, swelling, and erythema).³³

The systemic monoclonal antibodies dupilumab and tralokinumab carry warnings for hypersensitivity reactions, development of ocular side effects (eg, conjunctivitis and keratitis), and the need to treat parasitic helminth infections prior to initiating treatment.^{12,13} Dupilumab carries additional warnings related to use in patients with asthma, and recommends that patients avoid abruptly stopping corticosteroids (topical or systemic) when starting dupilumab.¹³ In patients with asthma and chronic sinusitis with nasal polyps treated with dupilumab, serious systemic eosinophilic conditions have been reported.

Similar to the systemic monoclonal antibodies, the administration of live vaccinations should be avoid during treatment with systemic JAK inhibitors.^{15,16,34} The JAK inhibitors each also carry risks for pharmacokinetic drug-drug interactions, which vary by product.^{14-16,35} They also carry warnings about risks for hematologic cytopenias (types vary by product).¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Product labeling for JAK inhibitors include <u>black box warnings</u> about serious infections (eg, tuberculosis and viral hepatitis), which necessitates screening before initiation, as well as increased risks of serious thrombotic events, all-cause mortality, malignancy, and major cardiovascular events.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Warnings unique to baricitinib and upadacitinib include risks of gastrointestinal perforation and liver enzyme elevations.^{15,16} In addition, baricitinib may cause hypersensitivity reactions.¹⁶ Upadacitinib is associated with an increased risk for embryo-fetal toxicity.¹⁵ Note that warnings for baricitinib were extrapolated from labeling based on FDA approval for its indication for RA; this may or may not change if this product is approved for AD in the US.

Summary:

No direct evidence was found comparing 4 of the non-steroidal AD treatments (topical ruxolitinib, tralokinumab, crisaborole, and baricitinib) to any other. There was 1 study each comparing oral JAK inhibitors (abrocitinib and upadacitinib) to dupilumab for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD.^{28,29} These studies suggest higher doses of upadacitinib (30 mg daily) are more effective than dupilumab (300 mg every other week), and both upadacitinib and abrocitinib had a faster onset of action compared to dupilumab at skin clearance and relieving itch, respectively. Rates of acne, serious infection, and serious adverse events were numerically higher with either JAK inhibitor (at the higher dose), whereas rates of conjunctivitis (mild or moderate) were higher among patients that received dupilumab.^{28,29} Relative to other systemic therapies, dupilumab has the advantage of having FDA approval for other atopic conditions (asthma and chronic rhinosinusitis),¹³ which are common comorbidities among patients with AD.³⁶ For TCIs, the head-to-head experimental evidence suggests that tacrolimus is more effective for AD than pimecrolimus in children and adults with varying disease severity levels, but it may have a higher incidence of local application site reactions.²⁵⁻²⁷

The safety profile of the products varies based on the formulation (topical versus systemic) and generally by class of the non-steroidal therapy.

US guidelines that predate regulatory approval of most non-steroidal agents do not prefer one TCI over another; however, TCIs are preferred in certain situations (eg, sensitive areas, steroid-induced skin atrophy) to TCSs.^{5,6} Non-steroidal systemic agents are typically reserved for patients with moderate-to-severe AD who have not adequately responded to conventional topical therapy. The two oral JAK inhibitors that have been approved for moderate-to-severe AD by the FDA (abrocitinib and upadacitinib), are approved for refractory AD or for AD that cannot be advisably treated by other systemic therapies including biologics.^{14,15} The oral JAK inhibitor (baricitinib) remains under FDA review for moderate-to-severe AD in patients that require systemic treatment for adequate control.

Utah Medicaid utilization findings:

Products preferred by Utah Medicaid, according to the Preferred Drug List (PDL) published January 1, 2022, include topical pimecrolimus (generic), topical tacrolimus (brand Protopic), and dupilumab (brand Dupixent). Non-preferred drugs include crisaborole (brand Eucrisa), upadacitinib (brand Rinvoq), baricitinib (brand, Olumiant), generic tacrolimus, and pimecrolimus (brand Elidel). The recently-approved products, topical ruxolitinib, tralokinumab, and abrocitinib, are not included on the PDL.

Among Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) pharmacy claims data, over a 3-year period from January 2019 through December 2021, 150 unique patients filled a prescription for a preferred agent; of these, 62 (41%) were under 18 years of age. In the overall population in 2021, the most highly utilized agents in order of frequency during this period were dupilumab (40% of claims), generic pimecrolimus cream (29% of claims), and tacrolimus (28% of claims). Among those under 18 years, the most highly-utilized agents were generic pimecrolimus cream, followed by tacrolimus ointment. Utilization was lowest for crisaborole; though notably, majority of crisaborole claims were among pediatric patients. We found no fills for the recently-approved agents, tralokinumab or ruxolitinib. Claims for abrocitinib and upadacitinib were excluded because they were not FDA-approved for the indication of AD at the time of data extraction.

Regarding preference of the 9 reviewed non-steroidal treatments for AD in the Utah Medicaid PDL, the Utah Medicaid P&T Committee may consider the following recommendations:

- A. Consider including as preferred at least one non-steroidal topical product that is FDA-approved for pediatric AD.
 - AD affects up to 20-25% of the pediatric population and approximately 1-3% of adults.^{3,5} Among the pediatric population, approximately 80% of AD is mild. Consequently, it is appropriate to treat patients in a stepwise manner, starting with topical pharmacologic therapy after failure of non-pharmacologic options like moisturizers. Guidelines do not prefer a particular TCI (ie, pimecrolimus or tacrolimus), but they do prefer TCIs to TCSs in key situations (ie, steroid resistance, involvement of sensitive areas, steroidassociated skin atrophy).⁶
 - The place in therapy for crisaborole and topical ruxolitinib is not established by guidelines; the indication for ruxolitinib per FDA labeling is for short-term use in non-immunocompromised patients ages 12+ years with AD that cannot be treated with other topical therapies.³⁵ Crisaborole is an option as continuous therapy for mild-to-moderate AD in children as young as 3 months old.³³
- B. Consider including as preferred at least one systemic biologic agent that is FDA-approved for moderate-to-severe AD.
 - Depending on the location and severity of lesions and the percentage of body surface area (BSA) affected, systemic therapy may be more appropriate than topicals for moderate-to-severe AD.³⁷
 - According to the FDA-approved label, oral JAK inhibitors (abrocitinib and upadacitinib) should be used when other systemic agents cannot be used, including biologics such as dupilumab or tralokinumab.^{14,15} Patients requiring these therapies could access them with prior authorization.

Introduction

Atopic dermatitis (AD), also referred to as atopic eczema, is a chronic, relapsing, inflammatory skin condition that predominately affects children \leq 5 years of age, but may occur at any age.¹⁻⁵ AD affects up to 20-25% of the pediatric population and approximately 1-3% of adults.^{3,5} Clinical manifestations consist of pruritus, pain, and persistent or relapsing inflammatory eczematous lesions due to skin barrier dysfunction and immune dysregulation.^{3,5} Pharmacologic treatment consists of topical therapies typically for mild-to-moderate disease, whereas systemic therapy is reserved for more severe cases.^{3,5-7}

The scope of this review consists of 9 agents for the treatment of AD. Recently-approved agents include 2 oral Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors, abrocitinib (Cinbinqo) and upadacitinib (Rinvoq); dupilumab (Dupixent), a subcutaneous an interleukin-4 (IL-4) receptor alpha antagonist that blocks IL-4 and IL-13 transmission; tralokinumab (Adbry), a subcutaneously administered monoclonal antibody that is selective for IL-13; the topical Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitor. Older agents include topical calcineurin inhibitors (TCIs), pimecrolimus (Elidel) and tacrolimus (Protopic). An emerging therapy that is currently under United States (US) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) review for the treatment of AD is the oral JAK inhibitor, baricitinib (Olumiant).

Crisaborole was approved in 2016 for mild-to-moderate AD, initially for patients 2 years of age and older. Based on the phase IV trial CrisADe CARE 1, crisaborole is now approved in patients as young as 3 months of age.³⁸ TCIs (pimecrolimus and tacrolimus) are labeled for use in patients 2 years of age and older with tacrolimus approved for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD, whereas pimecrolimus is indicated for mild-to-moderate AD.^{18,19} Tacrolimus is available in two different concentrations, 0.03% and 0.1%, with only the lower concentration recommended for children 2 to 15 years of age.¹⁹ Topical ruxolitinib was approved in 2021 for mild-to-moderate AD in patients 12 years of age and older.³⁵ The subcutaneously-administered monoclonal antibody, tralokinumab, was approved in December 2021 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD in adults with an inadequate response to topical prescription therapies or when these therapies are not recommended.¹² The systemic JAK inhibitor, abrocitinib, was approved in January 2022 for the treatment of refractory, moderate-to-severe AD in adults, uncontrolled with other systemic agents, including biologics.¹⁴ These medications (pimecrolimus, tacrolimus, ruxolitinib, abrocitinib, and tralokinumab) have no other FDA approved indications.^{12,14,18,19,33,35} Another systemic JAK inhibitor, upadacitinib was approved January 2022 for refractory, moderate-to-severe AD in patients 12 years of age and older, in which disease is not controlled with other systemic agents, including biologics.¹⁵ Dupilumab was approved in 2017 for moderate-to-severe AD in adults, uncontrolled by topical prescription treatments (or when these should not be used);¹³ in 2020, the indication was extended to children aged 6 years and older.³⁹ Although not yet approved for AD in the US, baricitinib is approved for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD in adults requiring systemic treatment for adequate control in Europe.⁸ No dupilumab or tralokinumab biosimilars are available.⁴⁰ Generic products are available for the TCIs, but not for any of the remaining non-biologic therapies.

According to a press release, the FDA decision date for baricitinib has been extended due to safety concerns for major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) and malignancies based on the post-

marketing safety study [Oral Surveillance] of another oral JAK inhibitor, tofacitinib.^{9,10} The Oral Surveillance study revealed safety concerns for major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) and malignancies for tofacitinib compared to an alternative treatment (tumor necrosis factor [TNF] blockers) among older rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients.^{9,10} In December 2021, the FDA required revisions to the black box warning for tofacitinib, upadacitinib, and baricitinib to reflect the increased risk of MACE, mortality, and malignancies compared to TNF blockers in RA patients.^{10,11}

Some of the products have other FDA-approved indications. Upadacitinib and baricitinib are FDAapproved for the treatment of adults with moderate to severe RA with a previous failure or intolerance to one or more TNF antagonists.^{15,16} In addition, upadacitinib is approved for psoriatic arthritis (PsA) in adults with an intolerance or an inadequate response to one or more TNF antagonists.¹⁵ Dupilumab is indicated as add-on maintenance treatment for moderate-to-severe asthma (eosinophilic phenotype or oral corticosteroid dependent) in patients 6 years of age and older.¹³ In adult patients, it is approved as add-on maintenance treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis.¹³

Regarding frequency of administration, all of the topical therapies are applied twice daily. The oral JAK inhibitors, abrocitinib and upadacitinib, are given once daily.^{14,15} The long-acting monoclonal antibodies, dupilumab and tralokinumab are given the least frequently, once every 2 weeks. They can be patient-or caregiver-administered (depending on site), with appropriate training.

The research objective of this report is to determine whether there are significant efficacy and safety differences for AD treatment between the 9 agents of interest summarized in **Table 1** and **Table 2**. Products preferred by Utah Medicaid, according to the Preferred Drug List (PDL) published January 1, 2022, include topical pimecrolimus (generic), topical tacrolimus (brand Protopic), and dupilumab (brand Dupixent). Non-preferred drugs include crisaborole (brand Eucrisa), upadacitinib (brand Rinvoq), baricitinib (brand, Olumiant), generic tacrolimus, and pimecrolimus (brand Elidel). The recently-approved products, topical ruxolitinib, tralokinumab, and abrocitinib, are not included on the PDL.

Regarding the Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) pharmacy prescription fills for January 2019 through December 2021, 150 unique patients filled a prescription for a preferred agent; of these, 62 (41%) were under 18 years of age. In the overall population in 2021, the most highly utilized agents in order of frequency during this period were dupilumab (40% of claims), generic pimecrolimus cream (29% of claims), and tacrolimus (28% of claims). Among those under 18 years, the most highly-utilized agents were generic pimecrolimus cream, followed by tacrolimus ointment. Utilization was lowest for crisaborole; though notably, majority of crisaborole claims were among pediatric patients. We found no fills for the recently-approved agents, tralokinumab or ruxolitinib. Claims for abrocitinib and upadacitinib were excluded because they were not FDA-approved for the indication of AD at the time of data extraction.

Table 1 provides an overview of approved indications and prescribing information for FDA-approved non-steroidal AD agents. **Table 2** includes *proposed* AD indications and dosing for baricitinib, the agent currently seeking FDA approval for AD.

Generic Name Brand and Preparation (approval year)Labeled IndicationDosing RecommendationOther FDA-approved IndicationsCrisaboroleMild-to-moderate AD, continuous useAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneEucrisa • 2% ointment (60g, 100g tube) (2016)Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneFlidel Generic available • 1% cream (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2001)Moderate-os-evere AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after fai	Table 1. FDA -Approved Agents for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis			
Topical Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitor*CrisaboroleMild-to-moderate AD, continuous useAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneEucrisa • 2% ointment (60g, 100g tube) (2016)Age: 2 3 months oldAge: 2 3 months oldNoneFinecrolinusMild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneElidel Generic available • 1% cream (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2001)Age: 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneProtopic Generic available • 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000)Age: 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 16NoneFuxolitinibMild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 16NoneProtopic (2000)Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Do no use with occlusive dressing • Do no use with occlusive dressing • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Not for children under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Do not use with occlusive dressin	Generic Name Brand and Preparation (approval year)	Labeled Indication	Dosing Recommendation	Other FDA-approved Indications
Crisaborole Mild-to-moderate AD, continuous use Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Eurrisa Age: ≥ 3 months old Age: ≥ 3 months old None 2% ointment (60g, 100g tube) (2016) Topical Calcineurin Inhibutor(s)* None Pimecrolimus Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Elidel Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None 1% cream (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Protopic Age: ≥ years Not for children under 2 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years Not of children under 2 years 0.1% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Not for children under 2 years Adults and children: thin layer topical Jon tuse with occlusive dressing Adults and children: thin layer topical Jon tuse with occlusive dressing 0.1% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000) Mild-t		Topical Phosphodiesterase 4	Inhibitora	
Eucrisa Age: ≥ 3 months old Age: ≥ 3 months old • 2% ointment (60g, 100g tube) • 2% ointment (75,9" Pimecrolinus Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Adults and children: thin layer topical (10,00) None Elidel Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Adults and children: thin layer topical (10,00) None (2001) Age: ≥ 2 years • Not for children under 2 years • Not for children under 2 years None (2001) • Not for children under 2 years • No tor children under 2 years None (2001) • Not for children under 2 years • None topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Adults and children: thin layer topical years None (2001) • No for children under 2 years • None topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • Do not use with occlusive dressing • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • Do not use	Crisaborole	Mild-to-moderate AD, continuous use	Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID	None
 2% ointment (60g, 100g tube) (2016) Topical Calcineurin Inhibitor(5)^p Adults and children: thin layer topical years bo not use with occlusive dressing None Age: 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use^b Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use^b 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use^b 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children under 2 years No no not use with occlusive dressing No no not use with occlusive dressing No tor children under 2 years No no not use with occlusive dressing No no	Eucrisa	Age: ≥ 3 months old		
100g tube) (2016)Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ⁰ Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneElidel Generic available • 1% cream (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2001)Age: 2 years • Not for children under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneTacrolinusModerate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ⁰ Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneProtopic Generic available • 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000)Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ⁰ Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 16NonePotopic (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000)Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical frame under • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topical rescription options for short-term, non- topical frame underNoneRuxolitinibMild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non- topical prescription options for short-term, non- topical pr	• 2% ointment (60g,			
(2016) Topical Calcineurin Inhibitor/s/ ^p Pimecrolimus Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Elidel Age: ≥ 2 years Age: ≥ 2 years None topical Calcineurin Inhibitor None Tacrolimus Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Tacrolimus Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None O.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years Not for children under 2 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 None Opical Jong tube Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Ogg, 100g tube Age: ≥ 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing Adults and child	100g tube)			
PimecrolimusMild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneElidel (2001)Age: ≥ 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneTacrolimusModerate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BIDNoneProtopic Generic available • 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000)Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years • Do not use with occlusive dressingAdults and children: thin layer topical prescription options for short-term, non- matients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non- ropical prescription options for short-term, non- ropical prescription options for short-term, non- ropically to affected skin BID • No more than 20% of BSA ropicaliption op	(2016)	Trained Collain courts to bill	t	
Primecrolimus Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Aduits and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 6 1% cream (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years Age: ≥ 2 years 4 4 4 4 4 7 Acronic use with occlusive dressing Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Aduits and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None 9 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0 0.1% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years 0.01% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0 Not for children under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressing 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 0 Not for children under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressing Not for children: thin layer topical greecription options for short-term, <u>non-immunocompromised</u> patients, after failure (or inadvisable		I opical Calcineurin Inhibi	itor(s) ^a	
100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years Age: ≥ 2 years Adults and children: thin layer (2001) Do not use with occlusive dressing Adults and children: thin layer None Tacrolimus Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b Adults and children: thin layer None 9 construction Generic available For short-term, non-continuous chronic use ^b 0.03% or 0.1%: for age 2 to 15 years None • 0.03% ointment Age: ≥ 2 years • Not for children under 2 years • 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 None • 0.1% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) • Not for children under 2 years • Do not use with occlusive dressing • Do not use with occlusive dressing (2000) Topical Janus Kinase Inhibtor ^a Adults and children: thin layer None Ruxolitinib Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other Adults and children: thin layer None Opzelura topical prescription options for short-term, non- No more than 20% of BSA None	Pimecrolimus Elidel Generic available • 1% cream (30g, 60g	Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b	Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID	None
Tacrolimus Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Protopic inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use</u> ^b 0.03%: for age 2 to 15 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 None 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Age: ≥ 2 years 0.01% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) Not for children under 2 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 None Votopic Age: > 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing None None (2000) Votopical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-</u> Adults and children: thin layer None Ruxolitinib Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other Adults and children: thin layer None Opzelura topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-</u> None None None	100g tube) (2001)	 Age: ≥ 2 years Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing 		
Topical Janus Kinase Inhibitor ^a Ruxolitinib Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non-example and the patients of topical prescription options for short-term, non-example and the patient option option options for short-term, non-example and the patient option option options for short-term, non-example and the patient option option options for short-term, non-example and the patient option option options for short-term, non-example and the patient option	Tacrolimus Protopic Generic available • 0.03% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) • 0.1% ointment (30g, 60g, 100g tube) (2000)	 Moderate-to-severe AD in non-immunocompromised patients, as a second-line therapy after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-continuous chronic use^b</u> Age: ≥ 2 years Not for children under 2 years Do not use with occlusive dressing 	 Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID 0.03%: for age 2 to 15 years 0.03% or 0.1%: for age ≥ 16 	None
Ruxolitinib Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, non- continuous chronic use(Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID None Opzelura No more than 20% of BSA No more than 20% of BSA No more than 20% of BSA		Topical Janus Kinase Inh		•
continuous chronic use ² per application	Ruxolitinib Opzelura	Mild-to-moderate AD in non-immunocompromised patients, after failure (or inadvisable use) of other topical prescription options for short-term, <u>non-</u> <u>continuous chronic use</u> ^c	 Adults and children: thin layer topically to affected skin BID No more than 20% of BSA per application 	None

Table 1. FDA -Approved Agents for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis			
• 1.5% cream (60g	Age: ≥ 12 years	• No more than 60 grams per	
tube)	Limitation: not recommended for use in combination	week	
(2021)	with strong immunosuppressants (ie, therapeutic		
	biologics, other JAK inhibitors, or others like		
	azathioprine or cyclosporine)		
	Systemic Interleukin-4 Receptor A	lpha Antagonist	
Dupilumab	Moderate-to-severe AD that is not controlled by	Adults: 600 mg SQ initially ^d , then	Moderate to severe
	topical prescription treatment (or when these options	300 mg SQ Q2W	asthma (eosinophilic
Dupixent	cannot be used), <u>continuous use</u>		phenotype or oral
 300 mg/2mL; 200 		Children (6 to 17 years old):	corticosteroid
mg/1.4 mL pre-filled	Age: \geq 6 years	weight-based dose	dependent), add-on
pen		 15 to <30 kg: 600 mg SQ 	maintenance treatment
 300 mg/2 mL; 200 	 Pens are only for age ≥ 12 years 	initially ^d , then 300 mg Q4W	(age ≥ 6)
mg/1.14 mL; 100		 30 to <60 kg: 400 mg 	
mg/0.67 mL pre-		initially ^d , then 200 mg Q2W	CRwNP, add-on
filled syringe		 60 kg+: same dosing as 	maintenance treatment
(2017)		adults	(adults)
	Systemic Selective Interleukin-1	3 Antagonist	
Tralokinumab	Moderate-to-severe AD that is not controlled by	Adults: 600 mg SQ initially ^d , then	None
	topical prescription treatment (or when these options	300 mg SQ Q2W	
Adbry	cannot be used), <u>continuous use</u>		
 150 mg/ mL pre- 		Doses of 300 mg SQ Q4 weeks:	
filled syringe	Age: ≥ 18 years	consider for patients weighing	
(2021)		<100 kg with response (clear or	
		almost clear skin) after 16 weeks	
		of treatment	
Systemic Oral JAK Inhibitor(s)			
Abrocitinib	Moderate-to-severe AD that is not controlled by	Adults: 100 mg PO once daily	None
	other systemic treatment, including biologics (or		
Cinbinqo	when these options cannot be used), continuous use	Doses of 200 mg PO once daily:	
 50 mg oral tablet 		consider for patients not	
• 100 mg oral tablet	Age: ≥ 18 years	achieving an appropriate	
 200 mg oral tablet 		response after 12 weeks of 100	
0		mg PO once daily	

Table 1. FDA -Approved	Agents for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis		
(2022)	Limitation: not for combined use with other JAK inhibitors, biologic immunomodulators, or		
	immunosuppressants (eg, azathioprine, cyclosporine)		
Upadacitinib	Moderate-to-severe AD that is not controlled by other systemic treatment. including biologics (or	Children (weighing > 40 kg) and adults (< 65 years of age):	Moderate to severe RA, with prior failure or
Rinvoq	when these options cannot be used), <u>continuous use</u>	15 mg PO once daily; may	intolerance to 1 or more
 15 mg oral tablet 		consider 30 mg PO once daily for	TNF antagonists (adults) ¹⁵
• 30 mg oral tablet	Age: ≥ 12 years	patients not responding to 15	
	Limitation: not for combined use with other JAK	mg PO once daily	Active PsA, with prior
(2022)	inhibitors, biologic immunomodulators, or		failure or intolerance to 1
	immunosuppressants (eg, azathioprine, cyclosporine)	Adults (≥ 65 years of age) or	or more TNF antagonists
		severe renal impairment:	(adults) ¹⁵
		15 mg PO once daily	

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; BID, twice daily; BSA, body surface area; CRwNP, Chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyposis; FDA,US Food and Drug Administration; g, gram; JAK, janus kinase; mg, milligrams; mL, milliliters; PO, by mouth; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; Q2W every other week; Q4W, every 4 weeks; SQ, subcutaneous; TNF, tumor necrosis factor;

^a To be applied topically to affected area(s), and not for application to the eye, orally, intravaginally, etc.

^b Apply only to area with AD. Stop treatment upon symptom resolution, and avoid long-term continuous use. Recommend seeing healthcare provider for symptoms lasting >6 weeks for confirmation of diagnosis.

^c Stop treatment upon symptom resolution. Recommend seeing healthcare provider for symptoms lasting >8 weeks.

^d Initial dupilumab doses are administered as 2 separate injections given together at 2 different SQ sites, and initial tralokinumab doses are given as 4 separate injections together at 4 different SQ sites. Recommended SQ sites: thigh, abdomen, upper arm (by caregiver only). Rotate injection sites.

Table 2. Emerging (Non FDA- Approved) Agent for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis			
Generic Name (Proposed) brand Preparation	Proposed General AD Indication	<i>Proposed</i> Dosing Recommendation	FDA-approved Indications
Baricitinib Olumiant	Moderate-to-severe AD ⁹ Age: adults ⁹	1-2, or 4 mg PO once daily ^{2,30-32}	Moderate to severe RA, with prior failure or intolerance to 1 or more TNF antagonists
Tablet for oral use ^{9,16}			Limitations: not for combined use with other JAK inhibitors, biologic DMARDs, or potent immunosuppressants (eg, azathioprine, cyclosporine) ¹⁶

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; DMARD, disease-modifying antirheumatic drug; FDA, US Food and Drug Administration; JAK, janus kinase; mg, milligrams; PO, by mouth; TNF, tumor necrosis factor;

Methods

Systematic Literature Search

Search strategies, consisting of keyword phrases and controlled vocabulary, were developed for Ovid-Medline and Epistemonikos (see **Appendix A** for complete search strategy). Databases were searched from January 2018 to December 2021 for systematic reviews (SRs) of randomized controlled trials (RCTs). Ovid-Medline was searched for RCTs, to supplement the SR search, with a date restriction based on the latest search date of an included robust SR's search strategy, adjusted for the findings for each particular agent. The RCT search for JAK inhibitors and tralokinumab were limited to January 2021 to December 17, 2021 (based on the last search by an Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER) SR),² pimecrolimus and crisaborole (based on the last search by Fahrbach et al),⁴¹ and dupilumab (based on the last search by Nusbaum et al).⁴² The RCT search for tacrolimus had an unrestricted timeframe due to a lack of robust SRs identified. A combination of independently derived filters and a McMaster University filter⁴³ were used to identify SRs in Ovid-Medline; a pre-programmed filter was used in Epistemonikos for SRs. Publication filters for RCTs were used in Ovid-Medline, obtained from the Cochrane Collaboration Handbook.⁴⁴

Product prescribing information (ie, product labeling or package inserts) was searched on the FDA website (Drugs@FDA), dailymed.nlm.nih.gov, and/or drug sponsor's website. We additionally searched the drug sponsor's website for any preliminary information about drugs that were not approved by the FDA. As some non-FDA-approved medications have been approved in other countries, product information for these agents was searched on the regulatory site of other countries (ie, European Medicines Agency, <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines</u>) and Medicines & Healthcare products

Regulatory Agents of the United Kingdom, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/medicines-and-healthcare-products-regulatory-agency</u>)

Authors additionally screened the references lists of related systematic reviews and other relevant websites for further information:

- For guidelines or position statements addressing treatment of atopic dermatitis: websites of the American Academy of Dermatology (AAD), the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (AAAAI), ICER, and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
- 2. Evidence-based drug information databases: Micromedex and Lexicomp

<u>Screening</u>

Two reviewers independently screened publication titles and abstracts for inclusion. Conflicts were resolved by consensus between reviewers. The full text for all articles receiving 2 inclusion votes were retrieved, and inclusion was determined by the lead author. **Figure 1** in **Appendix B** shows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) flow chart for the literature screening process.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

SRs or systematic reviews and meta-analysis (SRMAs) of RCTs, and RCTs that included direct head-tohead efficacy comparisons among the AD agents of interest were included. For the non-FDA approved agents, studies of these types with a comparison to placebo were also included. Although tralokinumab, upadacitinib, and abrocitinib are now FDA-approved, at the time of the literature search and data extraction, these agents had not yet received approval, thus these placebo comparisons are provided in **Appendix C.**

Excluded references met the following criteria: 1) review articles that did not utilize a systematic review methodology, 2) for FDA approved agents, RCTs with placebo comparison and without a comparison to another AD agent of interest, 3) network meta-analyses without direct comparisons, 4) systematic reviews containing only phase II RCTs, 5) systematic reviews not reporting efficacy-related outcomes, 6) post-hoc exploratory or subgroup analyses, pharmacokinetic studies, or observational studies, 7) studies addressing use for indications other than atopic dermatitis, 8) for the supplemental RCT search, phase II studies.

Disease Overview

Atopic dermatitis (AD), or atopic eczema, is a chronic inflammatory skin disorder characterized by pruritus, pain, and persistent or relapsing inflammatory eczematous lesions due to skin barrier dysfunction and immune system imbalances.^{3-5,36,45} Symptoms (eg, skin itching, visible eczemas and sleep issues) can drastically impact a patient's health-related quality of life (QoL) due to psychological distress and difficulty with productivity at work or school.^{2,3} Additionally, families and the health care system suffer a significant economic burden due to routine medical visits, treatment, and work/school related absence.^{2,3}

AD predominately affects children \leq 5 years of age (90% of cases), but may occur at any age.^{1-5,36} It affects up to 20-25% of the pediatric population and approximately 1% to 3% of adults.^{3,5} Among children, approximately 80% of cases are considered mild, and most (up to 70%) experience improvement or resolution in late childhood.^{3,36} Distribution of skin patterns tends to be age-related with lesions manifesting on the face and extensor surfaces of the extremities in infants, flexural folds in children, and wrists, ankles, head, and upper trunk in adults.^{3,36}

The pathogenesis of AD involves complex mechanisms pertaining to genetic, immunologic, and environmental factors that result in skin barrier dysfunction and immune system imbalances.^{3-5,36} AD is often associated with the occurrence of other allergic conditions, such as asthma and allergic rhinitis.^{1-4,36} Approximately 70% of AD patients have a family relative affected by an atopic disorder, such as allergic rhinitis, asthma, or food allergy.³⁻⁵ A strong genetic risk factor for developing AD is the presence of null mutations in the FLG gene (filaggrin), which encodes epidermal structural proteins important for skin integrity.^{3,5,36} Several environmental and lifestyle factors also play a role in developing AD, including living in urban areas with minimal sunlight and humidity, tobacco smoke, and irritants, such as soaps and detergents.^{3,5,36}

Diagnosis of AD is based on the clinical features such as pruritus, skin dryness, and distribution of eczematous lesions.³⁻⁵ The American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) recommends a simplified version of the Hanifin and Rajka criteria (2003) for diagnosis in clinical practice.⁴ **Table 3** outlines the revised Hanifin and Rajka criteria for diagnosing AD in infants, children, and adults.

Table 3. Revised Hanifin and Rajka Criteria for the Clinical Diagnosis of Atopic Dermatitis^{3,4}

- **Essential features** that must be present: pruritus and eczema (typical morphology with age-specific patterns; chronic or relapsing history)
- Important features that are present in most cases: early age of onset, atopy such as personal and/or family history and IgE reactivity, and xerosis
- Associated features that are suggestive of AD: atypical vascular response, keratosis pilaris, ocular/ periorbital changes
- **Exclusionary conditions** that should not be considered as AD: eg, scabies, seborrheic dermatitis, psoriasis, contact dermatitis

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; IgE, immunoglobulin E

The most frequently used scales to measure AD disease severity are the Scoring Atopic Dermatitis (SCORAD) Index, Eczema Area Severity Index (EASI), Investigator's Global Assessment (IGA), and Six Area, Six Sign Atopic Dermatitis (SASSAD) severity score.^{3,4} The scales were developed for use in clinical trials; the ADD does not recommend them for regular clinical care.⁴ Similarly, QoL scales and disease impact measurements such as the Children's Dermatology Life Quality Index (CDLQI) and the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) were not designed for use in clinical practice.⁴ Nevertheless, consideration to use the SCORAD index, the EASI score, and the Patient Oriented Eczema Measure (POEM) scales in clinical practice may be warranted due to available evidence suggesting adequate testing and validation.⁴ **Table 4** includes information regarding components of commonly used AD disease severity assessment tools.

An explicit definition of mild, moderate, and severe AD is not declared in the US guidelines.⁴⁻⁷ Despite the lack of formal definition, mild AD tends to affect less body surface area (BSA), resolves over time, and is associated with minor pruritus intensity.^{3,37} In contrast, moderate-to-severe AD tends to affect a larger BSA, expresses a continuous progression, and is associated with severe pruritus intensity.^{3,37} The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) defines mild, moderate, and severe AD based on the extent of skin lesions, intensity of pruritus, and impact on QoL.¹ The progression in disease severity requires additional treatment options for management.^{5-7,17,23,37}

Table 4. Common Severity Scales for Assessing Atopic Dermatitis ^{3,4}		
SCORAD ⁴⁶	EASI ⁴⁷	IGA ⁴⁸
Com	ponents Measured in Each Scale	
 Severity of physical clinical symptoms^a: erythema, edema/induration/papulation, oozing/crusting/weeping/exudation, excoriation, and lichenification Disease extent: percentage of BSA Symptoms^b: pruritus and sleep difficulties SCORAD > 50: severe AD SCORAD 25-50: moderate AD SCORAD <25: mild AD 	 Severity of physical clinical symptoms^a: erythema, edema/induration/papulation, excoriation, and lichenification Disease extent^c: percentage of BSA affected in the head/neck, upper extremities, lower extremities, and trunk 	 Severity of physical clinical symptoms^d: erythema, edema/induration/ papulation, oozing/ crusting/weeping/ exudation, excoriation, lichenification, and scaling Limitations: No standardized IGA. High variability in nomenclature, definitions, and scale size between clinical trials

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; BSA, body surface area; EASI, Eczema Area Severity Index; IGA, Investigator's Global Assessment; SCORAD, Scoring Atopic Dermatitis

^a Scores range from 0, absence, to 3, severe

^b Scores range from 0, none to 10, maximum severity

^c Score ranges from 0-72, with 72 being the most aggressive and severe score

^d Scores range from "clear" to "severe" or "very severe"

Clinical Practice Guideline Recommendations

Goals of pharmacologic treatment for AD include reducing skin inflammation and pruritus, restoring skin barrier properties, and improving patient quality-of-life (QoL).^{2,5,6,17} Topical agents are considered the foundation of AD therapy recommended by the most recent US guidelines (American Academy of Dermatology (AAD) [2014] and American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (AAAI)/ American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology (ACAAI) practice parameter [2012]).^{5,6} To maintain disease control in more severe cases of AD, combination therapy with topical and systemic agents and/or phototherapy is recommended.^{5,7} According to the AAD guideline, non-pharmacologic interventions include topical moisturizers, bathing practices, and wet wrap therapy; pharmacologic topical treatment includes corticosteroids (TCSs) and calcineurin inhibitors (TCIs); and systemic treatment options include immunologic or anti-inflammatory agents and phototherapy.^{6,7}

Overview of Topical Treatment

US guidelines address use of TCIs, but predate approval of other topicals reviewed in this report; the general approach to topical treatment is as follows. Topical moisturizers are recommended as first-line treatment for AD, regardless of disease severity.^{5,6} TCSs are recommended when monotherapy with moisturizers do not achieve a desired response in skin improvement.⁶ TCSs are available at low, medium, or high potency; potency selection depends on the affected area(s), age of the patient, patient preference, severity, and cost of therapy.⁶ TCIs (tacrolimus ointment, and pimecrolimus 1% cream) are second-line agents recommended for acute and non-continuous chronic treatment in adults and children ≥ 2 years of age, who have failed to respond to other topical prescription treatments, or when an intolerance exists to those treatments.^{5,6,17-19} Tacrolimus is available in two different concentrations, 0.03% and 0.1%, with only the lower concentration recommended for children 2 to 15 years of age.¹⁹ The US clinical practice guidelines (AAD [2014] and (AAAAI/ACAAI) [2012] practice parameter) do not state a preference for one TCI over another; however, TCIs may be preferred to TCSs in particular clinical situations (ie, steroid resistance, involvement of sensitive areas, manifestation of steroid-induced atrophy, and long-term continuous use of TCSs).⁶ During commitment use with a TCS, the TCS is administered first to control flares and reduce local skin reactions associated with TCIs.⁶

The US 2014 AAD guideline only mentioned the topical phosphodiesterase inhibitor (TPI), crisaborole, as investigational.⁶ Recommendations for use of crisaborole are also not included in more recent guidelines from other countries such as the 2018 consensus-based European guidelines and the 2020 European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venerology (ETFAD/EADV) position paper, possibly due to lack of regulatory approval.^{17,24} Nevertheless, the consensus-based guideline highlights that it was shown to be more efficacious than the controlled vehicle in patients \geq 2 years of age with mild-to-moderate AD in clinical trials; however, the efficacy compared to other topicals (TCIs or TCSs) is difficult to ascertain.¹⁷ The other topical, ruxolitinib, is approved for treatment of mild-to-moderate AD in patients \geq 12 years of age; its use is not yet addressed by reviewed US or European guidelines, likely due to its approval in only the later part of 2021.

Overview of Systemic Treatment

Systemic immunomodulatory agents (eg, cyclosporine, azathioprine, methotrexate, and mycophenolate mofetil) and/ or phototherapy are recommended for adult and pediatric patients with AD refractory to conventional topical therapy (eg, moisturizers, TCSs, and TCIs).^{3,7}

Although they are not yet addressed in US guidelines,^{5,7} other therapies including dupilumab, tralokinumab, abrocitinib, and upadacitinib, are likely additional treatment options for patients requiring systemic therapy. Some European organizations have provided recommendations about the use of systemic agents not addressed by US guidelines. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends dupilumab or baricitinib as alternative options for adults with moderateto-severe AD, unresponsive or intolerant/contraindicated to at least one other systemic immunosuppressant agent (eg, cyclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, or mycophenolate mofetil).^{21,22} The 2018 European guideline more narrowly recommends the use of dupilumab exclusively for moderate-to-severe AD in adults, in which disease control is not achieved with topical treatment and a contraindication exists, or is not suitable to use other systemic treatments.^{17,23} The updated 2020 ETFAD/EADV position paper recommends dupilumab for individuals (≥ 12 years of age) with moderateto-severe AD, requiring systemic therapy.²⁴ JAK inhibitors such as upadacitinib and the selective IL-13 antibody, tralokinumab, were only mentioned by European guidelines as systemic medications that are under development.^{23,24}

<u>Treatment Approach in Children</u>

Treatment algorithms for pediatrics are similar to adults, ⁵⁻⁷ but the appropriateness of product options may vary based on the FDA approved age. In children under 12 years of age, NICE recommends a stepwise approach based on disease severity, with mild AD requiring emollients and mild potency TCSs only.¹ TCIs are reserved for moderate and severe AD and are not recommended as first-line for any disease severity.¹ Similar to adults, systemic agents and/ or phototherapy should be used in severe refractory cases of AD.¹

Table 5 includes guideline recommendations <u>only</u> pertaining to the non-steroidal agents of interest for the treatment of AD. A complete summary of clinical practice guideline recommendations for the treatment of AD is provided in **Table 1** in **Appendix D**.

Table 5. Summary of Clir	ical Practice Guideline Recommendations Regarding Non-steroidal Agents for Atopic Dermatitis
Guideline (Sponsoring Organization; Year)	Recommendations ^a
	United States Guidelines
Guidelines of Care for the Management of Atopic Dermatitis: Part 2: Management and Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis with Topical Therapies (AAD; 2014) ⁶	 For children and adults, TCIs (tacrolimus and pimecrolimus) are recommended for acute and non-continuous chronic treatment, in addition to maintenance (2-3 times per week). (Level I, Strength A) These agents are preferred to topical steroids in the following situations: Refractory to steroids Application to sensitive areas (eg, face, anogenital, skin folds) Presence of steroid-induced atrophy Long-term continuous topical steroid use TCIs are recommended in "actively affected areas as a steroid-sparing agent" (Level I, Strength A) "The concomitant use of a TCS with a TCI may be recommended for the treatment of AD" (Level II, Strength B)
The Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters on Atopic Dermatitis (AAAAI, ACAAI, and the JCAAI; 2012) ⁵	 For the treatment of AD, TCIs (pimecrolimus and tacrolimus) may be considered (Strength A) Topical tacrolimus ointment, "unlike topical steroids, does not cause atrophy for eczema on the face, eyelid, and skin folds that is unresponsive to low-potency topical steroids" (Strength A) Topical pimecrolimus cream, "safely decreases the number of flares, reduces the need for corticosteroids, does not cause skin atrophy, and controls pruritus" (Strength A)
	European Guidelines
Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis) in adults and children: part 1 (EDF, EADV, EAACI, ETFAD, EFA, ESPD. GA2LEN, UEMS; 2018) ¹⁷	 <u>Adults</u> Mild (SCORAD <25 or transient eczema): "Reactive therapy with topical glucocorticosteroids class II or depending on local cofactors; topical calcineurin inhibitors, antiseptics including silver, silver coated textiles" Moderate (SCORAD 25-50/ or recurrent eczema): "Proactive therapy with topical tacrolimus or class II or III topical glucocorticosteroids, wet wrap therapy, UV therapy (UVB 311 nm), psychosomatic counseling, climate therapy Severe (SCORAD >50 or persistent eczema): "Hospitalization, systemic immunosuppression, dupilumab" <u>Children:</u> Mild (SCORAD <25 or transient eczema): same as adults Moderate (SCORAD 25-50/ or recurrent eczema): same as adults

Table 5. Summary of Clin	ical Practice Guideline Recommendations Regarding Non-steroidal Agents for Atopic Dermatitis
Guideline (Sponsoring Organization; Year)	Recommendations ^a
	 Severe (SCORAD >50/ or persistent eczema): "Hospitalization, systemic immunosuppression: cyclosporine A, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil"
	Recommendations:
	 Treatment with TCS should be considered for treating acute exacerbations before switching to a TCI (Level -, Strength D)
	• TCIs are indicated in sensitive skin area(s) (eg, face, intertriginous sites, anogenital) (Level 1b, Strength A)
	Bi-weekly application of tacrolimus ointment may reduce relapses (Level 1b, Strength A)
Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic	• Dupilumab is recommended in adults with moderate-to-severe AD, in which disease control is not achieved with topical treatment and a contraindication exists or it is not advisable to use other systemic treatment (Level 1, Strength A)
dermatitis) in adults and children: part 2 (EDF,	 Should be used with emollients daily and may be used with topical anti-inflammatory agents as needed (eg, TCS) (Level 2, Strength B)
EADV, EAACI, ETFAD, EFA, ESPD. GA2LEN, UEMS; 2018) ²³	Note that the pediatric AD indication approval for dupilumab may have occurred after this guidelines was published.
Guideline on Atopic Dermatitis; (NICE;	• TCIs (tacrolimus and pimecrolimus) are not recommended as first-line agents for AD, and should be initiated after a failed response to TCSs
2013)-	• TCIs should not be used for mild AD
	 As second-line agents (TCIs), use is recommended when there is concern for serious adverse events from continued TCS use (eg, irreversible skin atrophy)
Dupilumab for treating moderate to severe atopic dermatitis; (NICE; 2018) ²² • A technology	 Dupilumab is recommended for moderate-to-severe AD in adults that have an inadequate response to at least one other systemic therapy (eg, ciclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil) or a contraindication exists Dupilumab should be stopped at 16 weeks if at least a 50% reduction in EASI and at least a 4-point reduction in the DLOI has not occurred from treatment initiation
appraisal guidance	Dupilumab may be used with or without TCS

Table 5. Summary of Clini	ical Practice Guideline Recommendations Regarding Non-steroidal Agents for Atopic Dermatitis
Guideline (Sponsoring	Recommendations ^a
Organization; Year)	
	 TCIs may be used with dupilumab, but TCI use should be reserved to sensitive areas (eg, face, neck, anogenital, skin folds)
Baricitinib for treating moderate to severe atopic dermatitis; (NICE; 2021) ²¹	 Baricitinib is recommended for moderate to severe AD in adults that have an inadequate response to at least one other systemic therapy (eg, ciclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil) or a contraindication exists Response should be assessed at 8 weeks and stopped at 16 weeks if at least a 50% reduction in EASI and at
 A technology appraisal guidance 	least a 4-point reduction in the DLQI has not occurred from treatment initiation

Abbreviations: AAAAI, American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; AAD, American Academy of Dermatology; ACAAI, American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; AD, atopic dermatitis; DLQI, Dermatology Life Quality Index; EAACI, European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology; EADV, European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; EDF, European Dermatology Forum; EFA, European Federation of Allergy and Airways Diseases Patients' Associations; ESPD, European Society of Pediatric Dermatology; ETFAD, European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis; GA2LEN, Global Allergy and Asthma European Network; JCAAI, Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology; NICE, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; PUVA, psoralen and ultraviolet; QoL, quality of life; SCORAD, Scoring Atopic Dermatitis; TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitors; TCS, topical corticosteroids; UEMS, European Union of Medical Specialists; UVB, ultraviolet B

^a See Appendix D for complete recommendations and information about interpretation of level of evidence (LOE) and strength of recommendations

Pharmacology

Each of the agents in this report are thought to modulate inflammatory mediators involved in AD pathogenesis. Proposed mechanisms of action are shown in **Table 6** and summarized below.

Table 6. Mechanism of Action of Non-steroidal Atopic Dermatitis Products ^a			
Generic Name (administration route)	Proposed Pharmacology		
	JAK Inhibitors		
Abrocitinib ¹⁴ (oral)	 JAK1 inhibitor JAK1 preference over other JAK enzymes: JAK2 – 28 fold; JAK3 – >340 fold; TYK2 – 43-fold 		
Baricitinib ¹⁶ (oral)	 JAK inhibitor Inhibits several JAK enzymes (JAK1, JAK2, TYK2) > JAK3 		
Ruxolitinib³⁵ (topical)	JAK1 and JAK2 inhibitor		
Upadacitinib¹⁵ (oral)	 JAK inhibitor Inhibits several JAK enzymes (JAK1, JAK2) > (JAK3, TYK2) 		
Calcineurin Inhibitors			
Pimecrolimus ¹⁸ (topical)	 Mechanism for AD activity not known Binds macrophilin-12 (FKBP-12), an intracellular protein Inhibits calcineurin 		
Tacrolimus ¹⁹ (topical)	Effects T-cell signaling by inhibition of activating cytokines		
	PDE-4 Inhibitor		
Crisaborole³³ (topical)	Mechanism for AD activity not knownIncreases intracellular cAMP through actions on PDE-4		
IL-13 Inhibitors			
Tralokinumab¹² (subcutaneous injection)	Inhibits IL-13 signaling		
Dupilumab ¹³ (subcutaneous injection)	Inhibits IL-13 (Type II receptor) and IL-4 (Type I and II receptor) signaling		

Abbreviations: IL, interleukin; JAK, janus kinase; PDE, phosphodiesterase; TYK, tyrosine kinase;

^a Information is from package inserts (ie, prescribing information). For baricitinib, information is based on US approval for treatment of RA; information may change if approved for treatment of AD.

JAK inhibitors target one or more JAK enzyme subtypes, leading to modulation of downstream cytokine signal transduction. JAK inhibitors suppress the JAK/STAT (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription) signaling pathway. Normally, JAKs couple with a cytokine receptor and activate STAT

transcription factor proteins, affecting gene expression involved in creation of inflammatory mediators, activation of some T helper cells, and other effects (eg, hematopoiesis).⁴⁹ JAK inhibitors vary in their specificity for the different kinases as shown in **Table 7**. The relevance of these differences in terms of effectiveness is not established,³⁵ though it is known that downstream effects differ among the JAKs.⁴⁹

Both pimecrolimus and tacrolimus (TCIs) are inhibitors of the phosphatase calcineurin, which occurs via complex formation between the TCI and macrophilin-12.⁵⁰ Their exact actions in AD are not known.^{18,19} However, it is known that inhibition of calcineurin selectively reduces T-cell activation and subsequent creation of cytokines, leading to anti-inflammatory effects. Additionally, actions in mast cells reduce formation of proinflammatory cytokines (eg, TNF-alpha) or mediators.^{19,50}

The benefits of crisaborole for AD are not fully understood. Crisaborole is established as an inhibitor of phosphodiesterase (PDE)-4; inhibition of this leads to increases in cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) within cells which may decrease production of cytokines involved in AD pathogenesis. It may also directly affect keratinocytes.⁵¹

Both dupilumab and tralokinumab are human monoclonal IgG4 antibodies that inhibit signaling by certain interleukins (IL) involved in the aberrant pathology of AD.^{12,13} Dupilumab binds to the IL-4 receptor alpha subunit to disrupt signaling by the type 2 cytokines, IL-4 and IL-13.^{13,52} Tralokinumab binds directly to IL-13 preventing its binding to certain receptors.¹² Both IL-4 and IL-13 drive mediators of the type 2 inflammatory pathway which is overactive in patients with AD.⁵³

Pharmacokinetics and Use in Special Populations

Pharmacokinetics and Drug-Drug Interactions

Topical products, including ruxolitinib when applied in patients with \leq 20% of BSA affected by AD, are considered to have a reduced or negligible risk for systemic exposure, which may lead to a lower risk for systemic adverse effects.^{51,54,55}

Comparative pre-clinical (pigs, *in vitro* human) data suggest that pimecrolimus and tacrolimus reach similar concentrations in the skin,⁵⁶ but pimecrolimus has a lower potential to permeate through the skin than tacrolimus.^{56,57} This is expected to translate to lower relative systemic exposure and possibly therefore less systemic immune effects for pimecrolimus^{56,57}; however, that was not compared in these studies. In a pharmacokinetic (PK) study comparing treatment with pimecrolimus 1% cream or tacrolimus 0.1% ointment twice daily for 13 days among adults with severe AD, higher systemic exposure to tacrolimus was observed in patients with detectable blood concentrations. Detectable blood concentrations occurred in 36% of tacrolimus samples, and 12% of pimecrolimus samples.⁵⁵

The elimination half-life for the oral JAK inhibitors is sufficient to facilitate once daily dosing.^{15,16,34} Subcutaneously administered antibodies, dupilumab and tralokinumab have longer elimination halflives, facilitating every other week dosing in most patients.^{12,13}

Biologic products like dupilumab and tralokinumab carry a risk of immunogenicity. Among dupilumaband tralokinumab-treated patients, anti-drug antibodies (ADA) have been detected in a small proportion of patients.^{12,13} For dupilumab, high ADA titer levels have been associated with undetectable drug levels. Two adult patients who developed high titers during dupilumab treatment experienced serum sicknesslike symptoms.¹³ For tralokinumab, ADA were not associated with changes in drug exposure.¹²

Drug-drug interactions (DDIs) are a potential concern for most of these agents except for crisaborole.³³ For the other topical agents, labeling warns of potential DDIs between pimecrolimus, tacrolimus, and ruxolitinib and CYP3A4 inhibitors^{18,19,35} or CYP3A4 inducers (for ruxolitinib).³⁵ Avoiding use of ruxolitinib with *strong* CYP3A4 inhibitors is recommended due to the potential increased exposure to ruxolitinib.³⁵ Among the systemic therapies, PK interactions with the antibodies (dupilumab, tralokinumab) are unlikely.^{12,13} Each oral JAK inhibitors have the potential for DDIs, varying by product, as shown in **Table 8.** US labeling for abrocitinib, baricitinib, and upadacitinib includes that concomitant use with other specific immunosuppressant therapies (other JAK inhibitors, biologic immunomodulators, or potent immunosuppressants) are not recommended.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Live vaccinations are not recommended in patients receiving the systemic therapies.¹²⁻¹⁶

Table 7. Pharmacokinetic, Drug-drug interactions and Dosage Adjustment information [®]			
Generic Name (proposed)	Select PK information	Metabolism and Excretion	Drug-drug Interactions and Selected Special Populations Information
brand		Dose adjustment	
		Topical therap	ies
Crisaborole³³ (Eucrisa)	Systemic steady state reached by 8 days	 Hepatic metabolism (hydrolysis, oxidation) to inactive metabolites Renal excretion No dose adjustments reported 	 DDIs: Not expected to interact with metabolizing enzymes (eg, CYP450) or transporters to a clinically significant degree SP: use not established for age <3 months old
Pimecrolimus^{18,58} (Elidel)	Minimal to no systemic accumulation after repeated use	 Hepatic metabolism Excretion: feces (78.4% metabolite, <1% unchanged) No dose adjustments reported 	 DDIs: CYP3A4 substrate; DDIs after topical use are unlikely, but not impossible. Exercise caution with CYP3A4 inhibitors (eg, erythromycin, itraconazole, ketoconazole). SP: numerically more children with detectable blood levels (at least one) than adults. Use not established for age <2 years.
Ruxolitinib³⁵ (Opzelura)	Minimal to no systemic accumulation after repeated use Terminal T_{1/2}: 116h	 Metabolism by CYP3A4, and CYP2C9 (minor) Excretion (mostly as metabolites, <1% unchanged drug): urine (74%), feces (22%) No dose adjustments reported 	 DDIs: CYP3A4 inhibitors increase systemic exposure; CYP3A4 inducers reduce systemic exposure Avoid use with strong CYP3A4 inhibitors SP: use in children <12 years old not established. At supratherapeutic doses, growth/bone toxicity observed in juvenile rats.
Tacrolimus¹⁹ (Protopic)	Minimal to no systemic accumulation after repeated use • BA ~0.5% T _{1/2} (after oral use): ~32 to 48 h	 Metabolism by CYP3A4 (extensive) Excretion (based on oral administration): fecal (93%), urine (2%) No dose adjustments reported 	 DDI after topical use are unlikely, but not impossible. Exercise caution with CYP3A4 inhibitors. SP: low blood concentrations detected in children, with exposure declining after longer duration of use. Use in children <2 years old not established.
Oral therapies			

Generic Name (proposed) brand	Select PK information	Metabolism and Excretion Dose adjustment	Drug-drug Interactions and Selected Special Populations Information
Abrocitinib¹⁴ (Cinbinqo)	BA (absolute): 60% T _{1/2} : ~3 to 5 h	 Metabolism: extensive (by CYP2C19 [53%], CYP2C9 [30%], CYP3A4 [11%], CYP2B6 [6%]) to active and inactive metabolites Excretion: metabolic clearance (primary; <1% unchanged in urine); metabolites eliminated renally Reduce dose for moderate RI Use not recommended: severe RI or severe HI 	 DDI: Substrate of multiple CYP enzymes, and P-gp inhibitor. Metabolites are OAT3 substrates. Strong CYP2C19 inhibitors: reduce dose Moderate to strong CYP2C19/CYP2C9 inducers: use not recommended P-gp substrates: caution Vaccinations: no data. Avoid live vaccines. SP: No data for children <12 years old. Systemic exposure increased with mild to severe RI; not studied in patients with ESRD on RRT or severe HI.
Baricitinib ¹⁶ (Olumiant)	BA (absolute): 80% T_{1/2} (RA patients): ~12 h	 Hepatic metabolism by CYP3A4 (~6%) Excretion: primarily renal (75% urine [69% unchanged], 20% feces [15% unchanged] Reduce dose for moderate RI Use not recommended: severe RI or severe HI 	 DDI: substrate of CYP3A4, OAT3, P-gp, BCRP, MATE2-K. Reduce dose with strong OAT3 inhibitors (eg, probenecid) Not studied in combination with other JAK inhibitors or biologic DMARDs Vaccinations: avoid live vaccines. SP: Systemic exposure increased with mild to severe RI. Use not established in children.

Table 7. Pharmacokinetic, Drug-drug Interactions and Dosage Adjustment Information^a

Generic Name (proposed) brand	Select PK information	Metabolism and Excretion Dose adjustment	Drug-drug Interactions and Selected Special Populations Information
Upadacitinib¹⁵ (Rinvoq)	BA: NR Terminal T_{1/2}: 8 to 14 h	 Metabolized by CYP3A4 (major) and CYP2D6 (minor) to inactive metabolites Excretion: unchanged (urine, 24%; feces, 38%); as metabolites, 34% Reduce dose for severe RI Use not recommended: severe HI 	 DDI: Substrate of multiple CYP enzymes Strong CYP3A4 inhibitors, chronic use: caution Strong CYP3A4 inducers: use not recommended Not recommended: use with other JAK inhibitors, biologic immunomodulators or potent immunosuppressants SP: Higher rates of AE observed in elderly. Not studied in patients with ESRD.
		Subcutaneous The	propies
	BA: 61 to 64%	 Not characterized; expected: catabolism into peptides 	 DDIs that affect the PK of other drugs are unlikely Avoid live vaccines
	hy week 16	No dose adjustments reported	Immune responses to non-live vaccines occur
Dupilumab ¹³ (Dupixent)	Median time to undetectable levels (after last SS dose): 10-12 weeks (300 mg Q2W last dose); or 9 weeks (200 mg Q2W last dose)		 SP: lower troughs among people with higher body weight. Use not established for children <6 years old. Immunogenicity: Ab to dupilumab have been detected (~5%); ADA with neutralizing Ab detected (~1 to 5%). High titers associated with undetectable dupilumab levels.

Table 7 Dharn okinatia Drug drug Interaction Adjustment Inform ationa

Table 7. Pharmacokinetic, Drug-drug Interactions and Dosage Adjustment Information ^a			
Generic Name (proposed) brand	Select PK information	Metabolism and Excretion Dose adjustment	Drug-drug Interactions and Selected Special Populations Information
Tralokinumab¹² (Adbry)	BA (absolute): 76% Time to SS: reached by week 16 T _{1/2} : 22 days	 Catabolism into peptides via non- saturable proteolysis No dose adjustments for RI/HI reported. There is limited data for severe RI or moderate to severe HI. High body weight (>100 kg): may consider NOT reducing dosing frequency if positive response after 16W 	 DDIs: No data on effect on PK of other drug entities Avoid live vaccines Immune responses to non-live vaccines occur SP: lower troughs among people with higher body weight. No PK studies available for children, use not established for children <18 years old. Immunogenicity: ADA detected (4.6%); persistent ADA (0.9%), neutralizing Ab (1%). ADA did not affect tralokinumab levels.

Abbreviations: Ab, antibodies; AD, atopic dermatitis; ADA, antidrug antibodies; BA, bioavailability; BCRP, Breast Cancer Resistance Protein; CYP, cytochrome P450; DDI, drug-drug interaction; ESRD, end stage renal disease; h, hour; HI, hepatic impairment; MATE, multidrug toxic extrusion protein; NR, not reported; OAT, organic anion transporting polypeptide; P-gp, P-glycoprotein; PK, pharmacokinetic; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RI, renal impairment; RRT, renal replacement therapy (eg, hemodialysis); SP, special populations; SS, steady state; T_{1/2}, elimination half-life; Q2W, every 2 weeks; W, weeks

^a Information is from package inserts (ie, prescribing information). For baricitinib, information is based on US approval for treatment of RA; information may change if approved for treatment of AD.

Patients with Renal or Hepatic Impairment

As shown in **Table 7**, most of the agents do not require adjustment for renal or hepatic impairment, according to product labeling.^{12-16,18,19,33,35} Dose adjustments are required among the oral JAK inhibitors. Abrocitinib and baricitinib (per treatment of RA) require reduced doses for moderate renal impairment and use is not recommended in patients with severe renal impairment.^{14,16} No dosage adjustment is necessary for upadacitinib in mild or moderate renal impairment; however, a reduced dose (15 mg once daily) is recommended for patients with severe renal impairment.¹⁵ For upadacitinib, baricitinib, and abrocitinib use is not recommended in patients with severe hepatic impairment (ie, Child Pugh class C).¹⁴⁻¹⁶

Pediatric and Geriatric Use

Crisaborole has the youngest age of approval, with supportive evidence for use in children as young as 3 months old.^{33,38} Among non-topical therapies, dupilumab has the youngest age with supportive evidence for use, among children as young as 6 years old.¹³

Regarding use in older adults (age \geq 65 years), product labeling for crisaborole, pimecrolimus, dupilumab, and tralokinumab states that there is insufficient evidence to determine if there are meaningful differences and safety or efficacy compared to younger patients.^{12,13,18,33} For dupilumab, the minimal available data does not suggest meaningful differences.¹³ For tacrolimus, no differences in the adverse event profile compared to other populations were observed.¹⁹ Similarly, for ruxolitinib, no meaningful differences in safety or efficacy compared to younger patients have been observed.³⁵ For tralokinumab, the product labeling does not suggest dose adjustments for older adults, but note that evidence in adults \geq 65 years old is limited.¹² For the oral JAK inhibitors, labeling supports that the safety profile in older adults may be worse compared to younger patients.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ For baricitinib, no differences have been observed (among RA patients), but possible differences have not been eliminated.¹⁶ Since baricitinib is renally eliminated, older adults with poor renal function may be more sensitive to its effects.¹⁶ More frequent adverse events were observed among older adults versus younger patients treated with upadacitinib.¹⁵ Similarly, older adults were more sensitive to adverse events, including serious events, with abrocitinib; higher rates of low platelets and herpes zoster infection occurred compared to younger populations in clinical studies.¹⁴

Pregnancy and Breastfeeding

In general, there is a paucity of data to guide use of these agents during pregnancy or breastfeeding. **Table 8** includes information about use of these products during pregnancy or lactation according to prescribing information from the manufacturer.

AD may present as a new diagnosis or may worsen during pregnancy. Lack of appropriate treatment may increase maternal and fetal risks for complications of AD such as eczema herpeticum or staphylococcus aureus infections, and exacerbate maternal stress which could have deleterious effects.²⁰ The European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis (ETFAD, 2019) proposed an algorithm for management of pregnant women with AD.²⁰ This approach includes stepwise therapy according to patient response; first is use of emollients, followed by class II/III TCS for 2 weeks, then narrow-band

UVB or natural sunlight. TCIs (or proactive class II TCS) are listed as an option if the patient initially responds to the 2 weeks of TCS but relapses within 1 week. Systemic therapies (cyclosporin [1st line], systemic corticosteroids [2nd line], or azathioprine [at a reduced dose]) are an option after failure of UVB/natural sunlight therapy. Systemics should be initiated based on shared decision-making between patients and providers in acknowledgement of potential risks and benefits to the patient and neonate. Some systemic therapies (mycophenolate mofetil, methotrexate) are contraindicated during pregnancy.²⁰

According to the manufacturer, there is a lack of information about human use of crisaborole during pregnancy, though animal studies did not indicate adverse risks.³³ It is also not known if it is present in human milk. Risks versus benefits for use should be considered.³³ The ETFAD does not recommend use of crisaborole during pregnancy or breastfeeding owing to the lack of information.²⁰

ETFAD lists TCIs as an option during pregnancy based on supportive evidence for use of systemic calcineurin inhibitors during pregnancy, and expected minimal systemic absorption. <u>Topical tacrolimus is</u> <u>favored over topical pimecrolimus</u> due to the greater amount of data with systemic use during pregnancy.²⁰ Package inserts recommend caution, and weighing the risks versus benefits given the lack of information.^{18,19} During breastfeeding, ETFAD also considers TCIs to be an option, recommending that they are applied immediately after breastfeeding.²⁰ Manufacturers recommend weighing the risks versus benefits to use while breastfeeding.^{18,19} Tacrolimus is known to be in human milk,¹⁹ and it is unknown if pimecrolimus is present in human milk.¹⁸

Regarding use of the antibody dupilumab during pregnancy, the limited human data do not suggest fetal harm.¹³ There is insufficient information about the use of tralokinumab during pregnancy.¹² Both are IgG antibodies which are expected to cross the placenta and be present in human milk,²⁰ though there is a lack of information on dupilumab and tralokinumab specifically.^{12,13} Product labeling for both dupilumab and tralokinumab specifically.^{12,13} Product labeling for both dupilumab and tralokinumab recommend considering risks versus benefits to determine whether they should be used during breastfeeding.^{12,13} ETFAD (in 2018) only commented on dupilumab, recommending that other systemic therapies options should be used during pregnancy due to minimal experience with dupilumab and greater relative experience with the other options; they also, do not recommend its use during breastfeeding.²⁰

There is insufficient human data on the use of JAK inhibitors during pregnancy.^{14-16,35} Animal studies for ruxolitinib, abrocitinib, baricitinib, and upadacitinib indicate the potential for fetal harm (see **Table 9**) when given orally at supratherapeutic doses.^{14-16,35} Labeling for upadacitinib advises using contraception during treatment with upadacitinib.¹⁵ It is unknown if JAK inhibitors are present in human milk.^{14-16,35} They are known to be in animal milk (abrocitinib, ruxolitinib, baricitinib, upadacitinib), ^{14-16,35} suggesting that they may be secreted into human milk. Manufacturer labeling does not advise their use while breastfeeding.^{14-16,35} Treatment with JAK inhibitors during pregnancy or lactation were not addressed by the 2019 ETFAD position statement.²⁰

Generic Name (proposed) brand	Pregnancy	Breastfeeding
	Topical therapies	
Crisaborole³³ (Eucrisa)	 No human data Animal studies of <i>oral use</i> during organogenesis at doses > humans did not demonstrate adverse effects on fetal development 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk No data on use during breastfeeding Consider risks versus benefits
Pimecrolimus ¹⁸ (Elidel)	 Insufficient human data Animal studies during organogenesis at doses > humans, no teratogenicity was observed. Slight skeletal toxicity was observed at the highest doses in rabbits. Crossed rat and rabbit placenta after oral use Exercise caution; use if benefits > risks 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk Infant risk unknown, but there is a potential for AE Consider risks vs benefits
Ruxolitinib³⁵ (Opzelura)	 Insufficient human data In animal studies of <i>oral use</i> during organogenesis at doses > humans, adverse developmental outcomes occurred (decreased fetal weight) at the highest doses studied 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk; it is present in rat milk Infant risk unknown, but there is a potential for AE Breastfeeding NOT recommended during use and for at least 4 weeks after stopping use
Tacrolimus¹⁹ (Protopic)	 Insufficient human data; tacrolimus crosses the placenta. Systemic tacrolimus is associated with fetal toxicity (hyperkalemia, renal dysfunction). In animal studies of <i>oral use</i> during organogenesis, infant toxicity was observed (including abortions), particularly at doses that also caused maternal toxicity Exercise caution; use if benefits > risks 	 Present in human milk Infant risk unknown, but there is a potential for AE Consider risks vs benefits
	Oral theranies	

Table 8. Recommendations during Pregnancy or Breastfeeding from Product Information ^a						
Generic Name (proposed) brand	Pregnancy	Breastfeeding				
Abrocitinib¹⁴ (Cinbinqo)	 No or insufficient human data In animal studies at doses > human doses, developmental toxicity (skeletal variations) occurred 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk; it is present in animal milk No data on use during breastfeeding Breastfeeding NOT recommended during use and for at least 1 day after the last dose (about 5 to 6 half-lives) 				
Baricitinib¹⁶ (Olumiant)	 Insufficient human data In animal studies during organogenesis at doses > human doses , baricitinib was teratogenic (skeletal malformations) at the higher range but not lower range of administered doses. Reduced fetal body weight, and embryo lethality (in rabbits but not rats) were observed. 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk; it is present in rat milk Infant risk unknown, but there is a potential for AE Breastfeeding NOT recommended 				
Upadacitinib ¹⁵ (Rinvoq)	 Insufficient human data In animal studies (rats, rabbits) during organogenesis at doses > human doses, adverse fetal effects occurred (skeletal malformations at higher doses, cardiovascular malformations in rabbits, post-implantation loss in rabbits, and decreased fetal body weights). Recommended that females of reproductive potential use contraception during and for up to 4 weeks post-last dose 	 Unknown if secreted in human milk; it is present in animal milk Infant risk unknown, but there is a potential for AE Breastfeeding NOT recommended during use and for at least 6 days after the last dose (about 10 half-lives) 				
Subcutaneous Therapies						
Dupilumab ¹³ (Dupixent)	 Available human data does not suggest increased maternal or fetal risk Expected to cross the placenta In animal studies of <i>subcutaneous use</i> of a similar Ab during organogenesis at doses > humans, no adverse developmental effects were observed 	 No data on presence in human milk, but IgG antibodies are known to be in human milk Potential effects on the infant are unknown Consider risks vs benefits 				
Table 8. Recommendations during Pregnancy or Breastfeeding from Product Information ^a						
--	--	--	--	--	--	--
Generic Name (proposed) brand	Pregnancy	Breastfeeding				
Tralokinumab ¹² (Adbry)	 Insufficient, limited human data Animal studies do not suggest fetal harm 	 Unknown if present in human milk Consider risks vs benefits 				

Abbreviations: AE, adverse event; EU, European Union; IgG, immunoglobulin G; vs, versus; UK, United Kingdom;

^a Information is from package inserts (ie, prescribing information). For baricitinib, information is based on US approval for treatment of RA; information may change if approved for treatment of AD.

Direct Comparative Evidence

Literature searches for SRs and SRMAs of RCTs, and RCTs identified 448 unique records, of which 11 SRs and 12 RCTs met inclusion criteria for the qualitative synthesis. The PRISMA flow diagram for publication screening is available in **Appendix B**. The majority of the identified direct head-to-head comparison evidence evaluated TCIs compared to each other in adults and children with varying AD disease severity. Two additional head-to-head RCT comparisons were identified (1 study each) for the oral JAK inhibitors (abrocitinib and upadacitinib) compared to dupilumab. Nonactive comparators (placebo or vehicle) were included for the emerging non-steroidal agents. Although tralokinumab, upadacitinib, and abrocitinib are now FDA-approved, at the time of the literature search and data extraction, these agents had not received approval, thus these placebo comparisons are provided in **Appendix C**. The most common primary efficacy endpoints that were used in clinical trials included IGA (vIGA-AD) and EASI. Common secondary endpoints included QoL outcomes, measured by Peak Pruritus Numerical Rating Scale (PP-NRS) response, Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI), Patient Oriented Eczema Measure (POEM), Pruritus and Symptoms Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis (PSAAD), and the Children's Dermatology Life Quality Index (CDLQI).

A direct head-to-head comparison with the other target agents of this report was not identified for the following agents: topical ruxolitinib, tralokinumab, baricitinib, and crisaborole.

Table 9 summarizes characteristics and results of the included SRs. For SRs that were used only to identify eligible RCTs, efficacy and safetyresults are not reported. Please refer to the agent specific RCT summary table in **Appendix C. Table 1** in **Appendix C** shows a comparison of theRCTs identified among the included SRs that evaluated the same agents.

Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews							
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA		
Le, 2021 ⁵⁹ SR	Adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe AD who failed to have an	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838)	<u>Abrocitinib</u> **Bieber et al. <i>N Engl J Med</i> . 2021; 384(12):1101– 1112. JADE Compare *Simpson et al. <i>Lancet</i> . 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. <i>JAMA Dermatol</i> . 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2	Ovid MEDLINE, Embase (Ovid), and PubMed (search date: from inception to June 2021)	Refer to agent specific RCT summary table		

38

First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA
	adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 778) BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453) UPA (15 mg, 30 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=1683) UPA 15 mg daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 901)	Gooderham et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2019; 155:1371–9. <u>Baricitinib</u> *Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 *Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156:1333–43. BREEZE-AD7 Guttman-Yassky et al. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019; 80:913–21.e9. <u>Upadacitinib</u> *Reich et al. Lancet. 2021; 397:2169-81 AD Up *Guttman-Yassky et al. Lancet. 2021; 397:2151-68. Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2 Guttman-Yassky et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020; 145:877–84.		
Meher, 2021 ⁶⁰ SRMA	Adults and/or children (\geq 12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe ^a AD for \geq 1 year, who failed to have an adequate response to	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838) ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 778)	<u>Abrocitinib</u> **Bieber et al. <i>N Engl J Med</i> . 2021; 384(12):1101– 1112. JADE Compare *Simpson et al. <i>Lancet</i> . 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. <i>JAMA Dermatol</i> . 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Gooderham et al. <i>JAMA Dermatol</i> . 2019; 155:1371–9.	PubMed, Cochrane, and the International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (search date: from inception to April 30, 2021)	ABO vs. PBO: RR (95% <u>confidence interval</u>) Primary Outcome IGA response ^b at 12W: RR= 3.52 (2.78,4.46) Secondary Outcomes EASI-75 response ^c at 12W: RR=3.35 (2.54,4.41)

Table 9. Chara	Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA		
	topical therapies		<i>Note:</i> These phase 3 RCTs included in Meher 2021 are also included in Le 2021		 PP-NRS response^d at 12W: RR=2.54 (1.95,3.30) TEAEs: RR=1.17 (1.06,1.29) 		
Fadlalmola, 2021 ⁶¹ SRMA	Adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe ^a AD for at least 1 year, who failed to have an adequate response to topical therapies	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838) ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=778)	Abrocitinib **Bieber et al. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(12):1101– 1112. JADE Compare *Simpson et al. Lancet. 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Gooderham et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2019; 155:1371–9. Note: These phase 3 RCTs included in Fadlalmola 2021 are also included in Meher 2021 and Le 2021	PubMed, Cochrane, Web of Science, Scopus, and Global Resource for Eczema Trials (search date: from inception to February 1, 2021)	 <u>ABO 100 mg vs. PBO:</u> <u>RR/MD (95% confidence</u> <u>interval)</u> IGA response^b at 12W: RR= 3.03 (2.14, 4.30) EASI-75 response^c at 12W: RR=2.74 (1.99, 3.79) PP-NRS response^d at 12W: RR= 2.17 (1.51, 3.13) SCORAD at 12W: MD= -13.33 (-14.62, -12.05) PSAAD index at 12W: MD= -1.23 (-1.54, -0.92) POEM index at 12W: MD= -6.72 (-7.79, -5.65) DLQI score at 12W: MD= -2.99 (-3.88, -2.09) 		

Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA	
					 CDLQI score at 12W: MD= -2.49 (-4.90, -0.07) <u>ABO 200 mg vs. PBO:</u> <u>RR/MD (95% confidence</u> <u>interval)</u> IGA response^b at 12W: RR= 4.44 (3.16, 6.24) EASI-75 response^c at 12W: RR=4.04 (2.55, 6.42) PP-NRS response^d at 12W: 2.60 (1.34, 5.04) SCORAD at 12W: MD= -24.70 (-25.98, -23.42) PSAAD index at 12W: MD= -2.08 (-2.39, -1.77) POEM index at 12W: MD= -7.33 (-8.39, -6.26) DLQI score at 12W: MD= -5.07 (-5.94, -4.20) CDLQI score at 12W: MD= -3.71 (-6.13, -1.30) 	

Table 9. Char	Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA		
					 Safety No significant difference between ABO and PBO for serious adverse events of any cause Compared to PBO, ABO 100 or 200 mg was associated with a higher incidence of nausea (<i>p</i>=0.01) ABO 200 mg was associated with a higher incidence of headache compared to PBO (<i>p</i>=0.01), however ABO 100 mg had no significant difference 		
Fahrbach, 2020 ⁴¹ SRNMA	Children (≥2 years of age) and adults diagnosed with mild- to- moderate AD ^e	Tacrolimus 0.1% vs. Pimecrolimus 1% (N= 188) Tacrolimus 0.03% vs. Pimecrolimus 1% (N=1206)	<u>Crisaborole</u> Paller et al. <i>J Am Acad</i> <i>Dermatol</i> .2016;75(3):494–503.e6. <u>Tacrolimus vs. Pimecrolimus</u> **Abramovits et al. <i>J Drugs Dermatol</i> . 2008;7(12):1153–8. ** Paller et al. <i>J Am Acad Dermatol</i> . 2005;52(5):810–22. **Kempers et al. <i>J Am Acad Dermatol</i> . 2004;51(4):515–25. <u>Tacrolimus</u>	MEDLINE, Embase, the Cochrane Collection Central Register of Clinical Trials, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (searched date: from inception to	Tacrolimus 0.1% vsPimecrolimus 1%: HR (95%credible interval)• Achieving ISGA 0-1 Score at 28-42 days: HR= 1.37 (0.96, 2.22)Tacrolimus 0.03% vs Pimecrolimus 1%: HR (95% credible interval)		

Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews							
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA		
			Schachner et al. <i>Pediatrics</i> . 2005;116(3):e334–e342. Chapman et al. <i>J Am Acad Dermatol</i> . 2005;53(2 Suppl 2):S177–S185185. Levy et al. <i>J Allergy Clin Immunol</i> . 2005;115(2):S103. <u>Pimecrolimus</u> Eichenfield et al. <i>J Am Acad Dermatol</i> . 2002;46(4):495–504.	March 10, 2020)	 Achieving ISGA 0-1 Score at 28-42 days: HR= 1.20 (0.98, 1.49) 		
Tsai, 2021 ⁶²	Children (≥ 12	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily	Abrocitinib *Simpson et al <i>Lancet</i> 2020: 396:255-	MEDLINE, Embase	Refer to agent specific RCT		
SRNMA	years or age) and adults with moderate-to- severe ^a AD who failed to have an adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	vs. PBO N= 778 BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453)	66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Gooderham et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2019; 155:1371–9. <u>Baricitinib</u> *Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 *Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156, 1333–1343. BREEZE-AD7 Guttman-Yassky et al. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 2019; 80, 913–921.e9. <u>Upadacitinib</u> Guttman-Yassky, et al. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2020; 145, 877–884. *Includes BREEZE AD4 (NCT03428100), which is an ongoing RCT	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, and Web of Science (searched date: from inception to February 1, 2021)			

Table 9. Chara	Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA		
			<i>Note:</i> These phase 3 RCTs included in Tsai 2021 are also included in Le 2021				
Mostafa, 2021 ⁶³ SRNMA	Adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe ^a AD	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=387) ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838) BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453) TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W vs. PBO (N= 1596) TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=380)	Abrocitinib *Simpson et al. Lancet. 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 **Bieber et al. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(12):1101– 1112. JADE Compare Baricitinib *Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 *Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156, 1333–1343. BREEZE-AD7 Upadacitinib Guttman-Yassky et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol.2020;145:877–884 Tralokinumab *Wollenberg et al. Br J Dermatol.2021 ;184(3):437–449. ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2 *Silverberg et al. Br J Dermatol.2021;184:450–463. ECZTRA 3 Upadacitinib Guttman-Yassky et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol.2020;145:877–884	Ovid Medline, PubMed, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, American College of Physicians Journal Club, and Database of Abstracts of Review of Effectiveness (searched date: from inception to March 21, 2021)	DUP 300 mg Q2W vs. ABO 200 mg: LSM (95% credible interval) • DLQI score at 12W: 1.10 (-0.62, 2.82) • POEM score at 12W: -1.80 (-5.77, 2.17) DUP 300 mg Q2W vs. ABO 100 mg: LSM (95% credible interval) • DLQI score at 12W: -1.20 (-2.92, 0.52) • POEM score at 12W: -1.20 (-2.92, 0.52) • POEM score at 12W: -1.20 (-5.17, 2.77) ABO 200 mg vs. PBO: LSM (95% credible interval) • DLQI score at 12W: -4.06 (-5.28, -2.83) • POEM score at 12W: -7.20 (-10.01, -4.39) ABO 100 mg vs. PBO: LSM (95% credible interval) • DLQI score at 12W: -7.20 (-10.01, -4.39) ABO 100 mg vs. PBO: LSM (95% credible interval) • DLQI score at 12W: -2.65 (-3.87, -1.43) • POEM score at 12W: -2.65 (-3.87, -1.43) • POEM score at 12W: -3.80 (-6.61, -0.99)		

First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA
Nusbaum, 2021 ⁴² SRMA	Adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe ^a AD requiring systemic immunomodula tory therapies	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838) ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 778) BAR (1 or 2 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=440) BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453) UPA (15 mg, 30 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=1683) TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W vs. PBO (N= 1596)	Abrocitinib**Bieber et al. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(12):1101- 1112. JADE Compare*Simpson et al. Lancet. 2020; 396:255-66. JADE MONO-1*Silverberg et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020;156:863-73. JADE MONO-2Gooderham et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2019;155:1371-9.Baricitinib*Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020;183:242-55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE-AD2*Simpson et al. J Am Acad Dermatol.2021;85:62-70. BREEZE-AD5*Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156,1333-1343. BREEZE-AD7Guttman-Yassky et al. J Am AcadDermatol. 2019;80(4):913-921.Tralokinumab*Wollenberg et al. Br J Dermatol.2021;184(3):437-449. ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2*Silverberg et al. Br JDermatol.2021;184:450-463. ECZTRA 3Wollenberg et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol.2019;143(1):135-141.Upadacitinib*Guttman-Yassky et al. Lancet. 2021;397:2151-68.Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2	Embase, Medline, and Cochrane Central Register of Clinical Trials (searched date: from inception to March 26, 2021)	UPA vs. PBO: Prevalence (95% confidence interval) UPA 30 mg • EASI response ^c at 16W: 0.76 (0.70, 0.82) • PP-NRS response ^d at 16W: 0.59 (0.55, 0.63) UPA 15 mg • EASI response ^c at 16W: 0.64 (0.55, 0.74) • PP-NRS response ^d at 16W: 0.48 (0.38, 0.57) ABO 200 mg vs. PBO: Prevalence (95% confidence interval) • EASI response ^c at 12W: 0.63 (0.58, 0.67) • PP-NRS response ^d at 12W: 0.57 (0.52, 0.62) BAR vs. PBO: Prevalence (95% confidence interval) BAR 1 mg • EASI response ^c at 16W: 0.14 (0.11, 0.18) • PP-NRS response ^d at 16W: 0.11 (0.06, 0.17) BAR 2 mg

Table 9. Chara	Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews					
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA	
		TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=380)	Guttman-Yassky et al. American Academy of Dermatology Annual Meeting; 2018, Feb 16–20; San Diego (CA).		 EASI response^c at 16W: 0.19 (0.14, 0.24)	

Etast suth s	Develotion			1.1	
First author,	Population	number of narticinants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search	endpoints/ results from
design				(search dates)	MA
Miao, 2021 ⁶⁴ SRMA	Children (≥12 years of age) and adults with moderate-to- severe ^a AD who failed to have an adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 391) BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239)	Abrocitinib *Silverberg et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Baricitinib *Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 Guttman-Yassky et al. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019;80(4):913–921. Upadacitinib Guttman-Yassky et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020;145(3):877–884.	PubMed, The Cochrane Library, Embase, Web of Science, CNKI, CBM, VIP, and WanFang Database (searched date: from inception to January 2, 2021)	Refer to agent specific RCT summary table
Li, 2021 ⁶⁵	Children (≥12	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily	Abrocitinib	PubMed, Embase,	Refer to agent specific RCT
SRMA	and adults with moderate-to- severe ^a AD who failed to have an adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	VS. PBO (N= 778) BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453)	 Simpson et al. Lancet. 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Gooderham et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2019; 155:1371–9. <u>Baricitinib</u> *Simpson et al. Br J Dermatol. 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 *Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156, 1333–1343. BREEZE-AD7 Guttman-Yassky et al. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019;80(4):913–921. 	Controlled Register of Trials, Web of Science, the Global Resource of Eczema Trials database, and ClinicalTrials.gov (searched date: from inception to September 1, 2020)	summary table

Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA	
			Guttman-Yassky et al. <i>J Allergy Clin</i> Immunol. 2020;145(3):877–884.			
Zhang, 2021 ⁶⁶ SRNMA	Children (≥12 years of age) and adults with moderate-to-	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 387)	<u>Abrocitinib</u> *Simpson et al. <i>Lancet</i> . 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 <u>Baricitinib</u>	PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library (searched	Refer to agent specific RCT summary table	
	severe ^a AD who failed to have an adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239)	*Simpson et al. <i>Br J Dermatol.</i> 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE-AD2 <u>Upadacitinib</u> Guttman-Yassky et al. <i>J Allergy Clin</i> <i>Immunol.</i> 2020;145(3):877–884.	date: from inception to March 28, 2021)		
Atlas, 2021 ² SRNMA	Adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate- to-severe ^a AD who failed to have an adequate response to TCS/TCI or/and failed or required systemic therapies	ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily +TCS vs. DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=838) ABO (100 mg, 200 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 778) BAR (1 or 2 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=440)	<u>Abrocitinib</u> **Bieber et al. <i>N Engl J Med</i> . 2021; 384(12):1101– 1112. JADE Compare *Simpson et al. <i>Lancet</i> . 2020; 396:255– 66. JADE MONO-1 *Silverberg et al. <i>JAMA Dermatol</i> . 2020; 156:863–73. JADE MONO-2 Gooderham et al. <i>JAMA Dermatol</i> . 2019; 155:1371–9. <u>Baricitinib</u> *Simpson et al. <i>Br J Dermatol</i> . 2020; 183:242–55. BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE-AD2	Medline, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (searched date: from inception to May 26, 2021)	Refer to agent specific RCT summary table	

	acteristics and Rest	ans of included systematic Rev			
First author, year, study design	Population	Intervention of Interest (N, number of participants)	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search databases (search dates)	Efficacy and safety endpoints/ results from MA
		BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, 4 mg) daily vs. PBO (N= 1239) BAR (2 mg, 4 mg) daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 453) UPA (15 mg, 30 mg) daily vs. PBO (N=1683) UPA 15 mg daily +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N= 901) TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W vs. PBO (N= 1596) TRA 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W +TCS vs. PBO+TCS (N=380) DUP 600 mg LD, then 300 mg Q2W vs. UPA 30 mg daily (N=692)	*Simpson et al. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2021;85:62–70. BREEZE-AD5 *Reich et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2020; 156, 1333–1343. BREEZE-AD7 <u>Tralokinumab</u> *Wollenberg et al. Br J Dermatol.2021 ;184(3):437–449. ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2 *Silverberg et al. Br J Dermatol.2021;184:450–463. ECZTRA 3 <u>Upadacitinib</u> *Reich et al. Lancet. 2021; 397:2169-81 AD Up *Guttman-Yassky et al. Lancet. 2021; 397:2151-68. Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2 **Blauvelt et al. JAMA Dermatol. 2021; 157(9):1047-1055. Heads Up		

Abbreviations: ABO, abrocitinib; AD, atopic dermatitis; BAR, baricitinib; BSA, body surface area; CBM, Chinese Biomedical Literature Database; CDLQI, Children's Dermatology Life Quality Index; CNKI, China Academic Journals; DLQI, Dermatology Life Quality Index; DUP, dupilumab; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; HR, hazard ratio; IGA, Investigator's Global Assessment; ISGA, Investigator's Static Global Assessment; LD, loading dose; LSM, least square means difference; MA, meta-

Table 9. Characteristics and Results of Included Systematic Reviews						
First author,	Population	Intervention of Interest (N,	List of trials of interest identified by SR	Literature search	Efficacy and safety	
year, study		number of participants)		databases	endpoints/ results from	
design				(search dates)	MA	

analysis; MD, mean differences; mg, milligrams; NR, not reported; PBO, placebo; POEM, Patient Oriented Eczema Measure; PP-NRS, Peak Pruritus Numerical Rating Score; PSAAD, Pruritus and Symptoms Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis; Q2W, every other week; RCT, randomized controlled trial; RR, risk ratio; SCORAD, Scoring Atopic Dermatitis; SMD, standardized mean difference; SR, systematic review; SRMA, systematic review and meta-analysis; SRNMA, systematic review and network meta-analysis; TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitors; TCS, topical corticosteroids; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; TRA, tralokinumab; UPA, upadacitinib; VIP, Chinese Science and Technology Periodicals Database; W, weeks

*phase 3 randomized placebo-controlled trials for non-FDA approved agents at the time of extraction (baricitinib, abrocitinib, upadacitinib, and tralokinumab). Abrocitinib, upadacitinib, and tralokinumab are currently approved for the treatment of AD.

**head-to-head randomized controlled trials

^a Defined as IGA \geq 3, EASI score \geq 16, BSA \geq 10%, and PP-NRS \geq 4; ^b IGA with at least a two-point reduction from baseline; ^c More than 75% improvement from baseline EASI; ^d An improvement of more than four points from baseline PP-NRS; ^e All diagnostic scales/scores for disease severity and diagnostic criteria for AD were eligible for inclusion

Summary of Comparative Evidence in the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis

Comparative Evidence of Abrocitinib vs. Dupilumab

No head-to-head SR evidence was identified for abrocitinib in regard to objective efficacy outcomes.^{2,42,59-63,65,66} However, **Mostafa et al (2021)** conducted an SR and NMA of RCTs including direct pairwise comparisons between abrocitinib and dupilumab evaluating QoL outcomes (based on data from the JADE COMPARE trial).⁶³ Pairwise comparisons between agents of interest were only reported based on DLQI and POEM scores. The dupilumab 300 mg every other week arm had greater improvements in the DLQI score compared to abrocitinib 200 mg daily, and abrocitinib 100 mg daily.⁶³ However, the abrocitinib 200 mg daily arm had the greatest improvement in the POEM score compared to dupilumab 300 mg every other week and abrocitinib 100 mg daily.⁶³

The JADE COMPARE RCT compared abrocitinib to dupilumab (in addition to placebo arm), but statistical comparisons between abrocitinib and dupilumab were only performed for secondary efficacy outcomes (eg, itch,) and not primary (IGA or EASI-75 response at week 12).²⁹ Patients were **18 years and older**, diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year, and had an established prior failure with topical medications. Abrocitinib 200 mg daily was superior to dupilumab 300 mg subcutaneously every other week (post 600 mg loading dose) regarding itch response at week 2.²⁹ By week 16, abrocitinib, regardless of dose (200 mg or 100 mg daily) was not statistically different from dupilumab regarding IGA response and EASI-75 response (EASI-75: 71%, 60%, 66%, respectively; IGA: 48%, 35%, 39%, respectively).²⁹ Abrocitinib significantly improved symptoms of AD compared to placebo during the trial duration of 12 weeks in patients receiving concomitant topical therapy.²⁹ The most frequently reported adverse events among abrocitinib treatment groups were nausea, nasopharyngitis, upper respiratory tract infection (URTI), headache, and acne, whereas conjunctivitis was more common in the dupilumab treatment group.²⁹

Table 10 outlines the primary efficacy endpoints, key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safetyinformation for the JADE COMPARE trial.

Table 2 in **Appendix C** outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified abrocitinib placebo-controlled trials.

Comparative Evidence of Baricitinib vs. Placebo

There are currently no head-to-head SR and SRMA comparisons between baricitinib and other nonsteroidal treatments for AD.^{2,42,59,62-66} In the absence of head-to-head evidence, placebo controlled SRs and RCTs are discussed.

The SR by **Nusbaum et al (2021)** contains a pooled analysis of the pivotal phase III placebo controlled RCTs BREEZE-AD1, BREEZE-AD2, BREEZE-AD5, and BREEZE-AD7 (see **Table 3** in **Appendix C**).^{30-32,42} Patients were adults (\geq 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year that failed to have an adequate response to or had an intolerance to TCS therapy.^{30-32,42} Baricitinib monotherapy improved signs and symptoms of AD compared to placebo, with a larger effect size

observed for the highest dose compared to the lower dose; a higher prevalence of patients achieved a 75% reduction in EASI taking baricitinib 4 mg daily compared to baricitinib 1 mg daily (0.23 vs 0.14, respectively).⁴² Similar results were observed for baricitinib in combination with TCS versus placebo.⁴² A dose dependent trend was observed for patient-reported pruritis, with higher baricitinib doses achieving a greater prevalence of patients experiencing a reduction in itch intensity.⁴²

Two short-term (16 week) phase III, placebo-controlled, randomized, multicenter, double-blind trials (BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE-AD2) demonstrated baricitinib monotherapy improved disease severity, itch intensity, skin pain, and sleep disruptions (due to pruritis) compared to placebo.³⁰ Patients were adults (\geq 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year that failed to have an adequate response or were intolerant to TCS therapy.³⁰ The primary efficacy endpoint measured the validated Investigator's Global Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis (vIGA-AD) response at 16 weeks between varying doses of baricitinib (1 mg, 2 mg, and 4 mg) compared to placebo. The likelihood of achieving a v-IGA response of clear or almost clear and a higher proportion of EASI (eg, EASI-90, EASI-100) increased in a dose-proportional manner.³⁰ The most robust response was observed for baricitinib 4 mg, which showed improvements as early as week 1 and a sustained the response until the end of the trials.³⁰ In the trials, the most commonly reported adverse events (\geq 2% in any treatment group) included nasopharyngitis, URTIs, creatine phosphokinase (CPK) elevations, headaches, and herpes simplex infections.³⁰ No major adverse cardiovascular events (MACEs), deaths, malignancies, or venous thromboembolisms (VTEs) occurred in patients treated with baricitinib.³⁰

Another short-term (16 week) phase III, placebo-controlled, randomized, multicenter, double-blind trial (BREEZE-AD 5) demonstrated that baricitinib improved signs and symptoms of AD in a dose-dependent manner compared to placebo, including for patient-reported outcomes.³¹ Patients were adults (≥ 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year with a history of a failed response or intolerance to TCS therapy.³¹ Patients treated with baricitinib 2 mg daily began to have an observable EASI response by week 2, and by week 4 the response was approximately 80% of those that achieved the response at week 16.³¹ Similar to the BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE-AD2, baricitinib 1 mg resulted in non-significant results compared to placebo; however, in BREEZE-AD 5 this occurred across all outcomes, including EASI and IGA response.³¹ The most frequently reported adverse events among treatment groups were URTIs, nasopharyngitis, diarrhea, and nausea.³¹ An increase in the incidence of herpes simplex was observed in patients treated with baricitinib compared to placebo.³¹ No reported cases of malignancies, gastrointestinal perforation, VTEs, MACEs, or deaths occurred in patients treated with baricitinib.³¹

An additional RCT, BREEZE-AD 7, assessed the efficacy and safety of baricitinib (2 mg or 4 mg daily) compared to placebo among patients taking low-to-moderate potency TCSs.³² Patients were adults (\geq 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year with a history of a failed response or intolerance to TCS therapy.³² Similar primary endpoint results (for vIGA-AD response) as the other monotherapy trials were observed for baricitinib 4 mg in combination with TCS relative to placebo.³² However, baricitinib 2 mg failed to achieve a statistically significant difference versus placebo for the primary efficacy endpoint.³² Baricitinib 4 mg daily in combination with TCSs also significantly improved symptoms and patients' QoL compared to placebo.³² The most commonly reported adverse events were nasopharyngitis, URTIs, folliculitis, acne, and diarrhea. A VTE event (pulmonary embolism)

was reported for a 51 year old patient (former smoker) treated with baricitinib 4 mg daily on concurrent oral contraceptive therapy, leading to treatment discontinuation.³² Similar to the previously mentioned studies, higher incidences of herpes simplex were reported for baricitinib-treated patients compared to patients receiving placebo.³²

Table 3 in **Appendix C** outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified baricitinib placebo-controlled trials.

Comparative Evidence Among TCIs

Direct comparative evidence was found for tacrolimus (0.03% and 0.1%) versus pimecrolimus among the NMA by **Fahrbach et al (2020)**.⁴¹ This SR and NMA, included 9 RCTs, including 3 trials with a direct comparison between tacrolimus and pimecrolimus.⁴¹ Patients were children (≥2 years of age) and adults with mild-to- moderate AD.⁴¹ The primary efficacy outcome of interest was achieving improvement in disease severity based on an Investigator's Static Global Assessment (ISGA) score of 0 or 1 (clear or almost clear) at 28-42 days.⁴¹ The pooled analysis demonstrated that a higher proportion of patients achieved an ISGA score of 0 or 1 with tacrolimus, at either dose (0.03% or 0.1%), compared to pimecrolimus 1% cream.⁴¹

• <u>Tacrolimus 0.03% ointment vs. pimecrolimus 1% cream</u>

An RCT (Kempers et al 2004) showed that pimecrolimus 1% cream was associated with fewer application-site reactions during early treatment initiation compared to tacrolimus 0.03% ointment among children 2 to 17 years of age with moderate AD.⁶⁷ Four days into treatment, patients experienced less erythema/irritation, pruritis, and fewer reactions lasting longer than 30 minutes while using pimecrolimus compared to tacrolimus. However, the incidence of warmth and stinging/burning was similar between both treatment groups. Pimecrolimus cream was favored over tacrolimus ointment for ease of application and formulation attributes (eg, non-greasy).⁶⁷ No statistical difference was observed between the efficacy of tacrolimus 0.03% ointment compared to pimecrolimus 1% cream measured by obtaining an IGA response of 0 or 1.⁶⁷

• Tacrolimus 0.1% ointment vs. pimecrolimus 1% cream

An RCT conducted by **Abramovits et al (2008)** showed that tacrolimus 0.1% ointment is more efficacious than pimecrolimus cream at improving EASI score among adults with moderate AD at 6 weeks.²⁵ In addition, a faster onset of action was observed with tacrolimus compared to pimecrolimus.²⁵ Local application-site reactions (eg, burning, pruritus, pain, warmth, erythema) were not statistically different between treatment groups, but numerically more events occurred in the tacrolimus-treated group compared to the pimecrolimus-treated group.²⁵ Treatment discontinuation was rarely due to adverse events among both groups.²⁵ However, significantly more pimecrolimus-treated patients discontinued treatment due to a lack of efficacy compared to patients receiving tacrolimus (5 vs 0, respectively).²⁵

Another RCT **(Fleischer 2007)** reported similar results, showing that adults with moderate to very severe AD treated with tacrolimus 0.1% ointment displayed greater improvement in the EASI score and BSA affected compared to pimecrolimus 1% cream at 6 weeks.²⁶ In addition, more patients treated with topical tacrolimus experienced treatment success, defined as an Investigator's Global Atopic Dermatitis Assessment (IGADA) of clear or almost clear, compared to patients treated with pimecrolimus.²⁶ However, both treatment groups had comparable improvements in pruritus.²⁶ Local application-site reactions, including burning, pruritus, pain, and warmth had a numerically higher incidence in patients receiving topical tacrolimus compared to patients receiving pimecrolimus; however, this was not statistically different between treatment groups.²⁶ Study withdrawal due to lack of efficacy occurred more often in patients treated with pimecrolimus compared to patients treated with topical tacrolimus compared to patients treated more often in patients treated with pimecrolimus compared to patients treated more often in patients treated with pimecrolimus compared to patients treated more often in patients treated with pimecrolimus compared to patients treated with topical tacrolimus compared to patients treated with pimecrolimus compared to patients treated with topical tacrolimus compared to pat

• Tacrolimus 0.03%/0.1% ointment vs. pimecrolimus 1% cream

A RCT (Paller 2005) demonstrated that tacrolimus (0.03% and 0.1%) ointments are more efficacious than pimecrolimus 1% cream at improving EASI score among children and adults with varying disease severity (mild to very severe) at 6 weeks.²⁷ In addition, children and adult patients receiving tacrolimus achieved a more rapid clinical response in relief of itch compared to patients treated with pimecrolimus.²⁷ The occurrence of application site-reactions such as pain, erythema, and pruritus were similar between treatment groups. However, burning occurred more frequently in the adult population treated with tacrolimus 0.1% compared to the adult patients treated with pimecrolimus.²⁷

A second RCT **(Onumah 2013)** had a small sample size (N=20), but showed that pimecrolimus was more efficacious than tacrolimus at improving IGA response among children and adults with moderate AD at 4 weeks.⁶⁸ Additionally, patients preferred the formulation of pimecrolimus compared to tacrolimus ointment in terms of ease of use, moisturizing, quick absorption and penetration, ability to easily apply to large surface areas, and lack of residue and greasiness.⁶⁸

Comparative Evidence of Upadacitinib vs. Dupilumab

Only one SR (ICER report) included a direct comparison between upadacitinib and another non-steroidal agent, dupilumab.² This SR included the 1 head-to-head RCT comparing upadacitinib to dupilumab, and 3 RCTs comparing upadacitinib to placebo.² In the SR, included patients were adolescents (12 to 17 years of age) and adults diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD that previously failed topical therapies (TCIs or TCS) or recently received systemic therapy.² Upadacitinib improved the severity of AD as measured by EASI response and patient-reported itch compared to placebo, with the higher dose of 30 mg daily being more efficacious than 15 mg daily.² In addition, upadacitinib 30 mg daily achieved superiority compared to dupilumab at improving EASI scores at 16 weeks (based on data from Heads Up trial).^{2,28}

The Heads Up trial evaluated the superiority of upadacitinib 30 mg daily to subcutaneous dupilumab 300 mg every other week (after a 600 mg loading dose).²⁸ At 16 weeks, significantly more patients treated with upadacitinib 30 mg achieved \geq 75% improvement in EASI score from baseline compared to patients treated with dupilumab (71% vs. 61%; p=0.006).²⁸ Additionally, all ranked secondary efficacy endpoints

demonstrated a greater improvement with upadacitinib compared to dupilumab.²⁸ A greater proportion of patients receiving upadacitinib achieved AD lesion clearance (ie, EASI-90 or EASI-100) exceeding the minimum standard of at least 75% reduction (ie, EASI-75) compared to dupilumab.²⁸ Additionally, upadacitinib demonstrated a faster onset of action compared to dupilumab, with skin improvement observed as early as week 2 of treatment (44% vs. 17%, respectively), and pruritis relief reported as early as week 1 (31% vs 9%, respectively).²⁸ Rates of acne, serious infection, eczema herpeticum, and herpes zoster were higher in patients treated with upadacitinib, whereas rates of conjunctivitis (mild or moderate) and injection site reactions were higher among patients that received dupilumab.²⁸ Among either treatment group, no VTE events, MACEs, or gastrointestinal perforations were observed.²⁸ One death associated to upadacitinib treatment occurred in a 40 year old due to influenza associated bronchopneumonia.²⁸

Table 10 outlines the primary efficacy endpoints, key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safetyinformation for the Heads Up trial.

Table 4 in **Appendix C** outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified upadacitinib placebo-controlled trials.

Comparative Evidence of Dupilumab vs. Upadacitinib or Abrocitinib

Two identified SRs, the 2021 ICER report (**Atlas et al, 2021**)² and **Mostafa et al (2021**)⁶³, included a direct comparison between dupilumab and another non-steroidal agent for the treatment of AD. The ICER report included 6 dupilumab RCTs, including a phase II study, evaluating the efficacy and safety of dupilumab compared to an active comparator (upadacitinib or abrocitinib) or placebo.² Excluding placebo-controlled studies, only 2 RCTs were of interest (JADE COMPARE and Heads Up).^{28,29} Mostafa et al also included results from the JADE COMPARE trial, but for QoL outcomes (DLQI and POEM).⁶³

Results from both of the RCTs with direct comparisons between dupilumab and another AD agent of interest, which enrolled patients 18 years or older with moderate to severe AD with an indication for systemic therapy, are summarized in the abrocitinib or upadacitinib sections of this report. These trials indicate that higher doses of upadacitinib and perhaps abrocitinib (for rapid itch response) are more effective than dupilumab at improving the severity of AD.^{2,28,29} Rates of acne, serious infection, and serious adverse events were numerically higher with either JAK inhibitor (at the higher dose), whereas rates of conjunctivitis (mild or moderate) were higher among patients that received dupilumab.^{28,29}

Briefly, JADE COMPARE, which was not designed to statistically compare the primary efficacy endpoints between abrocitinib and dupilumab, demonstrated similar efficacy results between abrocitinib (200 mg or 100 mg) and dupilumab (300 mg every other week after a 600 mg loading dose) for improving physical symptoms of AD at 16 weeks.²⁹ A benefit for abrocitinib over dupilumab was seen for itch response at 2 weeks. QoL outcomes failed to clearly distinguish between dupilumab and abrocitinib; benefits on the DLQI score were observed for dupilumab compared to abrocitinib (both 100 mg and 200 mg), but abrocitinib 200 mg (and not 100 mg) was superior to dupilumab for improvement based on the POEM score.⁶³ However, the safety profile may favor dupilumab over abrocitinib in terms of overall

adverse events, particularly for acne and nausea.²⁹ Still, conjunctivitis occurred most frequently in the dupilumab arm.

The other head-to-head phase III RCT with a dupilumab arm, Heads Up, compared upadacitinib 30 mg daily to subcutaneous dupilumab 300 mg every other week (after a 600 mg loading dose).²⁸ Upadacitnib 30 mg daily was superior to dupilumab at improving physical symptoms of AD at 16 weeks; efficacy results favoring upadacitinib were also observed for all secondary endpoints (eg, itching). The onset of effect may also be faster for upadacitinib compared to dupilumab.²⁸ However, rates of acne (mild or moderate), serious infection, eczema herpeticum, and herpes zoster were reported more frequently in patients treated with upadacitinib, whereas rates of conjunctivitis (mild or moderate) and injection site reactions were higher among patients that received dupilumab.²⁸

Table 10 outlines the primary and secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information regarding dupilumab compared to abrocitinib (JADE COMPARE) and upadacitinib (Heads Up).

RCT Design (author,	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
year, trial name)				
Multicenter,	Patients ≥18	ABO 200 mg	Co-primary endpoints:	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any
randomized, double-	years of age	po daily	IGA Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear]	treatment group)
blind, double-dummy,	diagnosed	(N=226) or	with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline	Nausea
placebo controlled	with	ABO 100 mg	measured at 12W modified ITT population	ABO 100 (4.2%) vs ABO 200 (11.1%) vs DUP
(Bieber, 2021, JADE	moderate-	po daily	Not designed to assess superiority of abrocitinib	300 (2.9%) vs PBO (1.5%)
COMPARE) ²⁹	to-severe	(N=238)	compared to dupilumab	Conjunctivitis
	AD ^a for ≥1	vs	EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score	ABO 100 (0.8%) vs ABO 200 (1.3%) vs DUP
	year,	DUP 300 mg	at week 12 from baseline	300 (6.2%) vs PBO (2.3%)
	uncontrolled	subQ every	Not designed to assess superiority of abrocitinib	 Nasopharyngitis
	by topical	other week	compared to dupilumab	ABO 100 (9.2%) vs ABO 200 (6.6%) vs DUP
	therapies	(after a LD of	Key secondary endpoints:	300 (9.5%) vs PBO (6.9%)
		600 mg)	Itch (PP-NRS) Response: (≥4 point improvement	• URTI
		(N=242)	from baseline in score) at week 2	ABO 100 (5.0%) vs ABO 200 (4.0%) vs DUP
		VS	 <u>ABO 100 mg vs DUP 300 mg</u>: treatment 	300 (3.7%) vs PBO (4.6%)
		PBO (N=131)	difference=5.2% (95%Cl -2.9% to 13.4%);	Headache
			p=0.20	ABO 100 (4.2%) vs ABO 200 (6.6%) vs DUP
		Duration: 16W	 <u>ABO 200 mg vs DUP 300 mg</u>: treatment 	300 (5.4%) vs PBO (4.6%)
			difference= 22.1% (95%Cl 13.5% to 30.7%);	Acne
			p=<0.001	ABO 100 (2.9%) vs ABO 200 (6.6%) vs DUP
			IGA Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear]	300 (1.2%) vs PBO (0%)
			with a \geq 2-grade improvement from baseline at	Discontinued Treatment due to AEs
			week 16	ABO 100 (2.5%) vs ABO 200 (4.4%) vs DUP
			<u>ABO 100 mg vs DUP 300 mg:</u> treatment	300 (3.3%) vs PBO (3.8%)
			difference= -3.5% (95%Cl -12.2% to 5.2%);	<u>SAEs^b</u>
			p=NR	ABO 100 (2.5%) vs ABO 200 (0.9%) vs DUP
			 <u>ABO 200 mg vs DUP 300 mg</u>: treatment 	300 (0.8%) vs PBO (3.8%)
			difference= 9.4% (95%Cl 0.4% to 18.5%);	Reported herpes viral infection:
			p=NR	Herpes zoster
			EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score	ABO 100 (0.8%) vs ABO 200 (1.8%) vs DUP
			at week 16 from baseline	300 (0%) vs PBO (0%)
				Eczema herpeticum

Table 10. Head-to-head Randomized Controlled Trials of Dupilumab

Table 10. Head-to-head Randomized Controlled Trials of Dupilumab						
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results		
Multicenter,	Adults (18 to	UPA 30 mg po	 <u>ABO 100 mg vs DUP 300 mg:</u> treatment difference= -5.1% (-13.9% to 3.7%); p= NR <u>ABO 200 mg vs DUP 300 mg:</u> treatment difference= 5.5% (95%CI -3.1% to 14.1%); p=NR <u>Primary endpoint:</u> EASL 75 Bespense: >75% improvement in EASL seere 	ABO 100 (0.4%) vs ABO 200 (0%) vs DUP 300 (0%) vs PBO (0.8%) <u>Most frequently reported TEAEs (</u> ≥5% in any troatment group)		
randomized, double- blind, double-dummy, active-controlled (Blauvelt, 2021, Heads Up) ²⁸	75 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥ 3 years, uncontrolled by TCl or TCS therapies or previously receiving systemic AD treatment within prior 6 months	daily (N= 348) vs DUP 300 mg subQ Q2W (after a LD of 600 mg) (N=344) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients	 EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg: 247 patients (71%) vs 210 patients (61%); adj. difference = 10.0%; (95% CI 2.9% to 17.0%); p=0.006 Selected key secondary endpoint(s) WP-NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg: adj. difference = 19.3% (95% CI NR); p=<0.001 EASI-90 Response: ≥90% improvement in EASI score at week 16 UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg: adj. difference = 21.8% (95% CI NR); p=<0.001 EASI-100 Response: 100% improvement in EASI score at week 16 UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg: adj. difference = 21.8% (95% CI NR); p=<0.001 EASI-100 Response: 100% improvement in EASI score at week 16 UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg: adj. difference = 20.3% (95% CI NR); p=<0.001 EM change in (weekly average) WP-NRS score: from baseline to week 16 	 Acne UPA 30 (15.8%) vs DUP 300 (2.6%) AD worsening UPA 30 (6.9%) vs DUP 300 (8.4%) URTI UPA 30 (6.3%) vs DUP 300 (3.8%) Increased plasma CPK UPA 30 (6.6%) vs DUP 300 (2.9%) Nasopharyngitis UPA 30 (5.7%) vs DUP 300 (6.4%) Headache UPA 30 (4.0%) vs DUP 300 (6.1%) Conjunctivitis UPA 30 (1.4%) vs DUP 300 (8.4%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> UPA 30 (2.0%) vs DUP 300 (1.2%) <u>SAEs</u> UPA 30 (2.9%) vs DUP 300 (1.2%) 		
			 <u>UPA 30 mg vs DUP 300 mg</u>: adj. LSM difference = – 17.8 (95% CI NR); p<0.0001 	_UPA 30 (7.2%) vs DUP 300 (4.1%) <u>Deaths:</u> 1 death occurred in UPA 30 <u>Reported infections:</u> • Serious infection UPA 30 (1.1%) vs DUP 300 (0.6%) • Eczema herpecitum		

Table 10. Head-to-head Randomized Controlled Trials of Dupilumab							
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results			
				UPA 30 (0.3%) vs DUP 300 (0%)			
				Herpes zoster			
				UPA 30 (2.0%) vs DUP 300 (0.9%)			
				Selected other AEs of interest:			
				Non-NMSC malignancy			
				UPA 30 (0%) vs DUP 300 (0.3%)			
				Neutropenia			
				UPA 30 (1.7%) vs DUP 300 (0.6%)			

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; Adj, adjusted; BW, bodyweight; CI, confidence interval; CPK, creatine phosphokinase; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; ITT, intention-to-treat; LD, loading dose; LSM, least squares mean; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular event; NMSC, non-melanoma skin cancer; PBO, placebo; Q2W, every two weeks; pt, point; SAEs, serious adverse events; subQ, subcutaneously; TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitor; TCS, topical corticosteroids; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; TEE, thromboembolic event; UPA, upadacitinib; URTI, upper respiratory tract infection; vIGA-AD, validated Investigator's Global Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis; W, weeks; WP-NRS, Worst Pruritis Numerical Rating Scale.

^a Diagnosis of AD per the Hanifin and Rajka criteria. Must be "candidates for systemic therapy" based on lack of sufficient response to or intolerance/inappropriateness for topical treatments. Moderate-to-severe AD criteria: \geq 10% BSA with AD and EASI score \geq 16 and vIGA-AD \geq 3 and WP-NRS \geq 4. *Italicized bold comparator names signifies statistically significant results*

Comparative Evidence of Ruxolitinib

No direct head-to-head SR or RCT efficacy comparisons were identified between ruxolitinib and other non-steroidal agents for the treatment of AD.^{2,42,59-63,65,66} Ruxolitinib cream has been proven safe and effective by the FDA for the treatment of mild-to-moderate AD in patients 12 years of age and older, unresponsive to topical therapies.³⁵ Compared to TCSs (medium potency), ruxolitinib numerically improved EASI-75 and IGA responses, and itch NRS scores from baseline; however, tests for statistical significance were not reported.² Due to the topical formulation, ruxolitinib may exhibit fewer adverse reactions compared to other JAK inhibitors which need to be taken orally, but the risk of systemic absorption may still exist.⁶² When applied in patients with \leq 20% of BSA affected by AD, the risk for systemic exposure is considered to be reduced or negligible.^{51,54,55}

Comparative Evidence of Crisaborole

There are currently no direct head-to-head SR or RCT efficacy comparisons between crisaborole and other non-steroidal agents for the treatment of AD.^{2,42,59-63,65,66} Crisaborole ointment has been proven safe and effective by the FDA for mild-to-moderate AD in patients 3 months of age and older.³³ Crisaborole may be used as an alternative option to TCIs in patients \geq 2 years of age with mild-to-moderate AD.⁴¹

Comparative Evidence of Tralokinumab

There are currently no direct head-to-head SR or RCT efficacy comparisons between tralokinumab and other non-steroidal agents for the treatment of AD.^{2,42,59-63,65,66} Tralokinumab subcutaneous injection has been approved by the FDA to be safe and effective for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD in <u>adult</u> patients inadequately controlled with *topical* prescription therapies (or when these medications are not suitable).¹²

Table 5 in **Appendix C** outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified tralokinumab placebo-controlled trials.

Safety

Below is a summary of commonly reported adverse events (AEs) as reported in prescribing information. For products approved in children, information about the AE profile in children is noted. Some AEs may occur more frequently in older adults receiving systemic JAK inhibitors (abrocitinib, upadacitinib).^{14,15}

Common Adverse Events (AEs) as Reported in Prescribing Information

Therapies with FDA approval for AD

- Crisaborole (AE ≥ 1%): application site pain (eg, burning or stinging)
 - Similar safety profile in pediatric patients (≥ 3 months)³³
- Pimecrolimus (most common AE ≥ 1%): burning at application site, headache, nasopharyngitis, cough, influenza, pyrexia, viral infection
 - Generally similar safety profile in children (≥2 years); numerically greater URTIs in children¹⁸
- Tacrolimus (most common treatment-related AE ≥ 1%): skin burning, pruritis, flu-like symptoms, headache, folliculitis, rash, alcohol intolerance, acne, vesiculobullous rash, skin tingling, dyspepsia, hyperesthesia, back pain, varicella/herpes zoster, myalgia, cyst
 - Generally similar safety profile in children (≥ 2 years, using the 0.03% ointment); most common AE in children: skin burning, pruritis, varicella zoster, vesiculobullous rash¹⁹
- Ruxolitinib (AE ≥ 1%): nasopharyngitis, diarrhea, bronchitis, ear infection, increased eosinophil count, urticaria, folliculitis, tonsillitis, rhinorrhea
 - Similar safety profile in children (≥ 12 years)³⁵
- Dupilumab (AE ≥ 1% in patients with AD): injection site reactions, conjunctivitis, blepharitis, oral herpes, keratitis, eye pruritis, other herpes simplex viral infection, dry eye
 - Generally similar safety profile in children (\geq 6 years)¹³
- Tralokinumab (AE ≥ 1% in adult AD patients treated with a 600 mg SQ loading dose followed by 300 mg SQ every 2 weeks): URTIs, injection site reactions, conjunctivitis, and eosinophilia¹²
- Upadacitinib (AE \geq 1% in patients with AD): URTIs, acne, herpes infections simplex
 - O Higher rates of AEs, including infections, among older adults (≥ 65 years) versus younger¹⁵
 - Similar safety profile (at 15 mg or 30 mg dose) in adolescents as adults¹⁵
- Abrocitinib (AE ≥ 1%): nasopharyngitis, nausea, headache, herpes simplex, increased blood creatine phosphokinase, dizziness, urinary tract infection (UTI)
 - AEs were more frequent in older adults (≥ 65 years old), such as low platelets and herpes zoster infections¹⁴

Therapies with FDA approval for a non-AD indication

Baricitinib (AE ≥ 1% in adults with RA with a dose of 2 mg once daily): URTIs, nausea, herpes infections (simplex or zoster)¹⁶

Warnings and Precautions

These products carry some labeled warnings and precautions as summarized in **Table 11** (abrocitinib, baricitinib, upadacitinib, and ruxolitinib) and **Table 12** (crisaborole, pimecrolimus, tacrolimus, dupilumab, tralokinumab). *Note that warnings for baricitinib were extrapolated from labeling based on FDA approval for its indication for RA; this may or may not change if this product is approved for AD in the US.*

The JAK inhibitors generally carry similar warnings with regard to the risk for serious infections, morality, malignancy, major adverse cardiovascular events, thrombosis, and changes in hematologic and lipid parameters.^{14-16,35} Systemic JAK inhibitors should not be started in patients with certain hematologic cytopenias (varies by agent) at baseline.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Owing to immunosuppressive effects, live vaccination during treatment with systemic JAK inhibitor treatment is not recommended.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Warnings unique to baricitinib and upadacitinib are the risk of gastrointestinal perforation and liver enzyme elevations.^{15,16} Baricitinib additionally warns of hypersensitivity reactions¹⁶ and specific to upadacitinib, the risk for embryo-fetal toxicity.¹⁵

Among the other agents, topical crisaborole only carries a warning regarding the risk of hypersensitivity reactions.³³ TCIs carry a <u>black box warning</u> regarding a possible increased risk of malignancy. Other warnings are a possible risk of immunosuppression, evaluating for discontinuation if lymphadenopathy occurs, avoiding sun exposure, and avoiding application in certain situations (to pre-malignant lesions or bacterial/viral infections, and in people with insufficient skin barriers that could increase systemic absorption).^{18,19} TCIs should not be used in people who are immunocompromised or who have a developing immune system (including people <2 years old).^{18,19} Burning or stinging sensations at the site of TCI application are common during the first few days of treatment.^{18,19} Unlike pimecrolimus, tacrolimus carries a warning for renal insufficiency due to post-market reports of acute renal failure during its use.¹⁹ These cases have occurred in patients with and without other risk factors, but tacrolimus ointment should be used cautiously in patients at risk for renal impairment.¹⁹ The systemic monoclonal antibodies, dupilumab and tralokinumab carry warnings for hypersensitivity reactions, and development of ocular side effects.^{12,13} Owing to the effects of IL-13 in the immune response to helminth infections, it is recommended to treat parasitic infections before treatment with dupilumab or tralokinumab.^{12,13} Patients should receive any necessary live vaccinations before receipt of dupilumab or tralokinumab.^{12,13} Dupilumab carries additional warnings related to use in patients with asthma, and to avoid abruptly stopping corticosteroids (topical or systemic) when starting dupilumab.¹³ In patients with asthma and chronic sinusitis with nasal polyps treated with dupilumab, serious systemic eosinophilic conditions have occurred; providers should monitor for rashes, pulmonary or cardiac symptoms, or neuropathy in people presenting with eosinophilia.¹³

Regarding **contraindications**, crisaborole, pimecrolimus, tacrolimus, upadacitinib, dupilumab, and tralokinumab should not be used in patients with a prior hypersensitivity reaction.^{12,13,15,18,19,33} In the US, there are not labeled contraindications for baricitinib or ruxolitinib.^{16,35} Labeling for abrocitinib states that during the first 3 months of treatment, it is contraindicated in patients taking antiplatelet therapies, except for low-dose aspirin (≤ 81 mg daily).¹⁴

Below is a discussion about **black box warnings** for these products, and additional details regarding the conjunctivitis warning for dupilumab and tralokinumab.

<u>Black box warning</u> for JAK inhibitors: risk for infections, mortality, major adverse cardiovascular events, malignancy, and thrombosis

Infection risk: Serious and sometimes fatal bacterial, invasive fungal, viral, or other opportunistic pathogens have occurred during treatment with <u>oral</u> JAK inhibitors.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Topical ruxolitinib also carries this warning, noting that serious lower respiratory infections occurred with its use during clinical trials.³⁵ Owing to these risks, <u>initiation of JAK inhibitors (oral or topical) is not recommended in patients with serious active infections</u>, and clinicians should consider the risks vs benefits in patients with risk factors for infection (eg, chronic/recurrent infections, history of serious infection, underlying conditions, travel/exposure to tuberculosis or mycoses).^{14-16,35} Screening for active/latent Tuberculosis (Tb) and viral hepatitis is recommended before use^{14-16,35}; do not use <u>oral</u> JAK inhibitors in patients with active Tb¹⁴⁻¹⁶ or <u>oral/topical</u> JAK inhibitors in patients with active viral hepatitis.^{14-16,35} Treatment of latent Tb is recommended before initiation of <u>oral</u> JAK inhibitors.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Patients should be monitored for infection during treatment, and any infection should be treated appropriately.^{14-16,35} *The following are rates of infection in clinical trials per prescribing information:*

- Baricitinib (among RA patients between 0 to 52 weeks; 2 mg dose, 4 mg dose):
 - Overall infections: 58.6, 55.3 events per 100 patient-years. Most common types: viral URTI, URTI, UTI, bronchitis.¹⁶
 - <u>Serious infections:</u> 4.2, 3.7 events per 100 patient-years. Most common types: pneumonia, herpes zoster, UTI.¹⁶ Per EU labeling that includes AD treatment, the overall incidence of serious infections in clinical trials for AD was 2.1 per 100 patient-years.⁸
- Upadacitinib (among RA patients after 12 months- this information is not reported for AD patients, but overall types of AEs are considered similar; 15 mg dose, 30 mg dose):
 - Overall infections: 83.8, 99.7 events per 100 patient-years.¹⁵ Per EU labeling that includes AD treatment, the long-term rates of infections was 98.5 and 109.6 events per 100 patientyears for the 15 mg and 30 mg dose, respectively.⁶⁹
 - <u>Serious infections:</u> 3.5, 5.6 per 100 patient-years. Most common types: pneumonia, cellulitis.¹⁵ Per EU labeling that includes AD treatment, the long-term rates of serious infections were 2.3 and 2.8 events per 100 patient-years for the 15 mg and 30 mg dose, respectively.⁶⁹
- Abrocitinib (long-term extension; 100 mg dose, 200 mg dose):
 - o <u>Overall infections</u>: 91.8, 103.2 per 100 patient-years.¹⁴
 - Serious infections: 2.3, 2.3 per 100 patient-years. Most common: herpes simplex or zoster, pneumonia.¹⁴
- Ruxolitinib: Details about incidence of infections are not reported. Through 8 weeks of treatment, 3% of patients reported nasopharyngitis, 1% reported bronchitis, and 1%, an ear infection. Cases of Tb were not observed. Impact on chronic hepatitis is unknown.³⁵

Table 11. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for JAK inhibitors from Prescribing Information ^a							
Abrocitinib ¹⁴	Baricitinib ¹⁶	Upadacitinib ¹⁵	Ruxolitinib ³⁵				
Contraindications							
During the first 3 months of treatment, antiplatelet therapies except for low-dose aspirin (≤ 81 mg daily)	None	Hypersensitivity to active substance or components	None				
	Warnings an	d Precautions					
Risk for Serious Inf	ections, Mortality, Malignancy, Major	Adverse Cardiovascular Events (MAC	CE), and Thrombosis				
 Serious infections (eg, active tube hospitalization or death have occo Monitor patients for infection. treatment per ruxolitinib label Consider risks vs benefits in padisseminated) Test for latent Tb, and treat it Test for viral hepatitis before clinical studies. Ruxolitinib label Mortality and MACE Higher rates of all-cause mo least 1 CV risk factor) treated wit upadacitinib, abrocitinib, or baric Lymphoproliferative disorders an Consider risks vs benefits in pasmokers Monitor skin for cancer Evaluate patients with throm 	erculosis, invasive fungal infections), o urred. Often, patients were taking con Interrupt treatment should a serious ing) occur. tients with chronic or recurrent infect appropriately before use use. Effects of treatment on viral hepa beling specifies treatment is not recom rtality, including MACE (ie, CV death, I h another JAK inhibitor (tofacitinib) co itinib) should be stopped in patients w id other malignancies have occurred d patients with a history of a neoplasm (in and arterial thrombotic events have o bosis symptoms. Use cautiously inpatients Gastrointestin	r other opportunistic infections (bacter ncurrent immunosuppressants. or opportunistic infection, or herpes ze ion. Avoid use in patients with active s ntic infections are unknown as patients mended for patients with active hepa MI, stroke) events, have been observe mpared to TNF antagonists. Smoking H vith a history of these events (ie, MI or uring treatment with some JAK inhibit other than NMSC), patients who devel ccurred more frequently than with pla ients with other risk factors for thromi nal Perforation	rial, viral, other) resulting in oster infection (or may continue serious infections (localized or s with active infections were not in titis B/C infection. d (in RA patients age 50+ with at history increases the risk. Use (of stroke). ors lop a malignancy, and current/past acebo (for some JAK inhibitors) posis.				
		als offen in actions to bin -					
	Events occurred during clinical tri concomitant NSAIDs. Use caution	iais, otten in patients taking					
	perforation (eg. NSAID use, histor	rv of diverticulitis)					
	Evaluate patients presenting with	n symptoms suggesting a GI					
	perforation]				

Table 11. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for JAK inhibitors from Prescribing Information ^a						
Abrocitinib ¹⁴	Baricitinib ¹⁶	Upadacitinib ¹⁵	Ruxolitinib ³⁵			
	Hypersensitivity reactions,	Embryo-fetal toxicity is possible,				
	including serious reactions have	based on animal studies. Use				
	occurred. D/c treat while	effective contraception				
	evaluating the HS cause]			
	Liver Enzym	e Elevations				
	• Liver enzyme increases associate	d with use				
	 Monitor at baseline, and as in 	ndicated thereafter				
	 If DILI is suspected, interrupt 	treatment until it is ruled out				
	Hematologic Labor	atory Abnormalities				
<i>Lymphopenia</i> and	Lymphopenia, neutropenia, and	Lymphopenia, neutropenia, and	Neutropenia, thrombocytopenia,			
thrombocytopenia were observed	anemia were observed in clinical	anemia were observed in clinical	and anemia were observed in			
in clinical trials. Do not start in	trials. Avoid starting or interrupt	trials. Avoid starting or interrupt	clinical trials. Consider risks vs			
patients with low platelets, low	treatment with low absolute	treatment with low absolute	benefits in patients with a history			
erythrocytes, low lymphocytes or	neutrophil count, low absolute	neutrophil count, low absolute	of these hematologic			
low neutrophils. Check a complete	lymphocyte count, or low	lymphocyte count, or low	abnormalities. Monitor these labs			
blood count 4 weeks after	hemoglobin. Evaluate these labs at	hemoglobin. Evaluate these labs at	as clinically indicated. Consider			
treatment start, and 4 weeks after	baseline, and as clinically needed	baseline, and as clinically needed	treatment d/c if significant events			
dose increases	thereafter.	thereafter.	occur.			
	Lipid Parame	eter Increases				
Dose-dependent increases in lipid	 Increases in various lipid 	 Increases in various lipid 	Increases in various lipid			
parameters observed. Check lipid	parameters (total, HDL and LDL	parameters (total, HDL and LDL	parameters (total and LDL			
parameters 4 weeks after	cholesterol) have occurred with	cholesterol) have occurred with	cholesterol, triglycerides) have			
treatment start. Monitor and treat	treatment	treatment	occurred with treatment			
any hyperlipidemia according to	 Measure lipid panel about 	 Measure lipid panel about 				
guideline recommendations	12 weeks after starting	12 weeks after starting				
	treatment. Treat	treatment. Treat				
	hyperlipidemia according	hyperlipidemia according				
	to guideline	to guideline				
	recommendations	recommendations				

Table 11. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for JAK inhibitors from Prescribing Information ^a							
Abrocitinib ¹⁴ Baricitinib ¹⁶		Upadacitinib ¹⁵	Ruxolitinib ³⁵				
	Vaccinations						
 Avoid live vaccines during, right before, and after treatment Ensure vaccinations are up-to- date (including for herpes zoster) before starting treatment 	 Avoid live vaccinations during use Ensure vaccinations are up-to- date before starting treatment 	 Avoid live vaccines during or right before starting treatment Ensure vaccinations are up-to- date (including for herpes zoster) before starting treatment 					

Grey shading indicates it is a **black box warning**. Striped yellow pattern indicates that this therapy is not yet FDA-approved for AD Abbreviations: BBW, black box warning; D/c, discontinue; DILI, drug-induced liver injury; GI, gastrointestinal; HS, hypersensitivity; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular events; NMSC, non-melanoma skin cancer; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; Tb, tuberculosis

^a Based on package inserts for products approved for AD in the US. For products lacking FDA approval for AD, but with another FDA-approved use, information is based on the labeling prior to AD approval (ie, for baricitinib).

Risk of thrombosis, cardiac events, malignancy, and death with JAK inhibitors

In 2021, the FDA required updates to the labeling for baricitinib and upadacitinib in light of a higher rate of thrombosis, major cardiovascular events (myocardial infarction, stroke), certain cancers and death compared to patients treated with an alternative therapy (TNF antagonists) in a randomized safety trial for another JAK inhibitor (tofacitinib [Xeljanz]) among patients 50 years or older with RA and at least 1 cardiovascular disease risk factor (ie, the Oral Surveillance trial).¹¹ The elevated risk was observed at the recommended dose of tofacitinib for treatment of RA. The FDA considers other JAK inhibitors used to treat inflammatory conditions to possibly carry a similar risk.¹¹ They do not mention topical ruxolitinib in their safety briefing,¹¹ though its labeling does list these black box warnings, noting that they have occurred with other <u>oral</u> JAK inhibitors used to treat inflammatory conditions.³⁵

In the large post-marking Oral Surveillance trial of patients with a median age of 60 years and a duration of a median of 4 years, tofacitinib failed to meet its noninferiority primary cardiovascular safety endpoint and malignancy endpoint (to meet the endpoint the confidence interval [CI] must exclude a hazard ratio [HR] of 1.8) for the comparison to TNF antagonists. The HR of the composite endpoint of major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE: cardiovascular death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, nonfatal stroke) for tofacitinib compared to TNF antagonists was 1.33 (95% CI; 0.91 to 1.94). For malignancy (excluding nonmelanoma skin cancer), for tofacitinib compared to TNF antagonists and cardiac events increased in a dose-dependent manner whereas the risk of malignancy (lymphoma, lung cancer) occurred regardless of dose.¹¹

Whether the safety profile of tofacitinib in RA patients will extend to other JAK inhibitors when used to treat AD patients remains to be determined. Pooled analyses of shorter-term placebo controlled trials, and open-label extension studies for treatment of AD with baricitinib (median exposure duration of 310 days, maximum of 736 days)⁷⁰ and abrocitinib (mean exposure of 90 days in placebo-controlled trials; total exposure of 1617 person-years with a maximum of 756 days)⁷¹ have been published. Among all patients receiving baricitinib (1 to 4 mg dose) 2 cases of venous thromboembolism (VTE) occurred (incidence rate [IR], 0.40 per 100 person-years at risk [PY]), 5 non-NMSC cases including 3 lymphoma cases (IR 0.22 per 100 PY), 6 cases of NMSC (IR 0.26 per 100 PY), and 1 MACE event (IR 0.17 per 100 PY) in a patient with multiple cardiovascular risk factors.⁷⁰ During treatment with baricitinib, 1 death occurred (gastrointestinal bleed), and 1 hemorrhagic stroke occurred; no gastrointestinal perforations were reported.⁷⁰ Among all patients receiving abrocitinib (100 or 200 mg dose), 5 VTE events occurred (IR 0.12 per 100 PY) in patients on the 200 mg dose, 7 cases of NMSC occurred, 3 other malignancies occurred (2 prostate cancer, 1 gastro adenocarcinoma), and 3 MACE events (IR 0.18 per 100 PY) including 2 MI and 1 sudden death occurred, all in older adults with other cardiovascular risk factors.⁷¹ In total, 3 deaths were reported during abrocitinib treatment including 1 sudden death, 1 death due to gastro adenocarcinoma and 1 death due to COVID-19 infection.⁷¹ This suggests systemic JAK inhibitors used to treat AD could be associated with malignancy and cardiac events like tofacitinib, but whether risk is increased beyond background risk is not discernable. Authors point out that people with RA have an increased risk of cardiovascular events compared to the general population, and the observed MACE incidence with baricitinib and abrocitinib is similar to or lower than the background incidence of these events.^{70,71} Of note, on average, patients in these clinical trials were younger than those in the tofacitinib safety study (median age of 31 years and mean age of 36.4 years in all abrocitinib or baricitinib cohorts, respectively),^{70,71} which likely influences risks for these events.

Thromboembolic events: US labeling for baricitinib and upadacitinib warns of an elevated risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) and arterial thrombosis. Serious events, including death, have occurred.^{15,16} Labeling for abrocitinib warns of similar risks, specifically, the risk for VTE.¹⁴ If symptoms suggestive of a thromboembolic event occur, treatment with these agents should be discontinued, and appropriate treatment should be initiated. <u>Their use should be avoided in patients with risk factors for thrombosis</u>.¹⁴⁻ ¹⁶ The topical ruxolitinib also carries this warning based on events with the oral JAK inhibitors, though cases of deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE) have occurred during treatment with topical ruxolitinib too; it should be used cautiously in at-risk patients.³⁵ *The following are rates of thrombotic events in clinical trials per prescribing information:*

- Baricitinib (among RA patients between 0 to 52 weeks; 2 mg dose, 4 mg dose):
 - <u>Venous thromboembolism</u>: 0.6, 0.7 per 100 patient-years
 - Arterial thrombosis: 0.9, 0.3 events per 100 patient-years¹⁶
- Upadacitinib (among RA patients after 12 months- this information is not reported for AD patients, but overall types of AEs are considered similar; 15 mg dose, 30 mg dose):
 - o Venous thromboembolism: 0.5, 0.4 per 100 patient-years
 - o <u>Arterial thrombosis:</u> 0, 0.2 per 100 patient-years¹⁵
- Abrocitinib (among AD patients in all clinical studies; 100 mg, 200 mg dose):
 - DVT: 0, 0.3 per 100 patient-years
 - <u>PE</u>: 0, 0.4 per 100 patient-years¹⁴
- Ruxolitinib: event rates not reported in prescribing information³⁵

Major adverse cardiovascular events: US labeling for baricitinib, abrocitinib, and upadacitinib warns of the increased risk of cardiovascular events relative to TNF antagonists that were observed with another JAK inhibitor among RA patients (in the Oral Surveillance study mentioned above).¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Ruxolitinib also carries a similar warning.³⁵ Providers should consider the risks versus benefits of these therapies based on patient's cardiovascular risk. Cardiovascular risks are increased in patients with a current or prior history of smoking.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Use of baricitinib, abrocitinib, or upadacitinib is not recommended for patients with a history of a myocardial infarction or stroke.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

Malignancy and lymphoproliferative disorders: US labeling for baricitinib, abrocitinib, upadacitinib, and ruxolitinib warns of an elevated risk of malignancies^{14-16,35} (especially lymphoma, and lung cancer in current/prior smokers) compared to TNF antagonists in that prior study of another oral JAK inhibitor among RA patients (the Oral Surveillance study mentioned above).¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Malignancies, including non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC), occurred in clinical studies with abrocitinib, baricitinib, and upadacitinib.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ <u>Risks versus benefits of these therapies should be considered, particularly in patients</u> with a history of malignancy (other than treated NMSC), people with an emergent malignancy, and people with a current or past history of smoking. Periodic monitoring of skin for cancer is recommended in people at risk for skin cancer.^{14-16,35} *The following are rates of malignancy in clinical trials per prescribing information:*

- Baricitinib (among RA patients between 0 to 52 weeks; 2 mg dose, 4 mg dose):
 - Malignancy (other than NMSC): 0.6, 0.7 per 100 patient-years¹⁶
- Upadacitinib (among RA patients after 12 months- this information is not reported for AD patients, but overall types of AEs are considered similar; 15 mg dose, 30 mg dose):
 - o Malignancy (other than NMSC): 1.2, 1.3 per 100 patient-years¹⁵

- Abrocitinib (among AD patients in all clinical studies; 100 mg, 200 mg dose)
 - <u>Malignancy (including NMSC)</u>: 0.5, 0.3 per 100 patient-years¹⁴
- Ruxolitinib: no malignancies reported in prescribing information³⁵

Mortality: US labeling for baricitinib, abrocitinib, upadacitinib, and ruxolitinib warns of a higher rate of all-cause mortality, including sudden cardiac death, that was observed in the Oral Surveillance study (mentioned above) during treatment with another oral JAK inhibitor compared to TNF antagonists in a cohort of patients with RA.^{14-16,35} Potential risks of these therapies for an individual patient should be weighed against the benefits.^{14-16,35}

Black box warning for Topical Calcineurin Inhibitors (TCIs): risk for malignancy

Both topical tacrolimus and pimecrolimus carry warnings for the risk for malignancy, and advise avoiding *continuous* long-term use in light of the lack of established long-term safety (ie, it is not established for >1 year of non-continuous use).^{18,19} The FDA required this warning as of 2006^{72,73} due to evidence of increased risk for malignancies (and infection) after *systemic* use of calcineurin inhibitors in animal studies and among transplant recipients.^{18,19} Proposed mechanisms of risk include lack of immune system detection of cancer due to immunosuppression or possibly direct stimulation of tumors.⁷² A causal relationship with the TCIs is not established.^{18,19} To mitigate risk, labeling advises to not use these products among people who are immunocompromised and in children less than 2 years of age, and to confirm the diagnosis of AD if there is not improvement after treatment with topical tacrolimus or pimecrolimus after 6 weeks.^{18,19}

Whether TCIs with limited systemic exposure actually increase the risk for cancers, particularly lymphoma, is controversial. A systematic review (SR) from 2016 failed to find an increased risk of lymphoma in pediatric clinical trials ≥ 12 weeks long, and based on a review of the literature.⁷³ However, Lam et al (2021) and Wu et al (2020) found an increased risk of lymphoma based on meta-analysis of observational (cohort or case-control) studies in patients receiving TCIs compared to those without TCIs.^{72,74} In cohort studies with a follow-up duration ranging from a mean of 1.5 years to up to 10 years, any TCI use (in patients with any disease state) significantly increased the risk for lymphoma compared to nonactive comparators (relative risk [RR] 1.86; 95% CI 1.39 to 2.49) and TCSs (RR 1.35; 1.13 to 1.61).⁷² An increased risk of melanoma or keratinocyte carcinoma was not observed.⁷² Authors suggest that the absolute risk of lymphoma is low, thus "the potential increased risk attributable to TCI use for any individual patient is likely very small."⁷² Risk of lymphoma in general is related to degree of immunosuppression.⁷⁵ Factors which increase systemic absorption of TCIs (eg, more body involvement, more compromised skin barrier) could theoretically increase risk.⁷⁴

Warning for dupilumab and tralokinumab: risk for ocular side effects

US labeling for dupilumab and tralokinumab carry a warning regarding the risk of ocular side effects including conjunctivitis and keratitis.^{12,13} For dupilumab, a higher frequency of these events compared to placebo occurred among patients with AD, but not in clinical trials to treat other conditions.¹³ Patients should monitor and report new or worsening ocular symptoms.^{12,13} In most cases, long term treatment of the ocular surface disorder without discontinuation of the offending agent will resolve the symptoms.⁷⁶ For some patients, the ocular effects led to discontinuation of dupilumab.⁷⁶

According to a systemic review, ocular surface disorders commonly occur in AD patients treated with dupilumab, but long-term ocular complications are rare.⁷⁶ In dupilumab RCTs, 10.9% of treated patients experienced this effect,⁷⁶ and among 5 tralokinumab RCTs, 7.5% of treated patients experienced conjunctivitis.⁷⁷ Rates of dupilumab-induced ocular effects appear higher with real-life use compared to rates in clinical trials.⁷⁸ The cause of these disorders is not known. Proposed mechanisms include mucosal barrier dysfunction induced by blockade of IL-13 leading to hypoplasia of mucin-secreting goblet cells, and a shift toward the Th1 immune response owing to downregulation of the Th2 immune response by dupilumab/tralokinumab.⁷⁶

Crisaborole ³³ Pimecrolimus ¹⁸ Tacrolimus ¹⁹ Dupilumab ¹³ Tralokinumab ¹² Contraindications Hypersensitivity cactive substance or any product components Warnings and Precautions Mypersensitivity Reactions Possible Risk for Malignarry; Unknown Long-Term Safety • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact • Rare skin and lymphoma malignancies reported with use • Clinical trials: <1% of patients; 1 case of anaphylaxis occurred • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) • Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms • Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1- year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immune compromised people Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monito	Table 12. Contraindications,	, Warnings and Precautions fo	rs and Biologic Products from	Prescribing Information				
Contraindications Hypersensitivity to active substance or any product components Warnings and Precautions Hypersensitivity Reactions Possible Risk for Malignancy; Unknown Long-Term Safety Hypersensitivity Reactions • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients	Crisaborole ³³	Pimecrolimus ¹⁸	Tacrolimus ¹⁹	Dupilumab ¹³	Tralokinumab ¹²			
Hypersensitivity to active substance or any product components Warnings and Precautions Hypersensitivity Reactions Possible Risk for Malignancy; Unknown Long-Term Safety Hypersensitivity Reactions • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction • Rare skin and lymphoma malignancies reported with use • Clinical trials: <1% of patients; 1 case of anaphylaxis occurred • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients			Contraindications					
Warnings and Precautions Hypersensitivity Reactions Possible Risk for Malignancy; Unknown Long-Term Safety Hypersensitivity Reactions • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients		duct components						
Hypersensitivity Reactions Possible Risk for Malignancy; Unknown Long-Term Safety Hypersensitivity Reactions • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients	Warnings and Precautions							
• Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction • Rare skin and lymphoma malignancies reported with use • Clinical trials: <1% of patients; 1 case of anaphylaxis occurred	Hypersensitivity Reactions	Possible Risk for Maligna	ncy; Unknown Long-Term	Hypersensitivity Reactions				
 Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) Clinical trials: <1% of patients; 1 case of anaphylaxis occurred Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Discontinue treatment, and treat the reaction Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Avoid: continuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people Unstudied in Immunocompromised Individuals Treatment of Paracitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to 		Saf	ety					
and treat the reaction Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patientsuse Avoid: continuous use and application to sites other than those with atopic dermatitis • Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems)patients; 1 case of anaphylaxis occurred • Discontinue treatment, and treat the reactionand treat the reactionImmunosuppression Risk Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1- year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised peopleConjunctivitis and Keratitis Observed among AD patients. Monitor for eye symptomsUnstudied in Immunocompromised peopleTreatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to Discontinue is a theoretical real in Immunocompromised Individuals	 Discontinue treatment, 	Rare skin and lymphoma	malignancies reported with	• Clinical trials: <1% of	 Discontinue treatment, 			
Clinical trials: contact urticaria in <1% of patients	and treat the reaction	use		patients; 1 case of	and treat the reaction			
urticaria in <1% of patients	Clinical trials: contact	Avoid: continuous use and ap	pplication to sites other than	anaphylaxis occurred				
Not indicated for children < 2 (that have developing immune systems) and treat the reaction Immunosuppression Risk Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1- year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people Unstudied in Immunocompromised Individuals Treatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to	urticaria in <1% of patients	those with atopic dermatitis		• Discontinue treatment,				
Immune systems) Conjunctivitis and Keratitis Immunosuppression Risk Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1-year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people Treatment of Paracitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to pri		Not indicated for children	n < 2 (that have developing	and treat the reaction				
Immunosuppression Risk Conjunctivitis and Keratitis Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1-year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people Treatment of Paracitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to prior t		immune systems)						
Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1-year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people Deserved among AD patients in trials. For most patients, it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms Instrudied in Immunocompromised Individuals Treatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to		Immunosup	pression Risk	Conjunctivitis and Keratitis				
and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1- year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people	Systemic use increases risk for infections and malignancy, and there is a theoretical risk with topical use. Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1-			Observed among AD patients in trials. For most patients,				
Avoid: continuous long-term use (safety for durations >1- year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people				it resolved during treatment. Monitor for eye symptoms				
year of noncontinuous use is unknown); use in immunocompromised people								
immunocompromised people Instudied in Immunocompromised Individuals Treatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to		year of noncontinuous use is	unknown); use in					
Unstudied in Immunocompromised Individuals Treatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to	immunocompromised people <u>Unstudied in Immunocompromised Individuals</u>							
onstalled in initial ocomptonised individuals			Treatment of Parasitic (Helminth) Infections Prior to					
Starting Biologic Treatment				Starting Biologic Treatment				
Avoid applying to (pre-) malignant skin lesions (eg, It is unknown how the immune system of patients with		Avoid applying to (pre-) mali	gnant skin lesions (eg,	It is unknown how the immune system of patients with				
cutaneous T-cell lymphoma which can have symptoms these infections will react with dupilumab/tralokinumab		cutaneous T-cell lymphoma v	vhich can have symptoms	these infections will react with dupilumab/tralokinumab				
similar to AD) treatment		similar to AD)		If a holminth infection occurr	and do not respond to			
antiparasitic treatment temperarily discontinue			antiparasitic treatment, temperarily disceptinue					
dupilumab/tralokinumab until resolution				antiparasitic treatment, temporarily discontinue				
Avoid Use in Patients with Insufficient Skin Parriers Abrunt Discontinuation of Undate Live Vaccinations		Avoid Uso in Patients with		Undate Live Vaccinations				
Avoid 03e in Patients with insufficient Skin barriers Abrupt Discontinuation of Opdate Live Vacinations		Avoid Ose in Patients with	Thisdifferent Skill Barriers	Corticosteroids	Prior to Use			
(eq. Netherton's syndrome, lamellar ichthyosis Abrunt discontinuation can Immune response may be		(eg Netherton's syndrome l	amellar ichthyosis	Abrunt discontinuation can	Immune response may be			
generalized ervthroderma cutaneous GVHD)		generalized erythroderma	itaneous GVHD)	cause withdrawal	altered after the			
Avoid due to potential increased systemic symptoms Gradually		Avoid due to potenti	al increased systemic	symptoms Gradually	administration of live			
exposure exp		exposure			vaccinations Avoid			

Table 12. Contraindications	, Warnings and Precautions fo	r Topical Calcineurin Inhibitor	rs and Biologic Products from	Prescribing Information				
Crisaborole ³³	Pimecrolimus ¹⁸	Tacrolimus ¹⁹	Dupilumab ¹³	Tralokinumab ¹²				
			reduce dose under medical	administering live vaccines				
			provider supervision	during treatment due to				
				the increase risk of				
				infection				
	Do Not Apply to Bacte	erial or Viral Infections	Asthma Comorbidity					
	• Ensure infections at AD si	tes are resolved before use;	Patients treating AD who					
	safety/efficacy not estable	ished for use on AD lesions	have asthma should not					
	with infections. Use may l	ead to superficial infections.	stop/adjust other asthma					
	If skin warts worsen, or do not improve with							
	treatment, temporarily di wart resolution.	scontinue pimecrolimus until	medical provider					
	Evaluate for Discont	Serious Eosinophilic						
	Lymphad	<u>enopathy</u>	Conditions					
	 Cases of lymphadenopathy (0.9%) occurring in trials, usually due to infections that was treatable with 		(eg, eosinophilic					
			pneumonia)					
	antibiotics.		Observed in asthma					
	Discontinue treatment if I	ymphadenopathy due to	patients					
	unknown etiology, or due	to acute mononucleosis						
	occurs.			-				
	Burning or Pruntis		Not for Treatment of					
			Acute Asthma Symptoms					
	Usually, symptoms improve o	uickly within minutes to	Medical advice should be					
	hours, and improve as AD syr	mptoms resolve	obtained if asthma remains					
			uncontrolled or worsens					
<u>Avoid Su</u>		<u>Exposure</u>						
	Potential effects with ultravio	olet light exposure unknown;						
	avoid/minimize exposure (to	natural or artificial sunlight)	-					
		<u>Renal Failure Risk</u>						
		Rare AKF reported						
		Exercise caution in patients						
		with risk factors: patients						
		where larger systemic						
Table 12. Contraindications, Warnings and Precautions for Topical Calcineurin Inhibitors and Biologic Products from Prescribing Information								
---	--	----------------------------	--	--	--	--	--	--
Crisaborole ³³ Pimecrolimus ¹⁸ Tacrolimus ¹⁹ Dupilumab ¹³ Tralokinumab ¹								
		absorption is expected, OR						
		patients at risk for renal						
		impairment						

Grey shading indicates it is a black box warning.

Abbreviations: BBW, black box warning; D/c, discontinue; GI, gastrointestinal; HS, hypersensitivity; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular events; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; Tb, tuberculosis

References

1. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Atopic eczema in under 12s. Published September 5, 2013. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs44/resources/atopic-eczema-in-under-12s-pdf-2098666709701</u>. Accessed December 2, 2021. .

2. Atlas SJ, Brouwer E, Fox G, Carlson JJ, Campbell JD, Agboola F, Hansen RN, Pearson SD, Rind DM. JAK Inhibitors and Monoclonal Antibodies for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis: Effectiveness and Value; Evidence Report. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review, July 9, 2021. https://icer.org/assessment/atopic-dermatitis-2021/#timeline.

3. Martinez Alonso E, Gonzales V, Heath L, Crook J, LaFleur J. Crisaborole for the treatment of mild to moderate atopic dermatitis. Utah Medicaid DUR Report February 2019.

https://medicaid.utah.gov/pharmacy/drug-utilization-review-board/. Accessed December 3, 2021.

4. Eichenfield LF, Tom WL, Chamlin SL, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of atopic dermatitis: section 1. Diagnosis and assessment of atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Feb 2014;70(2):338-51. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2013.10.010

5. Schneider L, Tilles S, Lio P, et al. Atopic dermatitis: a practice parameter update 2012. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. Feb 2013;131(2):295-9 e1-27. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.672

6. Eichenfield LF, Tom WL, Berger TG, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of atopic dermatitis: section 2. Management and treatment of atopic dermatitis with topical therapies. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jul 2014;71(1):116-32. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2014.03.023

7. Sidbury R, Davis DM, Cohen DE, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of atopic dermatitis: section 3. Management and treatment with phototherapy and systemic agents. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Aug 2014;71(2):327-49. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2014.03.030

8. Olumiant (baricitinib) film-coated tablets [Summary of Product Characteristics]. Utrecht: The Netherlands. Eli Lilly Nederland B.V.; last updated November 29, 2021.

9. Lilly, News Release. Lilly and Incyte provide update on supplemental New Drug Application for baricitinib for the treatment of moderate to severe atopic dermatitis. <u>https://investor.lilly.com/news-releases/news-release-details/lilly-and-incyte-provide-update-supplemental-new-drug</u>. Accessed December 8, 2021.

10. Thorley J. FDA expands JAK inhibitors warning: going beyond the data? *The Lancet Rheumatology*. 2021;3(11):E757. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913(21)00323-4</u>

11. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA requires warnings about increased risk of serious heartrelated events, cancer, blood clots and death for JAK inhibitors that treat certain chronic inflammatory conditions. Approved uses aldo being limiited to certain patients. Updated December 7, 2021. <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-requires-warnings-about-increased-risk-</u>

serious-heart-related-events-cancer-blood-clots-and-death. Accessed December 20, 2021.

12. Adbry (tralokinumab-ldrm) injection, for subcutaneous use [package insert]. Madison, NJ: LEO Pharma Inc; approved December 2021.

13. Dupixent (dupilumab) [package insert]. Tarrytown, NY: Regeneron Pharmaceuticals Inc; revised October 2021.

14. Cibinqo (abrocitinib) tablets, for oral use [package insert]. New York, NY: Pfizer Inc; approved January 2022.

15. Rinvoq (upadacitinib) extended-release tablets, for oral use [package insert]. Chicago, IL: AbbVie Inc.; revised January 2022.

16. Olumiant (baricitinib) [package insert for rheumatoid arthritis]. Indianapolis, IN: Eli Lilly; revised December 2021. .

17. Wollenberg A, Barbarot S, Bieber T, et al. Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis) in adults and children: part I. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. May 2018;32(5):657-682. doi:10.1111/jdv.14891

18. Elidel (pimecrolimus) cream, for topical use [package insert]. Bridgewater, NJ: Bausch Health US LLC.; revised September 2020. .

19. Protopic (tacrolimus) ointment, for topical use [package insert]. Madison, NJ: LEO Pharma Inc.; revised February 2019. .

20. Vestergaard C, Wollenberg A, Barbarot S, et al. European task force on atopic dermatitis position paper: treatment of parental atopic dermatitis during preconception, pregnancy and lactation period. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Sep 2019;33(9):1644-1659. doi:10.1111/jdv.15709

21. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Baricitinib for treating moderate to severe atopic dermatitis: Technology appraisal guidance (TA681). Published March 3, 2021. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta681. Accessed December 2, 2021. .

22. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Dupilumab for treating moderate to severe atopic dermatitis: Technology appraisal guidance (TA534). Published August 1, 2018. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta534. Accessed December 2, 2021. .

23. Wollenberg A, Barbarot S, Bieber T, et al. Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis) in adults and children: part II. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Jun 2018;32(6):850-878. doi:10.1111/jdv.14888

24. Wollenberg A, Christen-Zach S, Taieb A, et al. ETFAD/EADV Eczema task force 2020 position paper on diagnosis and treatment of atopic dermatitis in adults and children. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Dec 2020;34(12):2717-2744. doi:10.1111/jdv.16892

25. Abramovits W, Fleischer AB, Jr., Jaracz E, Breneman D. Adult patients with moderate atopic dermatitis: tacrolimus ointment versus pimecrolimus cream. *J Drugs Dermatol*. Dec 2008;7(12):1153-8.

26. Fleischer AB, Jr., Abramovits W, Breneman D, Jaracz E. Tacrolimus ointment is more effective than pimecrolimus cream in adult patients with moderate to very severe atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. 2007;18(3):151-7. doi:10.1080/09546630701287332

27. Paller AS, Lebwohl M, Fleischer AB, Jr., et al. Tacrolimus ointment is more effective than pimecrolimus cream with a similar safety profile in the treatment of atopic dermatitis: results from 3 randomized, comparative studies. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. May 2005;52(5):810-22. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2004.12.038

28. Blauvelt A, Teixeira HD, Simpson EL, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Upadacitinib vs Dupilumab in Adults With Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Sep 1 2021;157(9):1047-1055. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.3023

29. Bieber T, Simpson EL, Silverberg JI, et al. Abrocitinib versus Placebo or Dupilumab for Atopic Dermatitis. *N Engl J Med*. Mar 25 2021;384(12):1101-1112. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2019380

30. Simpson EL, Lacour JP, Spelman L, et al. Baricitinib in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis and inadequate response to topical corticosteroids: results from two randomized monotherapy phase III trials. *Br J Dermatol*. Aug 2020;183(2):242-255. doi:10.1111/bjd.18898

31. Simpson EL, Forman S, Silverberg JI, et al. Baricitinib in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: Results from a randomized monotherapy phase 3 trial in the United States and Canada (BREEZE-AD5). *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jul 2021;85(1):62-70. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.02.028

32. Reich K, Kabashima K, Peris K, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Baricitinib Combined With Topical Corticosteroids for Treatment of Moderate to Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Dec 1 2020;156(12):1333-1343. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.3260

33. Eucrisa (crisaborole) ointment, for topical use [package insert]. New York, NY: Pfizer Inc; revised April 2020.

34. Cibinqo (abrocitinib) [UK package insert]. Kent, CT: Pfizer Limited; revised September 2021.

35. Opzelura (ruxolitinib) cream, for topical use [package insert]. Wilmington, DE: Incyte Corp.; revised September 2021.

36. Weidinger S, Novak N. Atopic dermatitis. *Lancet*. Mar 12 2016;387(10023):1109-1122. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00149-x

37. Eichenfield LF, Boguniewicz M, Simpson EL, et al. Translating Atopic Dermatitis Management Guidelines Into Practice for Primary Care Providers. *Pediatrics*. Sep 2015;136(3):554-65. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-3678

38. Schlessinger J, Shepard JS, Gower R, et al. Safety, Effectiveness, and Pharmacokinetics of Crisaborole in Infants Aged 3 to < 24 Months with Mild-to-Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: A Phase IV Open-Label Study (CrisADe CARE 1). *Am J Clin Dermatol*. Apr 2020;21(2):275-284. doi:10.1007/s40257-020-00510-6

39. Sanofi. Press Release. FDA approved Dupixent (dupilumab) as first biologic medicine for children aged 6 to 11 years with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. <u>https://www.news.sanofi.us/2020-05-26-FDA-approves-Dupixent-R-dupilumab-as-first-biologic-medicine-for-children-aged-6-to-11-years-with-moderate-to-severe-atopic-dermatitis</u>. Accessed January 6, 2022.

40. Purple Book Database of Licensed Biological Products (electronic version). U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2021. <u>https://purplebooksearch.fda.gov/</u>. Accessed January 6, 2022. .

41. Fahrbach K, Tarpey J, Washington EB, et al. Crisaborole Ointment, 2%, for Treatment of Patients with Mild-to-Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: Systematic Literature Review and Network Meta-Analysis. *Dermatol Ther (Heidelb)*. Aug 2020;10(4):681-694. doi:10.1007/s13555-020-00389-5

42. Nusbaum KB, Fleischer S, Fleischer AB, Jr. Efficacy of biologics and oral small molecules for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Oct 8 2021:1-11. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1986204

43. McMaster Univiersity Health Information Research Unit: Search Filters for Medline in Ovid Syntax and the PubMed Translation (Reviews). Last modified February 2016. Accessed December 2, 2021. <u>https://hiru.mcmaster.ca/hiru/hiru_hedges_medline_strategies.aspx</u>.

44. Lefebvre C, Manheimer E, Glanville J. Chapter 6: Searching for studies. In: Higgins J, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from <u>www.cochrane-handbook.org</u>.

45. Kusari A, Han AM, Schairer D, Eichenfield LF. Atopic Dermatitis: New Developments. *Dermatol Clin.* Jan 2019;37(1):11-20. doi:10.1016/j.det.2018.07.003

46. Severity scoring of atopic dermatitis: the SCORAD index. Consensus Report of the European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis. *Dermatology*. 1993;186(1):23-31. doi:10.1159/000247298

47. Hanifin JM, Thurston M, Omoto M, Cherill R, Tofte SJ, Graeber M. The eczema area and severity index (EASI): assessment of reliability in atopic dermatitis. EASI Evaluator Group. *Exp Dermatol*. Feb 2001;10(1):11-8. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0625.2001.100102.x

48. Futamura M, Leshem YA, Thomas KS, Nankervis H, Williams HC, Simpson EL. A systematic review of Investigator Global Assessment (IGA) in atopic dermatitis (AD) trials: Many options, no standards. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Feb 2016;74(2):288-94. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2015.09.062

49. Fardos MI, Singh R, Perche PO, Kelly KA, Feldman SR. Evaluating topical JAK inhibitors as a treatment option for atopic dermatitis. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Oct 22 2021:1-11. doi:10.1080/1744666x.2022.1993061

50. Luger T, Paller AS, Irvine AD, et al. Topical therapy of atopic dermatitis with a focus on pimecrolimus. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Jul 2021;35(7):1505-1518. doi:10.1111/jdv.17272

51. Ramachandran V, Cline A, Feldman SR, Strowd LC. Evaluating crisaborole as a treatment option for atopic dermatitis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. Jun 2019;20(9):1057-1063. doi:10.1080/14656566.2019.1604688

52. Francuzik W, Alexiou A, Worm M. Safety of dupilumab in patients with atopic dermatitis: expert opinion. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* Sep 2021;20(9):997-1004. doi:10.1080/14740338.2021.1939673

53. Langan SM, Irvine AD, Weidinger S. Atopic dermatitis. *Lancet*. Aug 1 2020;396(10247):345-360. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(20)31286-1

54. Gong X, Chen X, Kuligowski ME, et al. Pharmacokinetics of Ruxolitinib in Patients with Atopic Dermatitis Treated With Ruxolitinib Cream: Data from Phase II and III Studies. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. Jul 2021;22(4):555-566. doi:10.1007/s40257-021-00610-x

55. Draelos Z, Nayak A, Pariser D, et al. Pharmacokinetics of topical calcineurin inhibitors in adult atopic dermatitis: a randomized, investigator-blind comparison. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Oct 2005;53(4):602-9. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2005.06.013

56. Meingassner JG, Aschauer H, Stuetz A, Billich A. Pimecrolimus permeates less than tacrolimus through normal, inflamed, or corticosteroid-pretreated skin. *Exp Dermatol*. Oct 2005;14(10):752-7. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.2005.00354.x

57. Stuetz A, Grassberger M, Meingassner JG. Pimecrolimus (Elidel, SDZ ASM 981)--preclinical pharmacologic profile and skin selectivity. *Semin Cutan Med Surg*. Dec 2001;20(4):233-41. doi:10.1053/sder.2001.29066

58. Wellington K, Jarvis B. Topical pimecrolimus: a review of its clinical potential in the management of atopic dermatitis. *Drugs*. 2002;62(5):817-40. doi:10.2165/00003495-200262050-00007

59. Le M, Berman-Rosa M, Ghazawi FM, et al. Systematic Review on the Efficacy and Safety of Oral Janus Kinase Inhibitors for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis. *Front Med (Lausanne)*. 2021;8:682547. doi:10.3389/fmed.2021.682547

60. Meher BR, Mohanty RR, Padhy BM. Efficacy and safety of abrocitinib for the treatment of moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Aug 13 2021:1-9. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1961997

61. Fadlalmola HA, Albadrani MS, Elhusein AM, Mohamedsalih WE, Swamy VDS, Mamanao DM. Effectiveness and Safety of Abrocitinib in Patients with Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. *Dermatol Res Pract*. 2021;2021:8382761. doi:10.1155/2021/8382761

62. Tsai HR, Lu JW, Chen LY, Chen TL. Application of Janus Kinase Inhibitors in Atopic Dermatitis: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Clinical Trials. *J Pers Med*. Apr 7 2021;11(4)doi:10.3390/jpm11040279

63. Mostafa N, Phan K, Lai B, Smith SD. Comparing quality of life outcomes of JAK inhibitors and biological treatments for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol*. Nov 2021;14(11):1435-1444. doi:10.1080/17512433.2021.1970529

64. Miao M, Ma L. The efficacy and safety of JAK inhibitors for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Jul 27 2021:1-9. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1942422

65. Li C, Sun X, Zhao K, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Janus Kinase Inhibitors for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Dermatology*. Aug 27 2021:1-11. doi:10.1159/000518541

66. Zhang L, Wang L, Jiang X. The efficacy of Janus kinase inhibitors in patients with atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Dermatol Ther*. Sep 2021;34(5):e15098. doi:10.1111/dth.15098

67. Kempers S, Boguniewicz M, Carter E, et al. A randomized investigator-blinded study comparing pimecrolimus cream 1% with tacrolimus ointment 0.03% in the treatment of pediatric patients with moderate atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Oct 2004;51(4):515-25. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2004.01.051

68. Onumah N, Kircik L. Pimecrolimus cream and Tacrolimus ointment in the treatment of atopic dermatitis: a pilot study on patient preference. *J Drugs Dermatol*. Oct 2013;12(10):1145-8.

69. Rinvoq (upadacitinib) prolonged-release tablets [Summary of Product Characteristics]. Ludwigshafen, Germany: AbbVie Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG; last updated October 26, 2021.

70. Bieber T, Thyssen JP, Reich K, et al. Pooled safety analysis of baricitinib in adult patients with atopic dermatitis from 8 randomized clinical trials. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Feb 2021;35(2):476-485. doi:10.1111/jdv.16948

71. Simpson EL, Silverberg JI, Nosbaum A, et al. Integrated Safety Analysis of Abrocitinib for the Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis From the Phase II and Phase III Clinical Trial Program. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. Sep 2021;22(5):693-707. doi:10.1007/s40257-021-00618-3

72. Lam M, Zhu JW, Tadrous M, Drucker AM. Association Between Topical Calcineurin Inhibitor Use and Risk of Cancer, Including Lymphoma, Keratinocyte Carcinoma, and Melanoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Dermatol*. May 1 2021;157(5):549-558. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.0345

73. Siegfried EC, Jaworski JC, Kaiser JD, Hebert AA. Systematic review of published trials: long-term safety of topical corticosteroids and topical calcineurin inhibitors in pediatric patients with atopic dermatitis. *BMC Pediatr*. Jun 7 2016;16:75. doi:10.1186/s12887-016-0607-9

74. Wu PC, Huang IH, Liu CW, Huang YC. Topical calcineurin inhibitors and risk of lymphoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dtsch Dermatol Ges*. Sep 2021;19(9):1265-1269. doi:10.1111/ddg.14527

75. Opelz G, Döhler B. Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: a collaborative transplant study report. *Am J Transplant*. Feb 2004;4(2):222-30. doi:10.1046/j.1600-6143.2003.00325.x

76. Fachler T, Shreberk-Hassidim R, Molho-Pessach V. Dupilumab-induced ocular surface disease: A systematic review. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Sep 21 2021;doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.09.029

77. Wollenberg A, Beck LA, Weller MB, Zachariae R, Olsen CK, Thyssen JP. Conjunctivitis in tralokinumab-treated adult patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: pooled results from five clinical trials. Journal of clinical and aesthetic dermatology. 2021;14(5 SUPPL 1):S11-.

78. Halling AS, Loft N, Silverberg JI, Guttman-Yassky E, Thyssen JP. Real-world evidence of dupilumab efficacy and risk of adverse events: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jan 2021;84(1):139-147. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2020.08.051

79. Simpson EL, Sinclair R, Forman S, et al. Efficacy and safety of abrocitinib in adults and adolescents with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (JADE MONO-1): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet*. Jul 25 2020;396(10246):255-266. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30732-7

80. Silverberg JI, Simpson EL, Thyssen JP, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Abrocitinib in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Aug 1 2020;156(8):863-873. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.1406

81. Reich K, Teixeira HD, de Bruin-Weller M, et al. Safety and efficacy of upadacitinib in combination with topical corticosteroids in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (AD Up): results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet*. Jun 5 2021;397(10290):2169-2181. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00589-4

82. Guttman-Yassky E, Teixeira HD, Simpson EL, et al. Once-daily upadacitinib versus placebo in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2): results from two replicate double-blind, randomised controlled phase 3 trials. *Lancet*. Jun 5 2021;397(10290):2151-2168. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00588-2

83. Wollenberg A, Blauvelt A, Guttman-Yassky E, et al. Tralokinumab for moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: results from two 52-week, randomized, double-blind, multicentre, placebo-controlled phase III trials (ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2). *Br J Dermatol*. Mar 2021;184(3):437-449. doi:10.1111/bjd.19574

84. Silverberg JI, Toth D, Bieber T, et al. Tralokinumab plus topical corticosteroids for the treatment of moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: results from the double-blind, randomized, multicentre,

placebo-controlled phase III ECZTRA 3 trial. *Br J Dermatol*. Mar 2021;184(3):450-463. doi:10.1111/bjd.19573

85. Cork MJ, McMichael A, Teng J, et al. Impact of oral abrocitinib on signs, symptoms and quality of life among adolescents with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: an analysis of patient-reported outcomes. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Nov 7 2021;doi:10.1111/jdv.17792

86. Eichenfield LF, Flohr C, Sidbury R, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Abrocitinib in Combination With Topical Therapy in Adolescents With Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: The JADE TEEN Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Oct 1 2021;157(10):1165-1173. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.2830

87. Blauvelt A, Silverberg JI, Lynde CW, et al. Abrocitinib induction, randomized withdrawal, and retreatment in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: Results from the JAK1 Atopic Dermatitis Efficacy and Safety (JADE) REGIMEN phase 3 trial. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jan 2021;86(1):104-112. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.05.075

88. Gutermuth J, Pink AE, Worm M, Soldbro L, Bjerregård Øland C, Weidinger S. Tralokinumab plus topical corticosteroids in adults with severe atopic dermatitis and inadequate response to or intolerance of cyclosporine A: a placebo-controlled, randomized, Phase 3 clinical trial (ECZTRA 7). *Br J Dermatol*. Oct 26 2021;doi:10.1111/bjd.20832

Appendix A: Literature Searches

Literature Searches for Systematic Reviews

Table 1. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Systematic Reviews

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily <1946 to November 08, 2021>

Search strategy (date of search: November 9, 2021)

#	Searches	Results
1	exp *Dermatitis, Atopic/ or exp *Eczema/ or (atopic-dermatitis or eczema).ti,ab,kw,kf	42797
2	(abrocitinib or Cibinqo or baricitinib or Olumiant or crisaborole or Eucrisa or dupilumab or	28049
	Dupixent or pimecrolimus or Elidel or ruxolitinib or Opzelura or tralokinumab or Adtralza	
	or tacrolimus or Protopic or upadacitinib or Rinvoq).ti,ab,kw,kf. or exp Tacrolimus/	
3	*Dermatologic Agents/ or Janus Kinase Inhibitors/ or (Antibodies, Monoclonal/ and	79177
	(Interleukin-13/ or Dermatologic Agents/)) or Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitors/ or Protein	
	Kinase Inhibitors/ or Calcineurin Inhibitors/	
4	(PF-04965842 or PF04965842 or CAT-354 or CAT-354 or INCB028050 or INCB-028050 or	96
	ABT-494 or ABT494 or INCB018424 or INCB-018424).ti,ab,kw,kf	
5	meta-analysis/ or (metaanaly\$ or meta-analy\$).ti,ab,kw,kf. or "Systematic Review"/ or	423484
	((systematic* adj3 review*) or (systematic* adj2 search*) or cochrane\$ or (overview adj4	
	review)).ti,ab,kw,kf. or (cochrane\$ or systematic review?).jw	
6	(MEDLINE or Embase or PubMed or systematic review).tw. or meta analysis.pt.	394680
7	2 or 3 or 4	104190
8	5 or 6	495465
9	1 and 7 and 8	222
10	limit 9 to yr="2018 -Current"	131

Table 2. Epistemonikos Search Strategy for Systematic Reviews

Database(s): Epistemonikos Session Results

Search strategy (date of search: December 2, 2021)

#	Searches	Results
1	(atopic dermatitis) or eczema	2529
2	AND	267
	abrocitinib or Cibinqo or baricitinib or Olumiant or crisaborole or Eucrisa or	
	dupilumab or Dupixent or pimecrolimus or Elidel or ruxolitinib or Opzelura or	
	tralokinumab or Adtralza or tacrolimus or Protopic or upadacitinib or	
	Rinvoq or (janus kinase inhibitor*) or (monoclonal antibod*) or (phosphodiesterase	
	4 inhibitor*) or (phosphodiesterase inhibitor*) or (protein kinase inhibitor*) or	
	(calcineurin inhibitor*) or (PF-04965842 OR PF04965842 OR CAT-354 OR CAT-354	
	OR INCB028050 OR INCB-028050 OR ABT-494 OR ABT494 OR INCB018424 OR INCB-	
	018424)	
Filter	From 2018 to 2021	106
publication		
year		

Filter	Systematic Review	60
publication		
type		

Literature Searches for Randomized Controlled Trials

Table 3. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Janus Kinase Inhibitors and TralokinumabRandomized Controlled Trials

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily <1946 to December 17, 2021>

Search strategy (date of search: December 17, 2021)

#	Searches	Results						
1	exp *Dermatitis, Atopic/ or exp *Eczema/ or (atopic-dermatitis or eczema).ti,ab,kw,kf							
2	(abrocitinib or Cibingo or baricitinib or Olumiant or ruxolitinib or Opzelura or							
	tralokinumab or Adtralza or upadacitinib or Rinvoq).ti,ab,kw,kf.							
3	*Dermatologic Agents/ or Janus Kinase Inhibitors/ or (Antibodies, Monoclonal/ and	22442						
	(Interleukin-13/ or Dermatologic Agents/))							
4	(PF-04965842 or PF04965842 or CAT-354 or CAT354 or INCB028050 or INCB-028050 or	97						
	ABT-494 or ABT494 or INCB018424 or INCB-018424).ti,ab,kw,kf							
5	((randomized controlled trial or controlled clinical trial).pt. or randomized.ab. or	1301022						
	placebo.ab. or clinical trials as topic.sh. or randomly.ab. or trial.ti.) not (exp animals/ not							
	humans.sh.)							
6	2 or 3 or 4	24834						
7	1 and 5 and 6	363						
8	limit 7 to yr="2021 -Current"	55						

Table 4. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Pimecrolimus and Crisaborole Randomized Controlled Trials

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily <1946 to December 17, 2021>

Search strategy (date of search: December 17, 2021)

#	Searches	Results
1	exp *Dermatitis, Atopic/ or exp *Eczema/ or (atopic-dermatitis or eczema).ti,ab,kw,kf	43109
2	(crisaborole or Eucrisa or pimecrolimus or Elidel).ti,ab,kw,kf.	979
3	*Dermatologic Agents/ or Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitors/ or Calcineurin Inhibitors/	26569
4	((randomized controlled trial or controlled clinical trial).pt. or randomized.ab. or placebo.ab. or clinical trials as topic.sh. or randomly.ab. or trial.ti.) not (exp animals/ not humans.sh.)	1301022
5	2 or 3	27125
6	1 and 4 and 5	395
7	limit 6 to yr="2020 -Current"	41

Table 5. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Dupilumab Randomized Controlled Trials

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily <1946 to December 17, 2021>

Search strategy (date of search: December 17, 2021)

#	Searches	Results
1	exp *Dermatitis, Atopic/ or exp *Eczema/ or (atopic-dermatitis or eczema).ti,ab,kw,kf	43109
2	(dupilumab or dupixent).ti,ab,kw,kf.	1338
3	*Dermatologic Agents/ or (Antibodies, Monoclonal/ and (Interleukin-13/ or	21668
	Dermatologic Agents/))	
4	((randomized controlled trial or controlled clinical trial).pt. or randomized.ab. or	1301022
	placebo.ab. or clinical trials as topic.sh. or randomly.ab. or trial.ti.) not (exp animals/ not	
	humans.sh.)	
5	2 or 3	22887
6	1 and 4 and 5	388
7	limit 6 to yr="2021 -Current"	48

Table 6. Ovid Medline Literature Search Strategy for Tacrolimus Randomized Controlled Trials

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily <1946 to December 17, 2021>

Search strategy (date of search: December 17, 2021)

#	Searches	Results					
1	exp *Dermatitis, Atopic/ or exp *Eczema/ or (atopic-dermatitis or eczema).ti,ab,kw,kf	43109					
2	(tacrolimus or Protopic).ti,ab,kw,kf. or *Tacrolimus/						
3	*Calcineurin Inhibitors/						
4	((topica* adj2 administer*) or topica* or ointment).ti,ab,kw,kf.	121348					
5	*Administration, Cutaneous/	1847					
6	((randomized controlled trial or controlled clinical trial).pt. or randomized.ab. or	1301022					
	placebo.ab. or clinical trials as topic.sh. or randomly.ab. or trial.ti.) not (exp animals/ not						
	humans.sh.)						
7	4 or 5	123116					
8	2 or 3	21552					
9	1 and 6 and 7 and 8	222					

Appendix B: Screening of Studies



Figure 1. PRISMA Flow Chart for Publication Screening

Abbreviations: RCT, randomized controlled trial; SR, systematic review ^a Includes SRs were only the SR portion was extracted, and the ICER report identified from https://icer.org/

Appendix C: Supplementary Evidence Tables

Table 1. Randomized Controlled Trials (of the Same Agents) Included in Systematic Reviews for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis											
						SR/MA					
Author last	Doses Tested in	Le,	Meher,	Fadlalmola,	Tsai,	Mostafa,	Nusbaum,	Miao,	Li,	Zhang,	Atlas,
name, year,	RCTs	2021 ⁵⁹	2021 ⁶⁰	2021 ⁶¹	2021 ⁶²	2021 ⁶³	2021 ⁴²	2021 ⁶⁴	2021 ⁶⁵	2021 ⁶⁶	2021 ²
trial name											
					Abro	citinib					
Bieber, 2021. JADE Compare ²⁹	ABO (100 mg or 200 mg) vs. DUP 300 mg Q2W vs. PBO	~	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark				✓
Simpson, 2020 JADE MONO-1 ⁷⁹	ABO (100 mg or 200 mg) vs. PBO	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Silverberg, 2020 JADE MONO-2 ⁸⁰	ABO (100 mg or 200 mg) vs. PBO	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
				Bari	citinib						_
Simpson, 2020 BREEZE-AD1 and BREEZE- AD2 ³⁰	BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, or 4 mg) vs. PBO	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	√
Reich, 2020 BREEZE-AD7 ³²	BAR (1 mg, 2 mg, or 4 mg) +TCS vs. PBO+TCS	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Simpson, 2021 BREEZE-AD5 ³¹	BAR (1mg or 2 mg) vs. PBO						\checkmark				\checkmark
	1			Upad	acitinib		1				
Reich, 2021 AD Up ⁸¹	UPA 15 mg +TCS vs. PBO+TCS	\checkmark									\checkmark
Guttman- Yassky, 2021 Measure Up 1 and Measure UP 2 ⁸²	UPA (15 mg or 30 mg) vs. PBO	\checkmark					\checkmark				\checkmark

Table 1. Randomized Controlled Trials (of the Same Agents) Included in Systematic Reviews for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis											
			SR/MA								
Author last	Doses Tested in	Le,	Meher,	Fadlalmola,	Tsai,	Mostafa,	Nusbaum,	Miao,	Li,	Zhang,	Atlas,
name, year,	RCTs	2021 ⁵⁹	2021 ⁶⁰	2021 ⁶¹	2021 ⁶²	2021 ⁶³	2021 ⁴²	2021 ⁶⁴	2021 ⁶⁵	2021 ⁶⁶	2021 ²
trial name											
Blauvelt, 2021	DUP 300 mg vs.										\checkmark
Heads Up ²⁸	UPA 30 mg										
		Tralokinumab									
Wollenberg,	TRA 300 mg					\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark
2021	Q2W vs. PBO										
ECZTRA 1 and											
ECZTRA 2 ⁸³											
Silverberg, 2021	TRA 300 mg					\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark
ECZTRA 3 ⁸⁴	Q2W vs. PBO										
Abbreviations: AB	O, abrocitinib; BAR, b	aricitinib;	DUP, dupilu	mab; mg, milligr	ams; PBO,	placebo; Q2V	V, every other v	week; SR, s	ystematic	review; TCS	5, topical

corticosteroids; TRA, tralokinumab; UPA, upadacitinib;

Comparative Evidence of Abrocitinib vs. Placebo

The included SRs conducted by **Atlas et al (2021), Meher et al (2021), Nusbaum et al (2021)**, and **Fadlalmola et al (2021)** contain pooled analysis of a phase II trial, in addition to the pivotal phase III trials, JADE MONO-1, JADE MONO-2, and JADE COMPARE.^{2,29,42,60,61,79,80} Patients were adults and/or children (≥12 years of age) with moderate-to-severe AD who failed to have an adequate response to topical therapies. The pooled analysis showed that patients treated with abrocitinib achieved a higher rate of IGA response, EASI-75 response, and PP-NRS response at 12 weeks compared to placebo.^{42,60,61} Additionally, patients treated with abrocitinib experienced an improvement in QoL compared to placebo as measured by the POEM, PSAAD, and the CDLQI scores.^{42,61,85} However, patients treated with abrocitinib had a higher risk of developing adverse events, which seems to be dose related, when compared to placebo.^{60,61} The most commonly reported adverse events included nausea, nasopharyngitis, URTI, and headache.^{29,60,61,79,80}

An additional, 4 placebo-controlled phase III RCTs were identified for abrocitinib, 2 of which were not included in the SRs.^{79,80,86,87} All identified studies demonstrated an improvement in IGA, EASI, and PP-NRS response for patients receiving abrocitinib compared to patients receiving placebo.^{79,80,86} Although a smaller proportion of adolescents were included in the trials, results seem similar to the adult population, according to the SR by ICER.^{2,79,80,86,87} The JADE REGIMEN trial, a randomized withdrawal study, showed that a majority of patients with an initial response to abrocitinib 200 mg daily were less likely to experience a flare relapse compared to those receiving a reduced dose (100 mg daily).⁸⁷ It further supports the most effective dose for disease control is abrocitinib 200 mg daily compared to abrocitinib 100 mg, but is associated with a higher risk of adverse events.⁸⁷

Table 2 includes population, efficacy, and pertinent safety information summarized from identified placebo-controlled abrocitinib RCTs. For key secondary endpoints, when multiple timepoints were collected, only the last timepoint endpoints were reported in the table.

RCT Design (author,	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
Multicenter, double- blind, randomized, placebo-controlled (Simpson, 2020, JADE MONO-1) ⁷⁹	Patients (≥12 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥1 year, uncontrolled by topical therapies	ABO 100 mg po daily (N=156) vs ABO 200 mg po daily (N=154) vs PBO po daily (N=77) Duration: 12W	Co-primary endpoints:IGA Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear]with a ≥ 2 -grade improvement from baselinemeasured at 12W• ABO 100 mg vs PBO: 37 patients (24%) vs 6patients (8%); treatment difference= 15.8%; (95% Cl 6.8% to 24.8%); p=0.0037• ABO 200 mg vs PBO: 67 patients (44%) vs 6patients (8%); treatment difference= 36.0%; (95% Cl 26.2% to 45.7%);p=<0.0001	 Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) Nausea ABO 100 (9%) vs ABO 200 (20%) vs PBO (3%) Nasopharyngitis ABO 100 (15%) vs ABO 200 (12%) vs PBO (10%) Headache ABO 100 (8%) vs ABO 200 (10%) vs PBO (3%) URTI ABO 100 (7%) vs ABO 200 (7%) vs PBO (7%) AD ABO 100 (14%) vs ABO 200 (5%) vs PBO (17%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs ABO 100 (6%) vs ABO 200 (6%) vs PBO (9%) SAEs ABO 100 (3%) vs ABO 200 (3%) vs PBO (4%) Only 2 were treatment-related [ABO 100: acute pancreatitis and ABO 200: IBD] Reported herpes viral infection: Any herpes viral infection ABO 100 (3%) vs ABO 200 (3%) vs PBO (0%) Eczema herpeticum ABO 100 (1%) vs ABO 200 (0%) vs PBO (1%)

Table 2. Randomized Place	Table 2. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Abrocitinib								
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results					
Multicenter, international.	Patients (>12 years	ABO 100 mg	 <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO:</u> treatment difference= 1.1 (95% CI -1.7 to -0.4); p=0.0010 <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO:</u> treatment difference= -2.1 (95% CI -2.7 to -1.4); p=<0.0001 <u>Co-primary endpoints:</u> IGA Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] 	<u>Most frequently reported TEAEs (</u> ≥3% in any treatment group)					
randomized, double-	of age)	(N=158)	with a ≥ 2 -grade improvement from baseline	Nausea					
blinded, placebo- controlled (Silverberg, 2020, JADE MONO-2) ⁸⁰	diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥1 year, uncontrolled by topical therapies	vs ABO 200 mg po daily (N=155) vs PBO po daily (N=78) Duration: 12W	 Measured at 12W <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO:</u> 44 patients (28%) vs 7 patients (9%); treatment difference = 19.3%; (95% CI 9.6% to 29.0%); p=0.001 <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO:</u> 59 patients (38%) vs 7 patients (9%); treatment difference = 28.7%; (95% CI 18.6% to 38.8%); p=<0.001 <u>EASI-75 Response:</u> ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 12 from baseline 	ABO 100 (7.6%) vs ABO 200 (14.2%) vs PBO (2.6%) • Nasopharyngitis ABO 100 (12.7%) vs ABO 200 (7.7%) vs PBO (6.4%) • Headache ABO 100 (5.7%) vs ABO 200 (7.7%) vs PBO (2.6%) • URTI ABO 100 (8.9%) vs ABO 200 (3.2%) vs PBO (3.8%) • Worsening AD ABO 100 (5.7%) vs ABO 200 (3.9%) vs PBO (15.4%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> ABO 100 (3.8%) vs ABO 200 (3.2%) vs PBO (12.8%) <u>SAEs</u> ABO 100 (3.2%) vs ABO 200 (1.3%) vs PBO (1.3%) • Only 2 were treatment-related [ABO 100: herpangina and pneumonia] Reported herpes viral infection:					

Table 2. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Abrocitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
			 <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO:</u> treatment difference =43.9%; (95% CI 32.9% to 55.0%); p=<0.0001 <u>PSAAD Total Score Change:</u> Difference in least squares mean change from baseline at week 12 <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO:</u> treatment difference= -1.7 (95% CI -2.3 to -1.1); p=<0.0001 <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO:</u> treatment difference= -2.2 (95% CI -2.8 to -1.6); p=<0.0001 	 Any herpes viral infection ABO 100 (0%) vs ABO 200 (1.3%) vs PBO (0%) Eczema herpeticum ABO 100 (1.3%) vs ABO 200 (0%) vs PBO (1.3%) 	
Multicenter, international, randomized, placebo- controlled (Eichenfield, 2021, JADE TEEN) ⁸⁶	Patients (12 to 17 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a , uncontrolled by topical therapies or requiring systemic therapy	ABO 100 mg po daily (N=95) vs ABO 200 mg po daily (N=94) vs PBO po daily (N=96) Duration: 12W	Co-primary endpoints:IGA Response:IGA Response:score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear]with a ≥2-grade improvement from baselinemeasured at 12W• ABO 100 mg vs PBO: 37 patients (42%) vs 23 patients (25%); treatment difference =16.7%; (95% Cl 3.5% to 29.9%); p=<0.05		

RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
,,			 <u>PP-NRS Response:</u> (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 12 <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO</u>: treatment difference =22.8%; (95% Cl 8.0% to 37.7%); p=NS <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO</u>: treatment difference =25.6%; (95% Cl 10.6% to 40.6%); p=<0.05 <u>PSAAD Total Score Change</u>: Difference in least squares mean change from baseline at week 12 <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO</u>: treatment difference= -0.5 (95% Cl -1.1 to 0.0); p=NS <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO</u>: treatment difference= -0.7 (95% Cl -1.3 to -0.1); p=NS 	ABO 100 (0%) vs ABO 200 (1.1%) vs PBO (2.1%) <u>Reported herpes viral infection:</u> • Herpes zoster ABO 100 (1.1%) vs ABO 200 (0%) vs PBO (0%) • Herpes simplex ABO 100 (0%) vs ABO 200 (1.1%) vs PBO (0%) • Oral herpes ABO 100 (1.1%) vs ABO 200 (2.1%) vs PBO (0%) • Eczema herpeticum ABO 100 (1.1%) vs ABO 200 (0%) vs PBO (0%)
Multicenter, double- blinded, placebo- controlled, randomized, withdrawal study (Blauvelt, 2021, JADE REGIMEN) ⁸⁷	Patients (≥12 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a , uncontrolled by topical therapies	Open-label induction period of ABO 200 mg po daily (N=1235) Blinded maintenance period ABO 200 mg po daily (N=266) vs ABO 100 mg po daily (N=265)	Primary endpoint: Loss of response (flare) during maintenance period requiring rescue treatment ^c : ≥50% loss of initial EASI response at week 12 with a new IGA score of ≥2 • <u>ABO 100 mg vs PBO:</u> 105 patients (40%) vs 207 patients (78%); HR=0.27; (95% CI 0.21 to 0.34); p=<0.0001	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥2% in any treatment group) Nasopharyngitis ABO 100 (3.8%) vs ABO 200 (6.8%) vs PBO (1.9%) Nausea ABO 100 (0.8%) vs ABO 200 (3.0%) vs PBO (0.4%) Headache ABO 100 (0.4%) vs ABO 200 (2.6%) vs PBO (0.4%) URTI ABO 100 (3.0%) vs ABO 200 (3.0%) vs PBO (2.2%) Worsening AD ABO 100 (19.2%) vs ABO 200 (12.4%) vs PBO (12.4%) vs PBO

Table 2. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Abrocitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
		PBO po daily (267) Duration: 40W	 <u>ABO 200 mg vs PBO:</u> HR=0.63; (95% CI 0.50 to 0.78); p=<0.0001 	Discontinued treatment due to AEs ABO 100 (1.9%) vs ABO 200 (6.0%) vs PBO (1.5%) SAEs ABO 100 (1.5%) vs ABO 200 (4.9%) vs PBO (0.7%) Reported herpes viral infection: • Herpes zoster ABO 100 (0.8%) vs ABO 200 (2.6%) vs PBO (0.4%) • Herpes simplex ABO 100 (0.8%) vs ABO 200 (2.6%) vs PBO (0%)	

Abbreviations: ABO, abrocitinib; AD, atopic dermatitis; AE, adverse event; BSA, body surface area; DUP, dupilumab; EASI, eczema area and severity index; IGA, Investigator Global Assessment; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; ITT, intention-to-treat; LD, loading dose; NR, not reported; NS, not significant; PBO, placebo; PO, by mouth; PP-NRS, peak pruritus numerical rating scale; PSAAD, pruritus and symptoms assessment for atopic dermatitis; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; SAE, serious adverse event; subQ, subcutaneous; URTI, upper respiratory tract infection; W, weeks

^a Moderate-to-severe AD criteria: IGA score ≥3, EASI score ≥16, BSA affected ≥10%, and PP-NRS score ≥4

^b SAEs are reported according to the data presented within the article. A lack of clarity exists between the incidence of SAEs reported within the article and the supplementary appendix (Table S19). The supplementary appendix reports 3 more SAEs in the abrocitinib 100 mg group and 4 more SAEs in the placebo group. Additionally, the incident of squamous-cell carcinoma within the abrocitinib 200 mg group is not mentioned in Table S19.

^c Rescue treatment was abrocitinib 200 mg daily combined with medicated topical therapy

Italicized bold comparator names signifies statistically significant results

<u>Comparative Evidence of Baricitinib vs. Placebo</u>

For a text summary of the included trials listed in **Table 3**, please refer to page 57 to 58 the report. **Table 3** outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints from the identified placebo-controlled baricitinib trials, and pertinent safety information. Selected key secondary endpoints were chosen for inclusion in the table based on consistency with reported outcomes of other pivotal phase III trials, and clinical relevance.

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib

Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled (Simpson, 2020, BREEZE-AD 1) ³⁰ Patients ≥ 18 years of age daily (N=127)BAR 1 mg po daily (N=127)Primary endpoint: vIGA-AD Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥ 2 -grade improvement from baseline measured at 16WMost frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% in any treatment group)BREEZE-AD 1) ³⁰ BAR 2 mg po daily (N=123) $VIGA-AD Response:$ score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥ 2 -grade improvement from baseline measured at 16W $Nost frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% inany treatment group)BREEZE-AD 1)30moderate-to-severeADa for \geq 1year,uncontrolledby TCStherapybBAR 4 mgp=<0.05Nost frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% inany treatment group)VSBAR 2 mg pomoderate-to-severeADa for \geq 1year,uncontrolledby TCStherapybBAR 4 mgp=<0.05Nost frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% inany treatment group)VSBAR 1 mg vs PBO:patients (5%); OR = 2.7 (95% Cl 1.2 to 6.0);p=<0.05DiarrheaBAR 1 (7.1%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (3.25)vs PBO (2.8%)VSPBO (N=249)patients (5%); OR = 2.6 (95% Cl 1.2 to 5.8);p=<0.05HeadacheBAR 1 (5.5%) vs BAR 2 (11.4%) vs BAR 4(8.0%) vs PBO (6.4%)VTCStherapybPatientscontinuedBAR 4 mg vs PBO: 21 patients (17%) vs 12patients (5%); OR = 4.1 (95% Cl 1.9 to 8.7);p=<0.001HeadacheBAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4(3.2%) vs PBO (2.4%)VTCStherapybPatientscontinuedWith TCS Rescue^c:to transed plasma CPKHead$	RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
topical emollients patients (10%); OR= 1.8 (95% Cl 1.0 to 3.4); p=0.065 BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (0.8%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (0.8%) • BAR 2 mg vs PBO: patients (10%); OR= 1.9 (95% Cl 1.0 to 3.6); p=<0.05 • UTI • BAR 4 mg vs PBO: p=<0.05 28 patients (22%) vs 25 patients (10%); OR= 2.7 (95% Cl 1.5 to 4.9); p=<0.01 BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (1.6%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (1.6%) • BAR 4 mg vs PBO: p=<0.01 28 patients (22%) vs 25 patients (10%); OR= 2.7 (95% Cl 1.5 to 4.9); p=<0.01 Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 1 (1.6%) vs BAR 2 (0.8%) vs BAR 4 (0.8%) vs PBO (1.6%)	Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled (Simpson, 2020, BREEZE-AD 1) ³⁰	Patients ≥18 years of age diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a for ≥1 year, uncontrolled by TCS therapy ^b	BAR 1 mg po daily (N=127) vs BAR 2 mg po daily (N=123) vs BAR 4 mg (N=125) vs PBO (N=249) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients	Primary endpoint:vIGA-AD Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almostclear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baselinemeasured at 16W• BAR 1 mg vs PBO: 15 patients (12%) vs 12patients (5%); OR= 2.7 (95% Cl 1.2 to 6.0);p=<0.05• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 14 patients (11%) vs 12patients (5%); OR= 2.6 (95% Cl 1.2 to 5.8);p=<0.05• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: 21 patients (17%) vs 12patients (5%); OR= 4.1 (95% Cl 1.9 to 8.7);p=<0.001With TCS Rescue ^c :•BAR 1 mg vs PBO:21 patients (17%) vs 25patients (10%); OR= 1.8 (95% Cl 1.0 to 3.4);p=0.065• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 21 patients (17%) vs 25patients (10%); OR= 1.9 (95% Cl 1.0 to 3.6);p=<0.05• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: 28 patients (22%) vs 25patients (10%); OR= 2.7 (95% Cl 1.5 to 4.9);p=<0.01Selected key secondary endpoint(s)	Most frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% in any treatment group) Nasopharyngitis BAR 1 (17.3%) vs BAR 2 (9.8%) vs BAR 4 (9.6%) vs PBO (10.4%) Diarrhea BAR 1 (7.1%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (2.8%) Headache BAR 1 (5.5%) vs BAR 2 (11.4%) vs BAR 4 (8.0%) vs PBO (6.4%) URTI BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (2.4%) Increased plasma CPK BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (0.8%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (0.8%) UTI BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (1.6%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (1.6%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 1 (1.6%) vs BAR 2 (0.8%) vs BAR 4 (0.8%) vs PBO (1.6%) SAEs

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients) EASI-75 Response: >75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline Improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline Improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline Improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline Improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline Improvement in EASI score at mg vs PBO: OR= 2.5 (95% CI 1.3 to 4.7); p=<0.01 Improvement in EASI score at mg vs PBO: OR= 3.7 (95% CI 2.0 to 6.9); p=<0.001 With TCS Rescue ^C : Improvement in EASI score at mg vs PBO: OR= 1.5 (95% CI 0.9 to 2.5); p=0.104 BAR 1 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.0 (95% CI 1.2 to 3.3); p=<0.01 Improvement in EASI score at week 16 Improvement in EASI score at week 16 <th>Safety Results BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (1.6%) vs PBO (2.4%) Deaths: none Reported infections: • Skin infection requiring antibiotic treatment BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (4.9%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (4.4%) • Herpes simplex BAR 1 (5.5%) vs BAR 2 (3.3%) vs BAR 4 (7.2%) vs PBO (1.2%) • Herpes zoster One case^e</th>	Safety Results BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (1.6%) vs PBO (2.4%) Deaths: none Reported infections: • Skin infection requiring antibiotic treatment BAR 1 (0.8%) vs BAR 2 (4.9%) vs BAR 4 (3.2%) vs PBO (4.4%) • Herpes simplex BAR 1 (5.5%) vs BAR 2 (3.3%) vs BAR 4 (7.2%) vs PBO (1.2%) • Herpes zoster One case ^e	
			7.3); p=<0.001		
			Low change in EASI Score. North Dasenne to week 10		

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -13.4 (95% Cl - 24.8 to - 2.0); p=<0.05 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -17.1 (95% Cl - 28.1 to - 6.1); p=<0.01 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -24.5 (95% Cl - 34.8 to - 14.2); p=<0.001 <u>With TCS Rescue^c:</u> <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -13.1 (95% Cl - 20.7 to - 5.5); p=<0.001 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -16.0 (95% Cl - 23.7 to - 8.4); p=<0.001 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -16.0 (95% Cl - 29.1 to - 14.0); p=<0.001 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.6 (95% Cl 0.7 to 3.6); p=0.246 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.7 (95% Cl 0.8 to 3.8); p=0.169 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 3.6 (95% Cl 1.8 to 7.2); p=<0.001 <u>With TCS Rescue^c:</u> <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.6 (95% Cl 0.9 to 2.8); p=0.099 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.8 (95% Cl 1.1 to 3.2); p=<0.05 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.9 (95% Cl 1.1 to 3.2); p=<0.05 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.9 (95% Cl 1.1 to 3.2); p=<0.05 		
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -13.1 (95% CI - 20.7 to - 5.5); p=<0.001 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -16.0 (95% CI - 23.7 to - 8.4); p=<0.001 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -21.6 (95% CI - 29.1 to - 14.0); p=<0.001 <u>Itch NRS Response:</u> (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.6 (95% CI 0.7 to 3.6); p=0.246 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.7 (95% CI 0.8 to 3.8); p=0.169 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 3.6 (95% CI 1.8 to 7.2); p=<0.001 <u>With TCS Rescue^c:</u> <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.6 (95% CI 0.9 to 2.8); p=0.099 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.8 (95% CI 1.1 to 3.2); p=<0.05 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.9 (95% CI 1.1 to 3.2); p=<0.05 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = -0.4 (95% CI -0.8 to 0.1); p=0.103 		

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib				
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
year, trial name)			 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.2 (95% Cl - 0.7 to 0.2); p=0.352 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.6 (95% Cl - 1.0 to - 0.2); p=<0.01 With TCS Rescue^c: BAR 1 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.8 (95% Cl - 1.3 to - 0.2); p=<0.01 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.7 (95% Cl - 1.2 to - 0.1); p=<0.05 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.9 (95% Cl - 1.5 to - 0.4); p=<0.001 LSM change in Skin Pain NRS: from baseline to week 16 BAR 1 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -1.1 (95% Cl - 1.8 to - 0.3); p=≤ 0.01 	
			 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.7 (95% Cl - 1.5 to 0.0); p=0.051 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -1.1 (95% Cl - 1.8 to - 0.4); p=<0.01 With TCS Rescue^c: BAR 1 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.5 (95% Cl - 1.0 to 0.0); p=<0.05 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.6 (95% Cl - 1.1 to - 0.1); p=<0.05 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -0.8 (95% Cl - 1.3 to - 0.3); p=≤ 0.001 	
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled (Simpson, 2020, BREEZE-AD 2) ³⁰	Patients ≥18 years of age diagnosed with moderate- to-severe	BAR 1 mg po daily (N=125) vs BAR 2 mg po daily (N=123) vs	Primary endpoint: vIGA-AD Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline measured at 16W	 Most frequently reported TEAEs (> 2% in any treatment group) Nasopharyngitis BAR 1 (10.5%) vs BAR 2 (13.0%) vs BAR 4 (8.1%) vs PBO (12.3%) Headache

RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
	AD ^a for ≥1 year, uncontrolled by TCS therapy ^b	BAR 4 mg (N=123) vs PBO (N=244) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients	 BAR 1 mg vs PBO: 11 patients (9%) vs 11 patients (5%); OR= 2.1 (95% CI 0.9 to 5.0); p=0.108 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 13 patients (11%) vs 11 patients (5%); OR= 2.6 (95% CI 1.1 to 5.9); p=<0.05 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: 17 patients (14%) vs 11 patients (5%); OR= 3.6 (95% CI 1.6 to 8.1); p=<0.01 With TCS Rescue^c: BAR 1 mg vs PBO: 15 patients (12%) vs 27 patients (11%); OR= 1.1 (95% CI 0.6 to 2.3); p=0.710 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 24 patients (20%) vs 27 patients (11%); OR= 2.1 (95% CI 1.1 to 3.8); p=<0.05 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: 27patients (22%) vs 27 patients (11%); OR= 2.5 (95% CI 1.4 to 4.6); p=<0.01 Selected key secondary endpoint(s) EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline BAR 1 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.5 (95% CI 1.1 to 4.9); p=<0.05 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.5 (95% CI 1.7 to 7.0); p=<0.001 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 4.4 (95% CI 2.2 to 8.8); p=<0.01 	 BAR 1 (4.8%) vs BAR 2 (7.3%) vs BAR 4 (8.9%) vs PBO (2.0%) URTI BAR 1 (4.8%) vs BAR 2 (4.1%) vs BAR 4 (3.3%) vs PBO (2.0%) Increased plasma CPK BAR 1 (3.2%) vs BAR 2 (0.8%) vs BAR 4 (5.7%) vs PBO (0.4%) Diarrhea BAR 1 (1.6%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (2.4%) vs PBO (1.6%) UTI BAR 1 (0%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (1.6%) vs PBO (1.2%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 1 (5.6%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (1.6%) vs PBO (1.2%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 1 (5.6%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (1.6%) vs PBO (1.2%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 1 (5.6%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (0.8%) vs PBO (0.8%) SAEs BAR 1 (7.3%) vs BAR 2 (2.4%) vs BAR 4 (0.8%) vs PBO (3.7%) Deaths: none Reported infections: Skin infection requiring antibiotic treatment BAR 1 (4.8%) vs BAR 2 (7.3%) vs BAR 4 (4.9%) vs PBO (7.8%) Herpes simplex BAR 1 (4.8%) vs BAR 2 (5.7%) vs BAR 4 (4.1%) vs PBO (4.5%) Herpes zoster Two cases^e

RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
			• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.6 (95% CI 1.6 to	
			4.3); p=<0.001	
			• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.5 (95% CI 1.5 to	
			4.1); p=<0.001	
			EASI-90 Response: ≥90% improvement in EASI score	
			at week 16	
			• <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 2.8 (95% Cl 1.0 to	
			8.0); p=0.053	
			• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.9 (95% Cl 1.4 to	
			10.4); p=<0.01	
			• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 6.2 (95% Cl 2.4 to	
			15.9); p=<0.001	
			With TCS Rescue ^c :	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.6 (95% CI 0.7 to 	
			3.4); p=0.256	
			 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.2 (95% CI 1.6 to 	
			6.4); p=<0.001	
			 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 4.2 (95% CI 2.2 to 	
			8.2); p=<0.001	
			LSM change in EASI score: from baseline to week 16	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 12.8 (95% Cl – 26.2 to 0.7); p=0.06	
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 25.9 (95% Cl – 38.8 to – 13.0); p=<0.001	
			 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 26.0 (95% Cl – 38.3 to – 13.7); p=<0.001	
			With TCS Rescue ^c :	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 6.8 (95% CI – 15.2 to 1.6); p=0.11	
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 11.3 (95% Cl – 19.7 to – 3.0); p=<0.01	

RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
			• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =	
			- 13.4 (95% CI - 21.7 to - 5.2); p=≤0.001	
			Itch NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from	
			baseline in score) at week 16	
			• <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.4 (95% CI 0.5 to	
			3.9); p=0.505	
			• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.6 (95% CI 1.6 to	
			8.3); p=<0.01	
			• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 4.9 (95% CI 2.2 to	
			10.9); p=<0.001	
			With TCS Rescue ^c :	
			• <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 0.8 (95% CI 0.4 to	
			1.5); p=0.477	
			• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.0 (95% CI 1.2 to	
			3.3); p=<0.05	
			 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 1.9 (95% CI 1.1 to 	
			3.2); p=<0.05	
			LSM change in Item 2 ^d of the ADSS: from baseline	
			to week 16	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.3 (95% CI – 0.6 to 0.1); p=0.123	
			 BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.5 (95% CI – 0.9 to – 0.2); p=<0.01	
			 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.6 (95% Cl – 1.0 to – 0.3); p=<0.001	
			With TCS Rescue ^c :	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.3 (95% Cl – 0.6 to 0.0); p=0.074	
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.4 (95% CI – 0.7 to – 0.1); p=<0.05	
			 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			- 0.6 (95% CI - 0.8 to - 0.3); p=<0.001	

year, trial name)	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
Multicenter, Patients ≥18 BAR 1 mg po Prim randomized, double- years of age daily (N=147) EASI blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled with BAR 2 mg po daily (N=146) (Simpson, 2021, moderate- to-severe AD ^a for ≥1 PBO (N=147) year, uncontrolled by TCS therapy ^b Duration: 16W Sele	change in Skin Pain NRS: from baseline tok 16• BAR 1 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =-0.2 (95% Cl - 1.1 to 0.6); p= 0.58• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =-1.8 (95% Cl - 2.5 to - 1.0); p=<0.001• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =-1.6 (95% Cl - 2.4 to - 0.9); p=<0.001With TCS Rescue ^c :• BAR 1 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = 0.0(95% Cl - 0.5 to 0.5); p=0.98• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =-0.9 (95% Cl - 1.4 to - 0.4); p=<0.001• BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference =-0.7 (95% Cl - 1.2 to - 0.2); p=< 0.01hary endpoint:-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI scoreeek 16 from baseline in ITT population• BAR 1 mg vs PBO: 19 patients (13%) vs 12patients (8%); adj. difference = NR; (95% ClNR); p= NS• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 44 patients (30%) vs 12patients (8%); adj. difference = NR; (95% ClNR); p=≤ 0.001cted key secondary endpoint(s)A-AD Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almostr] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baselinesured at 16 weeks in ITT population• BAR 1 mg vs PBO: 13% vs 5%; adj.difference = NR; (95% Cl NR); nominal p=≤0.05	

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
			• BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 24% vs 5%; adj.	BAR 1 (0.7%) vs BAR 2 (1.4%) vs PBO (2.1%)	
			difference = NR; (95% CI NR); p=≤ 0.001	Deaths: none	
			Itch NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from	Reported infections:	
			baseline in score) at week 16 in ITT population	Serious infection	
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> 16% vs 6%; adj. 	BAR 1 (0%) vs BAR 2 (0.7%) vs PBO (0.7%)	
			difference = NR; (95% CI NR); p= NS	Herpes zoster	
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> 25% vs 6%; adj. 	BAR 1 (0.7%) vs BAR 2 (0%) vs PBO (0%)	
			difference = NR; (95% CI NR); p=≤ 0.001	Herpes simplex	
			EASI-90 Response: ≥90% improvement in EASI score	BAR 1 (2.0%) vs BAR 2 (1.4%) vs PBO (0.7%)	
			at week 16		
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> 8% vs 3%; adj. 		
			difference = NR; (95% CI NR); p= NS		
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> 21% vs 3%; adj. 		
			difference = NR; (95% CI NR); p=≤ 0.001		
			LSM change in EASI score: from baseline to week 16		
			 <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 		
			– 46.6 (95% Cl – 26.5 to 1.4); p= NS		
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO</u>: adj. LSM difference = 		
			-54.4 (95% Cl -33.9 to -6.8); p= ≤ 0.01		
			LSM change in Item 2 ^a of the ADSS: from baseline		
			to week 16		
			• <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =		
			– 0.62 (95% Cl – 0.75 to 0.32); p= NS		
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 		
			-0.99 (95% Cl -1.12 to -0.06); p= ≤ 0.05		
			LSM change in Skin Pain NRS: from baseline to		
			week 16		
			• <u>BAR 1 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =		
			-32.93 (95% CI -30.34 to -3.81); p= ≤ 0.05		
			• <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =		
			– 36.59 (95% Cl – 33.84 to – 7.77); p=≤ 0.01		

Table 3. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Baricitinib					
RCT Design (author, Population year, trial name)	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results		
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled (Reich, 2020, BREEZE- AD 7) ³² Hore and a for ≥1 year, uncontrolled by TCS therapy ^b	BAR 2 mg po daily +TCS (N=109) vs BAR 4 mg po daily +TCS (N=111) vs PBO +TCS (N=109) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients and low-to- moderate TCSs	 Primary endpoint: vIGA-AD Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline measured at 16 weeks in the ITT population^f BAR 2 mg vs PBO: 26 patients (24%) vs 16 patients (15%); OR= 1.9 (95% CI 0.9 to 3.9); p=0.08 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: 34 patients (31%) vs 16 patients (15%); OR= 2.8 (95% CI 1.4 to 5.6); p=<0.01 Selected key secondary endpoint(s) EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline in the ITT population^f BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.6 (95% CI 1.4 to 4.8); p=NA^h BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.3 (95% CI 1.8 to 6.0); p=<0.01 LSM change in EASI score: from baseline to week 16 in the ITT population^f BAR 2 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -13.1 (95% CI - 23.4 to -2.7); p= NA^g BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = -22.1 (95% CI - 32.5 to - 11.8); p=< 0.001 Itch NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 in the ITT population^f BAR 2 mg vs PBO: OR= 2.9 (95% CI 1.5 to 5.6); p=NA^g BAR 4 mg vs PBO: OR= 3.8 (95% CI 2.0 to 7.5); p=<0.001 Itch NRS near Mag vs PBO: OR= 3.8 (95% CI 2.0 to 7.5); p=<0.001 LSM change in Item 2^d of the ADSS: from baseline to week 16 in the ITT population^f 	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥ 2% in any treatment group) • Nasopharyngitis BAR 2 (11%) vs BAR 4 (15%) vs PBO (12%) • URTI BAR 2 (7%) vs BAR 4 (3%) vs PBO (2%) • Folliculitis BAR 2 (4%) vs BAR 4 (5%) vs PBO (0%) • Acne BAR 2 (1%) vs BAR 4 (5%) vs PBO (1%) • Diarrhea BAR 2 (1%) vs BAR 4 (3%) vs PBO (1%) • Oropharyngeal pain BAR 2 (2%) vs BAR 4 (2%) vs PBO (3%) • Increased plasma CPK BAR 2 (3%) vs BAR 4 (0%) vs PBO (0%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (5%) vs PBO (1%) <u>SAEs</u> BAR 2 (2%) vs BAR 4 (4%) vs PBO (1%) <u>SAEs</u> BAR 2 (2%) vs BAR 4 (4%) vs PBO (4%) Deaths: none <u>Reported infections</u> : • Serious infection BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (0%) vs PBO (2%) • Herpes zoster BAR 2 (2%) vs BAR 4 (0%) vs PBO (1%) • Herpes simplex BAR 2 (1%) vs BAR 4 (3%) vs PBO (3%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest</u> : • Pulmonary embolism BAR 2 (0%) vs BAR 4 (1%) vs PBO (0%)		

T Design (author, ear, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
			• <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =	
			– 0.8 (95% CI – 1.2 to – 0.4); p= NA ^g	
			 BAR 4 mg vs PBO: adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 0.9 (95% Cl – 1.3 to – 0.5); p= NS	
			EASI-90 Response: ≥90% improvement in EASI score	
			at week 16 in the ITT population ^f	
			• <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 1.2 (95% CI 0.6 to	
			2.6); p=NA ^g	
			• <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> OR= 2.1 (95% Cl 1.0 to	
			4.2); p= NS	
			LSM change in Skin Pain NRS: from baseline to	
			week 16 in the ITT population ^f	
			 <u>BAR 2 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			– 1.2 (95% CI – 1.8 to – 0.5); p= NA ^g	
			 <u>BAR 4 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = 	
			- 1.7 (95% Cl - 2.3 to - 1.0); p=<0.001	

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; ADSS, Atopic Dermatitis Sleep Scale; Adj, adjusted; BAR, baricitinib; CI, confidence interval; CPK, creatine phosphokinase; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; ITT, intention-to-treat; LSM, least squares mean; NR, not reported; NRS, numeric rating scale; NS, not significant; OR, odds ratio; PBO, placebo; SAEs, serious adverse events; TCS, topical corticosteroids; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; URTI, upper respiratory tract infection; UTI, urinary tract infection; vIGA-AD, validated Investigator's Global Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis; W, weeks

^a Diagnosis per American Academy of Dermatology criteria. Moderate-to-severe AD criteria: vIGA-AD score ≥3, EASI score ≥16, and BSA affected ≥10%

^b Defined as failure to achieve mild disease or better after use of at least a medium potency TCS for \geq 4 weeks, or for the maximum duration recommended by the prescribing information (whichever is shorter). Surrogates for inadequate response to topical therapies include lack of response to systemic immunosuppressant therapies within 6 months of study screening, or "clinically significant adverse reactions to TCS"

^c Rescue therapy consisted of TCS use at any potency or systemic therapy

^d Item 2 of the Atopic Dermatitis Sleep Scale assess the number of night-time awakenings due to itch

^e Herpes zoster events are not yet unblinded to the investigators

^f Results were analyzed according to a prespecified statistical analysis plan with a graphical testing procedure; results are shown for the US and Japan graphical testing procedure

^g Secondary endpoint statistical analysis for baricitinib 2 mg was not performed because it failed to achieve statistical significance in the primary endpoint Italicized bold comparator names signifies statistically significant results

Comparative Evidence of Upadacitinib vs. Placebo

One additional SR, **Nusbaum et al (2021)**, included 2 pivotal phase III placebo controlled RCTs (Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2), and a phase II trial using the same doses of upadacitinib 15 mg or 30 mg daily.^{42,82} Patients were adolescents (12 to 17 years of age) and adults diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD that previously failed topical therapies (TCIs or TCS) or recently received systemic therapy.^{42,82} Upadacitinib improved EASI and patient reported itch response in a dose dependent manner compared to placebo.⁴² The prevalence of patients that achieved a 75% reduction in EASI at 16 weeks receiving 30 mg daily was 0.76 (95% CI 0.70 to 0.82) and among patients receiving 15 mg daily was 0.64 (95% CI 0.55 to 0.74).⁴² In addition, the prevalence of patients achieving at least a 4-point reduction on the PP-NRS at 16 weeks among patients receiving 30 mg daily was 0.59 (95% CI 0.55 to 0.63) and among patients receiving 15 mg daily was 0.48 (0.38 to 0.57).⁴²

Three short-term (16 week) phase III, placebo-controlled, randomized, multicenter, double-blind trials (Measure Up 1, Measure Up 2, and Ad Up) demonstrated superiority of upadacitinib (15 mg or 30 mg daily) to placebo in reducing physical signs of AD.^{81,82} Enrolled patients were between 12 and 75 years old (mean age of 32 to 35 years), had moderate-to-severe chronic AD for at least 3 years, and either could not tolerate or failed topical treatments (TCIs or TCS) or recently used other systemic treatment.^{81,82} Primary efficacy results showed a dose-dependent magnitude of benefit versus placebo (greatest improvements with upadacitinib 30 mg),^{81,82} and similar benefit as monotherapy (Measure Up 1 or 2 trials)⁸² or when combined with TCS ± TCI (Ad Up trial).⁸¹ Efficacy for physical signs of AD and pruritis relative to placebo emerged within days to 1-2 weeks of treatment, with a similar proportion of patients responding by 4 weeks compared to final 16 week endpoint on primary efficacy measures.^{81,82} As monotherapy, upadacitinib also significantly improved patient-oriented eczema symptoms, measures of patient QoL, and other comorbid symptoms (sleep, anxiety, depression) compared to placebo.⁸² Few adolescents were included in the studies (approximately 12 to 15% of participants),^{81,82} but according to an ICER review, results seem similar to the adult population.²

The short-term safety profile for upadacitinib compared to placebo was generally favorable; results were similar as monotherapy or when combined with TCS \pm TCI. In each trial, a similar proportion of patients in each group discontinued treatment due to adverse effects (between 1-4% across the studies). Serious adverse events were relatively rare (1-3%) and occurred at a similar frequency as placebo (3%). No deaths occurred. Similar to previous studies, the most common adverse events (incidence \geq 5% in any treatment group) included: acne (mostly mild to moderate severity), nasopharyngitis, headache, URTI, increased plasma/blood creatine phosphokinase (CPK), and worsening of AD disease (most frequent in the placebo group).^{81,82} Oral herpes commonly occurred in the topical combination trial.⁸¹ No long-term efficacy and safety results were identified.

Table 4 outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified placebo-controlled upadacitinib trials.

Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Guttman- Yassky, 2021, Measure Up 1) ⁸²	Adolescents (12 to 17 with BW ≥ 40 kg) and adults (18 to 75) with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥ 3 years, uncontrolled by TCl or TCS therapies or previously receiving systemic AD treatment within prior 6 months	UPA 15 mg po daily (N=281) vs UPA 30 mg po daily (N=285) vs PBO po daily (N=281) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients	Co-primary endpoints: vIGA Response: score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16W in ITT population • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO</u> : 135 patients (48%) vs 24 patients (8%); adj. difference = 39.8% (95% Cl 33.2 to 46.4%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u> : 177 patients (62%) vs 24 patients (8%); treatment difference = 53.6%; (95% Cl 47.2% to 60.0%); p<0.0001 <u>EASI-75 Response</u> : ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline in ITT population • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO</u> : 196 patients (70%) vs 46 patients (16%); adj. difference = 53.3% (95% Cl 46.4 to 60.2%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u> : 227 patients (80%) vs 46 patients (16%); adj. difference = 63.4% (95% Cl 57.1% to 69.8%); p<0.0001 Selected key secondary endpoint(s) WP-NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO</u> : adj. difference = 40.5% (95% Cl 33.5 to 47.5%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u> : adj. difference = 48.2% (95% Cl 41.3% to 55.0%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO</u> : adj. difference = 48.2% (95% Cl 38.6 to 51.7%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u> : adj. difference = 45.1% (95% Cl 38.6 to 51.7%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u> : adj. difference = 45.1% (95% Cl 38.6 to 51.7%); p<0.0001	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) • Acne UPA 15 (7%) vs UPA 30 (17%) vs PBO (2%) • Nasopharyngitis UPA 15 (8%) vs UPA 30 (12%) vs PBO (6%) • Headache UPA 15 (5%) vs UPA 30 (7%) vs PBO (4%) • URTI UPA 15 (9%) vs UPA 30 (13%) vs PBO (7%) • Increased plasma CPK UPA 15 (6%) vs UPA 30 (6%) vs PBO (3%) • AD worsening UPA 15 (3%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (9%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (4%) vs PBO (4%) <u>SAEs</u> UPA 15 (2%) vs UPA 30 (3%) vs PBO (3%) <u>Deaths:</u> none <u>Reported infections:</u> • Serious infection UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (0%) • Eczema herpecitum UPA 15 (0%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (1%) • Herpes zoster UPA 15 (2%) vs UPA 30 (2%) vs PBO (0%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> • Non-NMSC malignancy UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (0%) • Neutropenia UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (5%) vs PBO (1%)	

Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib				
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
			EASI-100 Response: 100% improvement in EASI score at week 16	
			 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 15.0% (95% Cl 10.4 to 19.6%); p<0.0001 	
			 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u>: adj. difference = 25.3% (95% Cl 20.0 to 30.6%); p<0.0001 	
			LSM change in EASI score: from baseline to week 16	
			• <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =	
			 39.5 (95% CI - 44.9 to - 34.2); p<0.0001 UPA 30 mg vs PBO: adi. LSM difference = 	
			– 47.0 (95% Cl – 52.4 to – 41.7); p<0.0001	
			LSM change in (weekly average) WP-NRS score:	
			from baseline to week 16	
			• <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference =	
			 JIPA 30 mg vs PBO: adi 1SM difference = 	
			- 46.0 (95% CI - 58.8 to - 33.1); p<0.0001	
Multicenter,	Adolescents	UPA 15 mg po	Co-primary endpoints:	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any
randomized, double-	(12 to 17	daily (N=276)	<u>vIGA Response</u> : score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear]	treatment group)
blind, placebo	with BW ≥	vs	with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16W	Acne
controlled (Guttman-	40 kg) and	UPA 30 mg po	in ITT population	UPA 15 (13%) vs UPA 30 (15%) vs PBO (2%)
Yassky, 2021, Measure	adults (18	daily (N=282)	 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> 107 patients (39%) vs 	Nasopharyngitis
Up 2) ⁸²	to 75) with	vs	13 patients (5%); adj. difference = 34.0%	UPA 15 (6%) vs UPA 30 (6%) vs PBO (5%)
	moderate-	PBO po daily	(95% CI 27.8 to 40.2%); p<0.0001	Headache
	to-severe	(N=278)	 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> 147 patients (52%) vs 	UPA 15 (7%) vs UPA 30 (7%) vs PBO (4%)
	$AD^a \ge 3$		13 patients (5%); adj. difference = 47.4%;	• URTI
	years,	Duration: 16W	(95% CI 41.0 to 53.7%); p<0.0001	UPA 15 (7%) vs UPA 30 (6%) vs PBO (4%)
	uncontrolled		EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score	Increased plasma CPK
	by TCI or	Patients	at week 16 from baseline in ITT population	UPA 15 (3%) vs UPA 30 (4%) vs PBO (2%)
	TCS	continued	 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> 166 patients (60%) vs 	AD worsening
	therapies or	topical	37 patients (13%); adj. difference = 46.9%	UPA 15 (3%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (9%)
	previously	emollients	(95% CI 39.9 to 53.9%); p<0.0001	Discontinued treatment due to AEs

Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib				
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
	receiving systemic AD treatment within prior 6 months		 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> 206 patients (73%) vs 37 patients (13%); adj. difference = 59.6% (95% Cl 53.1% to 66.2%); p<0.0001 <u>Selected key secondary endpoint(s)</u> <u>WP-NRS Response:</u> (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 32.6% (95% Cl 25.8 to 39.4%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 50.4% (95% Cl 43.8 to 57.1%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 50.4% (95% Cl 43.8 to 57.1%); p<0.0001 <u>EASI-90 Response:</u> ≥90% improvement in EASI score at week 16 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 36.9% (95% Cl 30.6 to 43.3%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 53.1% (95% Cl 46.7 to 59.4%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 13.4% (95% Cl 9.2 to 17.6%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 18.1% (95% Cl 13.5 to 22.7%); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 39.6 (95% Cl - 45.8 to - 33.5); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 50.5 (95% Cl - 56.3 to - 44.0); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 50.5 (95% Cl - 45.8 to - 27.5); p<0.0001 	UPA 15 (4%) vs UPA 30 (3%) vs PBO (4%) <u>SAEs</u> UPA 15 (2%) vs UPA 30 (3%) vs PBO (3%) <u>Deaths:</u> none <u>Reported infections:</u> • Serious infection UPA 15 (<1%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (1%) • Eczema herpecitum UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (0%) vs PBO (0%) • Herpes zoster UPA 15 (2%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (1%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> • Non-NMSC malignancy UPA 15 (0%) vs UPA 30 (<1%) vs PBO (0%) • Neutropenia UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (2%) vs PBO (<1%)

Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
			 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO</u>: adj. LSM difference = - 49.4 (95% CI - 56.1 to - 42.8); p<0.0001 		
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Reich, 2021, AD Up) ⁸¹	Adolescents (12 to 17 with BW ≥ 40 kg) and adults (18 to 75) with moderate- to-severe AD ^a for ≥3 years, uncontrolled by TCI or TCS therapies or previously receiving systemic AD treatment within prior 6 months	Combination treatment with TCS ± TCI per a standardized step-down protocol: UPA 15 mg po daily + TCS (N=300) vs UPA 30 mg po daily + TCS (N=297) vs PBO po daily + TCS (N=304) Duration: 16W Patients continued topical emollients	Co-primary endpoints: <u>vIGA Response:</u> score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16W in ITT population • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> 119 patients (39.6%) vs 33 patients (10.9%); adj. difference = 28.5% (95% Cl 22.1 to 34.9%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> 174 patients (58.6%) vs 33 patients (10.9%); treatment difference = 47.6%; (95% Cl 41.1 to 54.0%); p<0.0001 <u>EASI-75 Response:</u> ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 from baseline in ITT population • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> 194 patients (64.6%) vs 80 patients (26.4%); adj. difference = 38.1% (95% Cl 30.8 to 45.4%); p<0.0001 • <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> 229 patients (77.1%) vs 80 patients (26.4%); adj. difference = 50.6% (95% Cl 43.8 to 57.4%); p<0.0001 <u>Selected key secondary endpoint(s)</u> WP-NRS Response: (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 48.8% (95% Cl 29.7 to 43.8%); p<0.0001 <u>EASI-90 Response:</u> ≥90% improvement in EASI score at week 16 • <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 48.8% (95% Cl 22.8 to 36.3%); p<0.0001	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) • Acne UPA 15 (10%) vs UPA 30 (14%) vs PBO (2%) • Nasopharyngitis UPA 15 (12%) vs UPA 30 (13%) vs PBO (11%) • Headache UPA 15 (5%) vs UPA 30 (5%) vs PBO (5%) • URTI UPA 15 (7%) vs UPA 30 (8%) vs PBO (7%) • Increased blood CPK UPA 15 (4%) vs UPA 30 (6%) vs PBO (2%) • Oral herpes UPA 15 (3%) vs UPA 30 (6%) vs PBO (2%) • AD worsening UPA 15 (4%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (2%) • AD worsening UPA 15 (4%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (7%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs:</u> UPA 15 (1%) vs UPD 30 (1%) vs PBO (2%) <u>SAEs</u> UPA 15 (2%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (3%) <u>Deaths:</u> none <u>Reported infections:</u> • Serious infection UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (0%) vs PBO (1%) • Eczema herpecitum UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (0%) • Herpes zoster UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (2%) vs PBO (1%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> • Non-NMSC malignancy	

Table 4. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trials of Upadacitinib					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
			 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 49.9% (95% Cl 43.3 to 56.4%); p<0.0001 <u>EASI-100 Response:</u> 100% improvement in EASI score at week 16 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> not a secondary end pt <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 21.2% (95% Cl 16.3 to 26.1%); p<0.0001 <u>LSM change in EASI score:</u> from baseline to week 16 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 32.1 (95% Cl - 26.9 to - 37.4); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 41.5 (95% Cl - 36.2 to - 46.7); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 15 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 33.1 (95% Cl - 24.2 to - 41.7); p<0.0001 <u>UPA 30 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. LSM difference = - 41.8 (95% Cl - 33.1 to - 50.5); p<0.0001 	UPA 15 (0%) vs UPA 30 (<1%) vs PBO (0%) • Neutropenia UPA 15 (1%) vs UPA 30 (1%) vs PBO (0%)	

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; Adj, adjusted; BW, bodyweight; CI, confidence interval; CPK, creatine phosphokinase; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; ITT, intention-to-treat; LSM, least squares mean; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular event; NMSC, non-melanoma skin cancer; PBO, placebo; pt, point; SAEs, serious adverse events; TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitor; TCS, topical corticosteroids; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; TEE, thromboembolic event; UPA, upadacitinib; URTI, upper respiratory tract infection; vIGA-AD, validated Investigator's Global Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis; W, weeks; WP-NRS, Worst Pruritis Numerical Rating Scale.

^a Diagnosis of AD per the Hanifin and Rajka criteria. Must be "candidates for systemic therapy" based on lack of sufficient response to or intolerance/inappropriateness for topical treatments. Moderate-to-severe AD criteria: \geq 10% BSA with AD and EASI score \geq 16 and vIGA-AD \geq 3 and WP-NRS \geq 4. Italicized bold comparator names signifies statistically significant results
Comparative Evidence of Tralokinumab vs. Placebo

Two SRs conducted by **Atlas et al (2021)** and **Nusbaum et al (2021)** containing pooled analyses of phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled trials (ECZTRA 1, ECZTRA 2, and ECZTRA 3) were identified.^{2,42} Trial patients were adults (18 years of age and older) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year that either, failed to have an adequate response to or had an intolerance to topical therapies.^{83,84} The use of as needed TCS therapy was permitted in ECZTRA 3.⁸⁴ Tralokinumab administered at 300 mg every 2 weeks improved AD symptoms and the QoL for patients by reducing itch intensity and positively impacting DLQI scores.⁴² A third SR by ICER, also found that tralokinumab significantly improved AD symptoms compared to placebo, based on IGA score improvement (reaching a score of 0 or 1) and EASI-75 response.² Details from these placebo-controlled tralokinumab RCTs are included below.

In two, double-blinded RCTs (ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2), patients were randomized to tralokinumab 300 mg (after a 600 mg loading dose) or placebo every 2 weeks for 16 weeks.⁸³ After the initial 16 week treatment period, patients who responded to treatment (ie, achieved an IGA score of 0 or 1 or EASI-75) were rerandomized to tralokinumab 300 mg every 2 weeks or every 4 weeks, or placebo for an additional 36 weeks.⁸³ Patients were adults (18 years of age and older) diagnosed with moderate-tosevere AD for at least 1 year with a prior failure or intolerance to topical therapies.⁸³ Tralokinumab was superior to placebo at improving IGA and EASI-75 response among adults during the initial 16 week treatment period. Additionally, tralokinumab improved QoL outcomes such as DLQI compared to placebo.⁸³ Of patients that achieved an IGA score of 0 or 1 or EASI-75 response at week 16 with tralokinumab administered every 2 weeks, approximately 50% maintained that response when receiving the same administration frequency at week 52 without the need for rescue medication.⁸³ Additionally, "39-51% of patients maintained that response when receiving tralokinumab every 4 weeks." ⁸³ A sustained IGA and EASI response was observed at week 52 in patients that received tralokinumab every 2 weeks during the initial 16 week period that were rerandomized to placebo.⁸³ Across both trials, the most commonly reported adverse events among both treatment groups were worsening AD, URTI, and conjunctivitis.⁸³ Antidrug antibodies were detected among 3 patients in ECZTRA 1 and 8 patients in ECZTRA 2, but were evaluated to have no impact on the efficacy and safety of tralokinumab.⁸³

A third RCT, ECZTRA 3, initially randomized patients to tralokinumab (300 mg subcutaneously after a 600 mg loading dose) or placebo, both in combination with TCS therapy as needed, every 2 weeks for 16 weeks: responders (defined as an IGA score of 0 or 1 or EASI-75 at 16 weeks) were rerandomized to tralokinumab 300 mg at two different frequencies, either every 2 weeks or every 4 weeks, for 16 additional weeks.⁸⁴ Included patients were adults (18 years of age and older) diagnosed with moderate-to-severe AD for at least 1 year that either had an inadequate response or intolerance to topical therapies.⁸⁴ Treatment with tralokinumab every 2 weeks significantly improved AD symptoms based on IGA response and EASI reduction compared to placebo at 16 weeks. At 32 weeks, a sustained response was observed with tralokinumab administered every 2 weeks and every 4 weeks, without an increased need for TCS use.⁸⁴ In addition, tralokinumab treated patients had improvements in DLQI scores compared to placebo that were maintained at week 32.⁸⁴ The most commonly reported adverse events were viral and non-viral URTI, conjunctivitis, headache, and injection-site reactions. During the maintenance period, the overall frequency of reported adverse events remained stable among patients treated with tralokinumab every 2 weeks; however, adverse events were numerically more frequent

among patients receiving tralokinumab every 2 weeks compared to those receiving tralokinumab every 4 weeks.⁸⁴

An additional placebo-controlled trial (ECZTRA 7) included adult (\geq 18 years) patients with severe AD for \geq 1 year with an inadequate response to topical or documented systemic therapies in the prior 12 months, and uncontrolled or intolerance to oral cyclosporine A (CSA).⁸⁸ Tralokinumab was more effective than placebo at achieving the primary efficacy endpoint of EASI-75 (64% vs 51%, respectively) at 16 weeks.⁸⁸ In addition, patient reported outcomes such as DLQI and itch response were improved with tralokinumab use compared to placebo.⁸⁸ A sustained response in EASI-75 was observed at week 26 in tralokinumab-treated patients compared to patients receiving placebo (69% vs 55%, respectively).⁸⁸ Similar to previous trials, the most frequently reported adverse events among both treatment groups were viral and non-viral URTI, headache, conjunctivitis, and worsening AD.⁸⁸

Regarding safety, the most frequent treatment-emergent adverse events included viral and non-viral URTI, worsening AD, and conjunctivitis, which were similar among each ECZTRA trial. The majority of the conjunctivitis cases were mild or moderate and typically resolved by the end of the study. In addition, eosinophilia occurred more frequently in tralokinumab-treated patients compared to the placebo arm.

Table 5 outlines the primary and selected key secondary endpoints, and pertinent safety information from the identified placebo-controlled tralokinumab trials. Selected key secondary endpoints were chosen based on consistency with reported outcomes of other pivotal phase III trials, and clinical relevance.

Table 5. Randomized Placebo Controlled Trials of Tralokinumab				
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Wollenberg, 2021, ECZTRA 1) ⁸³	Adults (≥ 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥ 1 year, uncontrolled by TCI or TCS therapies	TRA 300 mg subQ Q2W (after a LD of 600 mg) (N=603) Vs PBO (N=199) Duration: 52 weeks Patients continued topical emollients	<u>Co-primary endpoints:</u> <u>IGA Response:</u> score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16 weeks • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> 95 patients (16%) vs 14 patients (7%); adj. difference = 8.6%; (95% Cl 4.1% to 13.1%); p=0.002 <u>EASI-75 Response:</u> ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> 150 patients (25%) vs 25 patients (13%); adj. difference = 12.1%; (95% Cl 6.5% to 17.7%); p=<0.001 <u>Key secondary endpoint(s)</u> <u>WP-NRS Response (weekly average):</u> (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 9.7% (95% Cl 4.4% to 15.0%); p=0.002 <u>Adjusted mean change in SCORAD score:</u> from baseline to week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = - 10.4 (95% Cl - 14.4 to - 6.5); p=<0.001 <u>Adjusted mean change in DLQI score:</u> from baseline to week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = - 10.4 (95% Cl - 14.4 to - 6.5); p=<0.001 <u>Adjusted mean change in DLQI score:</u> from baseline to week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = - 2.1 (95% Cl - 3.4 to - 0.8); p=0.002	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group)• AD worseningTRA 300 (25.9%) vs PBO (38.3%)• Viral URTITRA 300 (23.1%) vs PBO (20.9%)• Conjunctivitis ^b TRA 300 (10.0%) vs PBO (3.6%)• PruritusTRA 300 (5.3%) vs PBO (5.1%)• HeadacheTRA 300 (4.7%) vs PBO (5.1%)Discontinued treatment due to AEsTRA 300 (3.3%) vs PBO (4.1%)SAEs (≥1)TRA 300 (3.8%) vs PBO (4.1%)Selected other AEs of interest:• Skin infectionTRA 300 (1.0%) vs PBO (1.5%)• Skin infection requiring systemic treatmentTRA 300 (2.2%) vs PBO (2.0%)• Eczema herpeticumTRA 300 (0.5%) vs PBO (1.0%)• MalignanciesNone
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Wollenberg, 2021, ECZTRA 2) ⁸³	Adults (≥ 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate-	TRA 300 mg subQ Q2W (after a LD of 600 mg) (N=591)	<u>Co-primary endpoints:</u> <u>IGA Response:</u> score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16 weeks	 Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) AD worsening TRA 300 (16.6%) vs PBO (33.5%) Viral URTI

Table 5. Randomized Placebo Controlled Trials of Tralokinumab

Table 5. Randomized Placebo Controlled Trials of Tralokinumab				
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results
	to-severe AD ^a ≥ 1 year, uncontrolled by TCI or TCS therapies	vs PBO (N=201) Duration: 52 weeks Patients continued topical emollients	 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: 131 patients (22%) vs 22 patients (11%); adj. difference = 11.1%; (95% CI 5.8% to 16.4%); p=<0.001 EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: 196 patients (33%) vs 23 patients (11%); adj. difference = 21.6%; (95% CI 15.8% to 27.3%); p=<0.001 Key secondary endpoint(s) WP-NRS Response (weekly average): (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: adj. difference = 15.6% (95% CI 10.3% to 20.9%); p=<0.001 Adjusted mean change in SCORAD score: from baseline to week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: adj. difference = - 14.0 (95% CI - 18.0 to - 10.1); p=<0.001 Adjusted mean change in DLQI score: from baseline to week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: adj. difference = - 3.9 (95% CI - 5.2 to - 2.6); p=<0.001 	TRA 300 (8.3%) vs PBO (8.5%) • Conjunctivitis ^b TRA 300 (5.2%) vs PBO (2.5%) • Pruritus TRA 300 (2.0%) vs PBO (2.5%) • Headache TRA 300 (2.7%) vs PBO (3.0%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> TRA 300 (1.5%) vs PBO (1.5%) <u>SAEs (\geq1</u>) TRA 300 (1.7%) vs PBO (2.5%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> • Skin infection TRA 300 (2.0%) vs PBO (5.5%) • Skin infection requiring systemic treatment TRA 300 (3.5%) vs PBO (11.0%) • Eczema herpeticum TRA 300 (0.3%) vs PBO (2.5%) • Malignancies TRA 300 (0.2%) vs PBO (0%)
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Silverberg, 2021, ECZTRA 3) ⁸⁴	Adults (≥ 18 years of age) diagnosed with moderate- to-severe AD ^a ≥ 1 year, uncontrolled by TCI or	TRA 300 mg subQ Q2W (after a LD of 600 mg) (N=252) vs PBO (N=126) Duration: 32 weeks	<u>Co-primary endpoints:</u> <u>IGA Response:</u> score of 0 [clear] or 1 [almost clear] with a ≥2-grade improvement from baseline at 16 weeks • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> 98 patients (39%) vs 33 patients (26%); adj. difference = 12.4%; (95% Cl 2.9% to 21.9%); p=0.015 <u>EASI-75 Response:</u> ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16	 Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) Viral URTI TRA 300 (19.4%) vs PBO (11.1%) Conjunctivitis^c TRA 300 (13.1%) vs PBO (5.6%) Headache TRA 300 (8.7%) vs PBO (4.8%) Non-viral URTI TRA 300 (7.5%) vs PBO (4.8%)

Table 5. Randomized Placebo Controlled Trials of Tralokinumab					
RCT Design (author, year, trial name)	Population	Intervention	Efficacy Results (% of patients)	Safety Results	
	TCS therapies	Patients continued topical emollients and the use of TCSs as needed	 <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> 141 patients (56%) vs 45 patients (36%); adj. difference = 20.2%; (95% CI 9.8% to 30.6%); p=<0.001 <u>Key secondary endpoint(s)</u> <u>WP-NRS Response (weekly average):</u> (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = 11.3% (95% CI 0.9% to 21.6%); p=0.037 <u>Adjusted mean change in SCORAD score:</u> from baseline to week 16 <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = - 10.9 (95% CI - 15.2 to - 6.6); p=<0.001 <u>Adjusted mean change in DLQI score:</u> from baseline to week 16 <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = - 2.9 (95% CI - 4.3 to - 1.6); p=<0.001 	 Injection-site reaction TRA 300 (6.7%) vs PBO (0%) AD worsening TRA 300 (2.4%) vs PBO (7.9%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> TRA 300 (2.4%) vs PBO (0.8%) <u>SAEs (≥1)</u> TRA 300 (0.8%) vs PBO (3.2%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> Skin infection requiring systemic treatment TRA 300 (1.6%) vs PBO (5.6%) Eczema herpeticum TRA 300 (0.4%) vs PBO (0.8%) Malignancies None 	
Multicenter, randomized, double- blind, placebo controlled (Gutermuth, 2021, ECZTRA 7) ⁸⁸	Adults (≥ 18 years of age) diagnosed with severe AD ^d ≥ 1 year, with an inadequate response to topical or systemic therapies in the prior 12 months, and uncontrolled by oral CSA	TRA 300 mg subQ Q2W (after a LD of 600 mg) (N=138) Vs PBO (N=137) Duration: 26 weeks Patients continued topical emollients and the use of TCSs	 Primary endpoint: EASI-75 Response: ≥75% improvement in EASI score at week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: 88 patients (64%) vs 69 patients (51%); adj. difference = 14.1%; (95% CI 2.5% to 25.7%); p=0.018 Selected key secondary endpoint(s) WP-NRS Response (weekly average): (≥4 point improvement from baseline in score) at week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: adj. difference = 9.7% (95% CI - 2.0% to 21.4%); p=0.106 Adjusted mean change in SCORAD score: from baseline to week 16 TRA 300 mg vs PBO: adj. difference = - 8.6 (95% CI - 13.0 to - 4.2); nominal p=<0.001 	Most frequently reported TEAEs (≥5% in any treatment group) • Viral URTI TRA 300 (26.8%) vs PBO (25.5%) • Headache TRA 300 (15.2%) vs PBO (9.5%) • AD worsening TRA 300 (5.1%) vs PBO (11.7%) • Conjunctivitis ^e TRA 300 (9.4%) vs PBO (4.4%) • Non-viral URTI TRA 300 (7.2%) vs PBO (7.3%) • Asthma TRA 300 (2.9%) vs PBO (5.8%)	

	year, trial name)	Population Intervention	or, Population Intervention Efficacy Results (% of patients))	Safety Results
Adjusted mean change in DLQI score: from baseline to week 16TRA 300 (2.9%) vs PBO (5.1%) • HTN• TRA 300 mg vs PBO: (95% CI - 2.6 to - 0.4); nominal p=0.009• HTNTRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.1%)• Oropharyngeal pain TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) Discontinued treatment due to AEs TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (2.2%)SAEs • TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (3.6%) Selected other AEs of interest: • Skin infection requiring systemic treatment TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) • Discontinued treatment due to AEs TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (3.6%) Selected other AEs of interest: • Skin infection requiring systemic treatment TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) • Eczema herpeticum TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) • Eczema herpeticum TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (0.6%) • Malignancies None		(any potency) as needed	(any potency) as needed Adjusted mean change in DLQI score: from baselin to week 16 • <u>TRA 300 mg vs PBO:</u> adj. difference = – 1. (95% CI – 2.6 to – 0.4); nominal p=0.009	 TRA 300 (2.9%) vs PBO (5.1%) HTN TRA 300 (2.2%) vs PBO (5.1%) Oropharyngeal pain TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) <u>Discontinued treatment due to AEs</u> TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (2.2%) <u>SAEs</u> TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (3.6%) <u>Selected other AEs of interest:</u> Skin infection requiring systemic treatment TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (5.8%) Eczema herpeticum TRA 300 (0.7%) vs PBO (0%) Malignancies None

Abbreviations: AD, atopic dermatitis; Adj, adjusted; CI, confidence interval; CSA, cyclosporine A; DLQI, Dermatology Life Quality Index; EASI, Eczema Area and Severity Index; HTN, hypertension; IGA, Investigator's Global Assessment; LD, loading dose; PBO, placebo; Q2W, every two weeks; SAEs, serious adverse events; SCORAD, Scoring Atopic Dermatitis; subQ, subcutaneously; TCI, topical calicineurin inhibitor; TCS, topical corticosteroids; TEAE, treatment-emergent adverse event; URTI, upper respiratory tract infection; WP-NRS, Worst Pruritis Numerical Rating Scale.

^a Diagnosis of AD per the Hanifin and Rajka criteria. Must be "candidates for systemic therapy" based on lack of sufficient response to or intolerance/inappropriateness for topical treatments. Moderate-to-severe AD criteria: \geq 10% BSA with AD and EASI score \geq 12 at screening and 16 at baseline and IGA \geq 3 and WP-NRS \geq 4 during the week prior to baseline.

^b Includes conjunctivitis, bacterial conjunctivitis, viral conjunctivitis, and allergic conjunctivitis

^c Includes conjunctivitis, allergic conjunctivitis, and viral conjunctivitis

-

. . . .

.

. .

C = 1 1 1

н.

^d Diagnosis of AD per the Hanifin and Rajka criteria. Must have a lack of sufficient response (after ≥ 12 weeks) to or intolerance to oral cyclosporine A. Severe AD criteria: ≥ 10% BSA with AD and EASI score ≥ 20 and IGA ≥ 3 and WP-NRS ≥ 4 during the week prior to baseline.

^e Includes bacterial conjunctivitis, viral conjunctivitis, and allergic conjunctivitis

Italicized bold comparator names signifies statistically significant results

Table 1. Summary of Clin	Table 1. Summary of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of AD ³				
Guideline (Sponsoring Organization; Year)	Recommendations				
	United States Guidelines				
Guidelines of Care for the Management of Atopic Dermatitis: Part 2: Management and Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis with Topical Therapies (AAD; 2014) ⁶	 All patients with AD, regardless of disease severity, should use moisturizers to prevent disease progression and pharmacologic intervention (Level I, Strength A) To improve skin hydration, application should occur soon after bathing (Level II, Strength B) Non-pharmacological interventions: Topical moisturizers with emollient, occlusive, and/or humectant ingredients Bathing practices, including additives (Level III, C) Wet wrap therapy (Level II, B) TCS are recommended for children and adults who have not responded to good skin care and routine use of emollients alone (Level I, Strength A) For children and adults, TCIs (tacrolimus and pimecrolimus) are recommended for acute and chronic treatment, in addition to maintenance (2-3 times per week). (Level I, Strength A) These agents are preferred to topical steroids in the following situations: Refractory to steroids Application to sensitive areas (eg, face, anogenital, skin folds) Presence of steroid-induced atrophy Long-term uninterrupted topical steroid use TCIs are recommended in "actively affected areas as a steroid-sparing agent" (Level I, Strength A) "The concomitant use of a TCS with a TCI may be recommended for the treatment of AD" (Level II, Strength B) Bleach baths and intranasal mupirocin are recommended to reduce disease severity in patients with moderate-to-severe AD and evidence of a secondary bacterial infection (Level II, Strength B) Topical antihistamines are not recommended (Level II, Strength B)				
Guidelines of Care for the Management of Atopic Dermatitis: Part 3: Management and Treatment with	 Phototherapy is recommended as a second-line option, after failure of non-pharmacologic interventions (eg, moisturizers) and topical therapies (TCS and TCIs) in children and adults (Level II, Strength B) Systemic immunomodulatory agents (eg, cyclosporine, azathioprine, methotrexate, mycophenolate mofetil) are recommended in refractory AD among adult and pediatric patients, or when QoL is significantly affected. Systemic agents are used when inadequate control is not achieved with topical therapies and/or phototherapy (Level I-III, Strength B-C) 				

Appendix D: Supplementary Guideline Tables

Table 1. Summary of Clini	Table 1. Summary of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of AD 3				
Guideline (Sponsoring Organization; Year)	Recommendations				
Phototherapy and Systemic Agents (AAD; 2014)⁷	 Systemic steroids should be reserved exclusively for acute, severe exacerbations, and short-term use (Level II, Strength B) Systemic antibiotics are recommended in patients with evidence of a bacterial infection (Level II, Strength A) 				
The Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters on Atopic Dermatitis (AAAAI, ACAAI, and the JCAAI; 2012) ⁵	 <u>First-line Management and Treatment:</u> Recommend warm soaking baths for at least 10 minutes followed by moisturizer application to improve skin hydration (Strength D) TCS are recommended if AD is not controlled by the use of moisturizers (Strength A) Topical antihistamines are generally not recommended due to the potential for cutaneous sensitization, but some patients may benefit from the relief of pruritus (Strength C) To reduce the severity of AD, dilute bleach baths (twice per week) should be considered, specifically in patients with recurrent infections (Strength A) Supplementation with vitamin D may be beneficial, especially in patients with low vitamin D consumption or low concentrations (Strength B) Refractory AD 				
	 Wet-wrap dressings in combination with TCS should be recommended (Strength A) For the treatment of AD, TCIs (pimecrolimus and tacrolimus) may be considered (Strength A) Topical tacrolimus ointment, "unlike topical steroids, does not cause atrophy for eczema on the face, eyelid, and skin folds that is unresponsive to low-potency topical steroids" (Strength A) Topical pimecrolimus cream, "safely decreases the number of flares, reduces the need for corticosteroids, does not cause skin atrophy, and controls pruritus" (Strength A) Systemic immunologic or anti-inflammatory therapies (eg, cyclosporine, mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine, corticosteroids) provide benefit to patients with severe refractory AD, but potential serious adverse effects should be considered (Strength A) Phototherapy, UVB is the most effective option available and may be useful for the treatment of recalcitrant AD (Strength A) 				
	European Guidelines				
Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic	 Adults Baseline (Basic therapy): "Educational programs, emollients, bath oils, avoidance of clinically relevant allergens" Mild (SCORAD <25 or transient eczema): "Reactive therapy with topical glucocorticosteroids class II or depending on local cofactors; topical calcineurin inhibitors, antiseptics including silver, silver coated textiles" 				

Table 1. Summary of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of AD ³				
Guideline (Sponsoring Organization; Year)	Recommendations			
dermatitis) in adults and children: part 1 (EDF, EADV, EAACI, ETFAD, EFA, ESPD. GA2LEN, UEMS; 2018) ¹⁷	 Moderate (SCORAD 25-50/ or recurrent eczema): "Proactive therapy with topical tacrolimus or class II or III topical glucocorticosteroids, wet wrap therapy, UV therapy (UVB 311 nm), psychosomatic counseling, climate therapy Severe (SCORAD >50/ or persistent eczema): "Hospitalization; systemic immunosuppression: cyclosporine A, short course of oral glucocorticosteroids, dupilumab, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil; PUVA; alitretinoin" 			
	Children: Baseline (Basic therapy): same as adults			
	 Mild (SCORAD <25 or transient eczema): same as adults 			
	Moderate (SCORAD 25-50/ or recurrent eczema): same as adults			
	 Severe (SCORAD >50/ or persistent eczema): "Hospitalization, systemic immunosuppression: cyclosporine A, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil" 			
	Recommendations:			
	 Treatment with TCS should be considered for treating acute exacerbations before switching to a TCI (Level -, Strength D) TCIs are indicated in sensitive skin area(s) (eg, face, intertriginous sites, anogenital) (Level 1b, Strength A) Bi-weekly application of tacrolimus ointment may reduce relapses (Level 1b, Strength A) 			
Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis) in adults and children: part 2 (EDF, EADV, EAACI, ETFAD, EFA, ESPD. GA2LEN, UEMS; 2018) ²³	 Dupilumab is recommended in adults with moderate-to-severe AD, in which disease control is not achieved with topical treatment and a contraindication exists or it is not advisable to use other systemic treatment (Level 1, Strength A) Should be used with emollients daily and may be used with topical anti-inflammatory agents as needed (eg, TCS) (Level 2, Strength B) Note that the pediatric AD indication approval for dupilumab may have occurred after this guidelines was published. Long-term use of topical antibiotics are not recommended due to concern of increasing resistance (Level 2, Strength D) If evidence of a bacterial infection exists, topical antiseptic agents, including antiseptic baths (eg, diluted sodium hypochlorite) are recommended (Level 4, Strength C) 			
Guideline on Atopic	Mild AD: Emollients, mild-potency TCS			
Dermatitis; (NICE; 2013) ¹	<u>Moderate AD:</u> Emollients, moderate-potency TCS, TCI, bandages <u>Severe AD:</u> Emollients, potent TCS, TCI, bandages, phototherapy, systemic therapy			
	• TCIs (tacrolimus and pimecrolimus) are not recommended as first-line agents for AD, and should be initiated after a failed response to TCS			

Table 1. Summary of Clin	ical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of AD 3
Guideline (Sponsoring	Recommendations
Organization; Year)	
	 TCIs should not be used for mild AD As second-line agents (TCIs), use is recommended when there is concern for serious adverse events from continued TCS use
	(eg, irreversible skin atrophy)
Dupilumab for treating moderate to severe atopic dermatitis; (NICE; 2018) ²²	 Dupilumab is recommended for moderate-to-severe AD in adults that have an inadequate response to at least one other systemic therapy (eg, ciclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil) or a contraindication exists Dupilumab should be stopped at 16 weeks if at least a 50% reduction in EASI and at least a 4-point reduction in the DLQI has not occurred from treatment initiation
 A technology 	Dupilumab may be used with or without TCS
appraisal guidance	• TCIs may be used with dupilumab, but TCI use should be reserved to sensitive areas (eg, face, neck, anogenital, skin folds)
Baricitinib for treating moderate to severe	 Baricitinib is recommended for moderate-to-severe AD in adults that have an inadequate response to at least one other systemic therapy (eg, ciclosporin, methotrexate, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil) or a contraindication exists
atopic dermatitis; (NICE; 2021) ²¹	 Response should be assessed from 8 weeks and stopped at 16 weeks if at least a 50% reduction in EASI and at least a 4-point reduction in the DLQI has not occurred from treatment initiation
 A technology 	
appraisal	
guidance	
Abbreviations: AAAAI, Ame	rican Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; AAD, American Academy of Dermatology; ACAAI, American College of Allergy, Asthma &

Abbreviations: AAAAI, American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; AAD, American Academy of Dermatology; ACAAI, American College of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology; AD, atopic dermatitis; DLQI, Dermatology Life Quality Index; EAACI, European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology; EADV, European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology; EDF, European Dermatology Forum; EFA, European Federation of Allergy and Airways Diseases Patients' Associations; ESPD, European Society of Pediatric Dermatology; ETFAD, European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis; GA2LEN, Global Allergy and Asthma European Network; JCAAI, Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology; NICE, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; PUVA, psoralen and ultraviolet; QoL, quality of life; SCORAD, Scoring Atopic Dermatitis; TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitors; TCS, topical corticosteroids; UEMS, European Union of Medical Specialists; UVB, ultraviolet B

Table 2. Gui	deline Level of Evidence and Strength of Recommendation Definitions
	AAD ^{4,6,7}
Level I	"Good-quality patient-oriented evidence"
Level II	"Limited-guality patient-oriented evidence"
Level III	"Other evidence including consensus guidelines, opinion, case studies, or disease-oriented
	evidence"
Strength A	"Recommendation based on consistent and good-quality patient-oriented evidence"
Strength B	"Recommendation based on inconsistent or limited-quality patient-oriented evidence"
Strength C	"Recommendation based on consensus, opinion, case studies, or disease-oriented evidence"
	AAAAI, ACAAI, and JCAAI ⁵
Level la	"Evidence from meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials"
Level Ib	"Evidence from at least 1 randomized controlled trial"
Level IIa	"Evidence from at least 1 controlled study without randomization"
Level IIb	Evidence from at least 1 other type of quasiexperimental study"
Level III	"Evidence from nonexperimental descriptive studies, such as comparative studies"
Level IV	"Evidence from expert committee reports, opinions, or clinical experience of respected authorities or both"
Strength A	"Directly based on category I evidence"
Strength B	"Directly based on category II evidence or extrapolated recommendation from category I
	evidence"
Strength C	"Directly based on category III evidence or extrapolated recommendation from category I or
	Il evidence
Strength D	"Directly based on category IV evidence or extrapolated recommendation from category I, II,
	or III evidence
	EDF, EADV, EAACI, ETFAD, EFA, ESPD. GA2LEN, and UEMS ²³
Level 1a	"Meta-analysis of RCTs
Level 1b	"Single RCTs"
Level 2a	"Systematic review of cohort studies"
Level 2b	"Single cohort studies and RCIs of limited quality"
Level 3a	"Systematic review of case-control studies"
Level 3b	"Single case-control study"
Level 4	Case series, case conort studies or conort studies of limited quality"
Strength A	Based on 1a or 1b evidence
Strength B	Based on 2a, 2b, 3a, or 3b evidence
Strength C	Based on 4 evidence
Strength D	Expert opinion

Expert Opinion

In 2015, **Eichenfield et al** published an article proposing an AD treatment management plan for pediatricians and other primary care providers based on the US guidelines (AAD [2014] and (AAAI/ACAAI [2012] practice parameter), and the 2012 European Dermatology Forum (EDF) guideline (**Table 6**).^{3,37}

The selection of using TCIs over TCSs varies on patient/ provider preference, medication access (including cost), location of lesions (use of TCSs on sensitive skin area(s) should be restricted), and the effectiveness and tolerability with a specific agent.^{3,37} In addition, the lowest potency TCS should be used for long-term use to minimize the risk of experiencing adverse reactions (eg, skin atrophy, glaucoma, adrenocortical suppression).³⁷

Table 3. Management Plan of Atopic Dermatitis for Primary Care Providers ^{3,37}			
Mild Disease	Moderate-to-Severe Disease		
Basic Management ^a :	Basic Management PLUS:		
 Appropriate skin care: warm baths or showers (using mild soaps or non-soap cleansers) daily followed by moisturizer use Antiseptic measures: dilute bleach baths (at least twice per week), particularly with recurrent skin infections Trigger avoidance: avoid irritants (eg, soaps), extreme temperatures, and allergens <u>Maintenance Therapy:</u> moisturizers 	Maintenance TCI:Maintenance TCS:Tacrolimus orANDpimecrolimus AND(2-3 times /OR(2-3 times /ORI-2 times per week)OR (if unresponsive)Low potency TCS (face1-2 timesLow potency TCS (faceper dayper day	yes) e and ies	
Acute treatment for flares ^b : low potency TCS applied twice per day for up to 3 days beyond flare resolution; sometimes medium potency TCS may be used	<u>Relapsing AD</u> ("frequent/ persistent flares"): "topical anti- inflammatory agents at first signs/symptoms or to flare- prone area(s)" <u>Acute treatment for flares^b:</u> medium potency TCS applied twice per day for up to 3 days beyond flare resolution. For flares not resolved within 7 days, consider nonadherence, infection, misdiagnosis, or referral		
Abbreviations: TCI, topical calcineurin inhibitors; TCS, topical corticosteroids			

^a Recommended for all patients, regardless of disease severity. Maintenance and/or acute treatment should be added as needed

^b A flare is defined as an "acute worsening of symptoms necessitating escalation in treatment"

Appendix E: Included and Excluded References

List of Included References

- Le M, Berman-Rosa M, Ghazawi FM, et al. Systematic Review on the Efficacy and Safety of Oral Janus Kinase Inhibitors for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis. *Front Med (Lausanne)*. 2021;8:682547. doi:10.3389/fmed.2021.682547
- 2. Meher BR, Mohanty RR, Padhy BM. Efficacy and safety of abrocitinib for the treatment of moderateto-severe atopic dermatitis: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Aug 13 2021:1-9. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1961997
- Fadlalmola HA, Albadrani MS, Elhusein AM, Mohamedsalih WE, Swamy VDS, Mamanao DM. Effectiveness and Safety of Abrocitinib in Patients with Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. *Dermatol Res Pract*. 2021;2021:8382761. doi:10.1155/2021/8382761
- 4. Fahrbach K, Tarpey J, Washington EB, et al. Crisaborole Ointment, 2%, for Treatment of Patients with Mild-to-Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: Systematic Literature Review and Network Meta-Analysis. *Dermatol Ther (Heidelb)*. Aug 2020;10(4):681-694. doi:10.1007/s13555-020-00389-5
- Tsai HR, Lu JW, Chen LY, Chen TL. Application of Janus Kinase Inhibitors in Atopic Dermatitis: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Clinical Trials. *J Pers Med*. Apr 7 2021;11(4)doi:10.3390/jpm11040279
- 6. Mostafa N, Phan K, Lai B, Smith SD. Comparing quality of life outcomes of JAK inhibitors and biological treatments for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol*. Nov 2021;14(11):1435-1444.
- Nusbaum KB, Fleischer S, Fleischer AB, Jr. Efficacy of biologics and oral small molecules for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Oct 8 2021:1-11. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1986204
- 8. Miao M, Ma L. The efficacy and safety of JAK inhibitors for atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Jul 27 2021:1-9. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1942422
- Li C, Sun X, Zhao K, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Janus Kinase Inhibitors for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Dermatology*. Aug 27 2021:1-11. doi:10.1159/000518541
- Zhang L, Wang L, Jiang X. The efficacy of Janus kinase inhibitors in patients with atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Dermatol Ther*. Sep 2021;34(5):e15098. doi:10.1111/dth.15098
- Abramovits W, Fleischer AB Jr, Jaracz E, Breneman D. Adult patients with moderate atopic dermatitis: tacrolimus ointment versus pimecrolimus cream. J Drugs Dermatol. 2008 Dec;7(12):1153-8. PMID: 19137769
- 12. Bieber T, Simpson EL, Silverberg JI, et al. Abrocitinib versus Placebo or Dupilumab for Atopic Dermatitis. *N Engl J Med*. Mar 25 2021;384(12):1101-1112. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2019380
- Blauvelt A, Silverberg JI, Lynde CW, et al. Abrocitinib induction, randomized withdrawal, and retreatment in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: Results from the JAK1 Atopic Dermatitis Efficacy and Safety (JADE) REGIMEN phase 3 trial. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jan 2022;86(1):104-112. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.05.075

- Blauvelt A, Teixeira HD, Simpson EL, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Upadacitinib vs Dupilumab in Adults With Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Sep 1 2021;157(9):1047-1055. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.3023
- Eichenfield LF, Flohr C, Sidbury R, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Abrocitinib in Combination With Topical Therapy in Adolescents With Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: The JADE TEEN Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Dermatol*. Oct 1 2021;157(10):1165-1173. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.2830
- 16. Fleischer AB, Jr., Abramovits W, Breneman D, Jaracz E. Tacrolimus ointment is more effective than pimecrolimus cream in adult patients with moderate to very severe atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. 2007;18(3):151-7. doi:10.1080/09546630701287332
- Guttman-Yassky E, Teixeira HD, Simpson EL, et al. Once-daily upadacitinib versus placebo in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (Measure Up 1 and Measure Up 2): results from two replicate double-blind, randomised controlled phase 3 trials. *Lancet*. Jun 5 2021;397(10290):2151-2168. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00588-2
- Kempers S, Boguniewicz M, Carter E, et al. A randomized investigator-blinded study comparing pimecrolimus cream 1% with tacrolimus ointment 0.03% in the treatment of pediatric patients with moderate atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Oct 2004;51(4):515-25. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2004.01.051
- 19. Onumah N, Kircik L. Pimecrolimus cream and Tacrolimus ointment in the treatment of atopic dermatitis: a pilot study on patient preference. *J Drugs Dermatol*. Oct 2013;12(10):1145-8.
- 20. Paller AS, Lebwohl M, Fleischer AB, Jr., et al. Tacrolimus ointment is more effective than pimecrolimus cream with a similar safety profile in the treatment of atopic dermatitis: results from 3 randomized, comparative studies. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. May 2005;52(5):810-22. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2004.12.038
- Reich K, Teixeira HD, de Bruin-Weller M, et al. Safety and efficacy of upadacitinib in combination with topical corticosteroids in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (AD Up): results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet*. Jun 5 2021;397(10290):2169-2181. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00589-4
- 22. Simpson EL, Forman S, Silverberg JI, et al. Baricitinib in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: Results from a randomized monotherapy phase 3 trial in the United States and Canada (BREEZE-AD5). *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jul 2021;85(1):62-70. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.02.028
- 23. Atlas SJ, Brouwer E, Fox G, Carlson JJ, Campbell JD, Agboola F, Hansen RN, Pearson SD, Rind DM. JAK Inhibitors and Monoclonal Antibodies for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis: Effectiveness and Value; Evidence Report. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review, July 9, 2021. https://icer.org/assessment/atopic-dermatitis-2021/#timeline

List of Excluded References

Wrong Study Design

 Lee DE, Clark AK, Tran KA, Shi VY. New and emerging targeted systemic therapies: a new era for atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Jun 2018;29(4):364-374. doi:10.1080/09546634.2017.1373736

- 2. Uppal SK, Kearns DG, Chat VS, Han G, Wu JJ. Review and analysis of biologic therapies currently in phase II and phase III clinical trials for atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Jun 8 2020:1-11. doi:10.1080/09546634.2020.1775775
- 3. Edwards T, Patel NU, Blake A, et al. Insights into future therapeutics for atopic dermatitis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. Feb 2018;19(3):265-278. doi:10.1080/14656566.2018.1430140
- 4. Poster Presentations. *Australasian Journal of Dermatology*. 2021;62(S1):21-142. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/ajd.13279
- 5. Damiani G, Calzavara-Pinton P, Stingeni L, Hansel K, Cusano F, Pigatto PDM. Italian guidelines for therapy of atopic dermatitis-Adapted from consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis). *Dermatol Ther*. Nov 2019;32(6):e13121. doi:10.1111/dth.13121
- 6. Gonçalves F, Freitas E, Torres T. Selective IL-13 inhibitors for the treatment of atopic dermatitis. *Drugs Context*. 2021;10doi:10.7573/dic.2021-1-7
- 7. Lee GR, Maarouf M, Hendricks AK, Lee DE, Shi VY. Current and emerging therapies for hand eczema. *Dermatol Ther*. May 2019;32(3):e12840. doi:10.1111/dth.12840
- 8. Arora CJ, Khattak FA, Yousafzai MT, Ibitoye BM, Shumack S. The effectiveness of Janus kinase inhibitors in treating atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dermatol Ther*. Jul 2020;33(4):e13685. doi:10.1111/dth.13685
- 9. Snast I, Reiter O, Hodak E, Friedland R, Mimouni D, Leshem YA. Are Biologics Efficacious in Atopic Dermatitis? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. Apr 2018;19(2):145-165. doi:10.1007/s40257-017-0324-7
- 10. Renert-Yuval Y, Guttman-Yassky E. New treatments for atopic dermatitis targeting beyond IL-4/IL-13 cytokines. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*. Jan 2020;124(1):28-35. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2019.10.005
- 11. Tasker F, Brown A, Grindlay DJC, Rogers NK, Harman KE. What's new in atopic eczema? An analysis of systematic reviews published in 2018. Part 1: prevention and topical therapies. *Clin Exp Dermatol*. Dec 2020;45(8):974-979. doi:10.1111/ced.14303
- 12. Fardos MI, Singh R, Perche PO, Kelly KA, Feldman SR. Evaluating topical JAK inhibitors as a treatment option for atopic dermatitis. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Oct 22 2021:1-11. doi:10.1080/1744666x.2022.1993061
- 13. Howell MD, Fitzsimons C, Smith PA. JAK/STAT inhibitors and other small molecule cytokine antagonists for the treatment of allergic disease. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*. Apr 2018;120(4):367-375. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2018.02.012
- 14. Rodrigues MA, Nogueira M, Torres T. Dupilumab for atopic dermatitis: evidence to date. *G Ital Dermatol Venereol*. Dec 2019;154(6):696-713. doi:10.23736/s0392-0488.19.06417-4
- 15. Hon KLE, Chan VPY, Leung AKC. Experimental Drugs with the Potential to Treat Atopic Eczema. *J Exp Pharmacol*. 2021;13:487-498. doi:10.2147/jep.S259299
- 16. Olabi B, Worboys S, Garland T, Grindlay DJC, Rogers NK, Harman KE. What's new in atopic eczema? An analysis of systematic reviews published in 2018. Part 2: systemic therapies. *Clin Exp Dermatol*. Dec 2020;45(8):980-985. doi:10.1111/ced.14304
- 17. Remitz A, De Pità O, Mota A, Serra-Baldrich E, Vakirlis E, Kapp A. Position statement: topical calcineurin inhibitors in atopic dermatitis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Dec 2018;32(12):2074-2082. doi:10.1111/jdv.15272
- Marrouche N, Lancaster N, Grindlay DJC, Rogers NK, Olabi B. What's new in atopic eczema? An analysis of systematic reviews published in 2019. Part 2: treatment. *Clin Exp Dermatol*. Oct 2021;46(7):1211-1215. doi:10.1111/ced.14775

- 19. Siegels D, Heratizadeh A, Abraham S, et al. Systemic treatments in the management of atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Allergy*. Apr 2021;76(4):1053-1076. doi:10.1111/all.14631
- 20. Silverberg JI, Thyssen JP, Fahrbach K, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of systemic therapies used in moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: a systematic literature review and network metaanalysis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Sep 2021;35(9):1797-1810. doi:10.1111/jdv.17351
- Zhang L, Du D, Wang L, Guo L, Jiang X. Efficacy and safety of topical Janus kinase and phosphodiesterase inhibitor-4 inhibitors for the treatment of atopic dermatitis: A network metaanalysis. J Dermatol. Dec 2021;48(12):1877-1883. doi:10.1111/1346-8138.16126
- 22. Calabrese L, Malvaso D, Chiricozzi A, et al. Baricitinib: therapeutic potential for moderate to severe atopic dermatitis. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. Oct 2020;29(10):1089-1098. doi:10.1080/13543784.2020.1800639
- 23. Puar N, Chovatiya R, Paller AS. New treatments in atopic dermatitis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*. Jan 2021;126(1):21-31. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2020.08.016
- 24. Mendes JT, Balogh EA, Strowd LC, Feldman SR. An evaluation of baricitinib as a therapeutic option for adult patients with moderate to severe atopic dermatitis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. Jun 2020;21(9):1027-1033. doi:10.1080/14656566.2020.1739268
- 25. Sánchez J, Sánchez MR, Macías-Weinmann A, et al. Systematic review about 10 interventions in dermatitis. A document from the Latin American Society of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology. *Rev Alerg Mex*. Oct-Dec 2019;66(4):426-455. Revisión sistemática sobre 10 intervenciones en dermatitis. Un documento de la Sociedad Latinoamericana de Alergia Asma e Inmunología. doi:10.29262/ram.v66i4.636
- Wollenberg A, Barbarot S, Bieber T, et al. Consensus-based European guidelines for treatment of atopic eczema (atopic dermatitis) in adults and children: part II. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Jun 2018;32(6):850-878. doi:10.1111/jdv.14888
- 27. Saco T, Ugalde IC, Cardet JC, Casale TB. Strategies for choosing a biologic for your patient with allergy or asthma. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*. Dec 2021;127(6):627-637. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2021.09.009
- 28. Qiu M, Duan XY, Yin DG. Network meta-analysis on the efficacy and safety of upadacitinib in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. *Int J Dermatol*. Jan 2022;61(1):e24-e26. doi:10.1111/ijd.15850
- 29. Yang X, Kambe N, Takimoto-Ito R, Kabashima K. Advances in the pathophysiology of atopic dermatitis revealed by novel therapeutics and clinical trials. *Pharmacol Ther*. Aug 2021;224:107830. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2021.107830
- 30. Tubau C, Puig L. Therapeutic targeting of the IL-13 pathway in skin inflammation. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Jan 2021;17(1):15-25. doi:10.1080/1744666x.2020.1858802
- 31. Zhou S, Qi F, Gong Y, Zhang J, Zhu B. Biological Therapies for Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review. *Dermatology*. 2021;237(4):542-552. doi:10.1159/000514535
- 32. Senner S, Seegräber M, Frey S, Kendziora B, Eicher L, Wollenberg A. Dupilumab for the treatment of adolescents with atopic dermatitis. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Jul 2020;16(7):641-650. doi:10.1080/1744666x.2020.1801420
- 33. Montilla AM, Gómez-García F, Gómez-Arias PJ, et al. Scoping Review on the Use of Drugs Targeting JAK/STAT Pathway in Atopic Dermatitis, Vitiligo, and Alopecia Areata. *Dermatol Ther (Heidelb)*. Dec 2019;9(4):655-683. doi:10.1007/s13555-019-00329-y

- 34. Papier A, Strowd LC. Atopic dermatitis: a review of topical nonsteroid therapy. *Drugs Context*. 2018;7:212521. doi:10.7573/dic.212521
- Silverberg JI, Thyssen JP, Simpson EL, et al. Impact of Oral Abrocitinib Monotherapy on Patient-Reported Symptoms and Quality of Life in Adolescents and Adults with Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Pooled Analysis of Patient-Reported Outcomes. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. Jul 2021;22(4):541-554. doi:10.1007/s40257-021-00604-9
- 36. Thyssen JP, Yosipovitch G, Paul C, et al. Patient-reported outcomes from the JADE COMPARE randomized phase 3 study of abrocitinib in adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Nov 15 2021;doi:10.1111/jdv.17813
- 37. Lio PA, Simpson EL, Han G, et al. Improvement in sleep and itch and enhanced quality of life in adult patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: results from a phase 3 trial of baricitinib therapy. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Jun 28 2021:1-6. doi:10.1080/09546634.2021.1914308
- 38. Kim BS, Silverberg JI, Ständer S, et al. Rapid Improvement of Itch Associated With Atopic Dermatitis With Abrocitinib Is Partially Independent of Overall Disease Improvement: Results From Pooled Phase 2b and 3 Monotherapy Studies. *Dermatitis*. Oct 1 2021;32(1s):S39-s44. doi:10.1097/der.00000000000770
- King B, Maari C, Lain E, et al. Extended Safety Analysis of Baricitinib 2 mg in Adult Patients with Atopic Dermatitis: An Integrated Analysis from Eight Randomized Clinical Trials. *Am J Clin Dermatol*. May 2021;22(3):395-405. doi:10.1007/s40257-021-00602-x
- 40. Kirsner RS, Heffernan MP, Antaya R. Safety and efficacy of tacrolimus ointment versus pimecrolimus cream in the treatment of patients with atopic dermatitis previously treated with corticosteroids. *Acta Derm Venereol*. 2010;90(1):58-64. doi:10.2340/00015555-0748
- Thyssen JP, Buhl T, Fernández-Peñas P, et al. Baricitinib Rapidly Improves Skin Pain Resulting in Improved Quality of Life for Patients with Atopic Dermatitis: Analyses from BREEZE-AD1, 2, and 7. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb). Oct 2021;11(5):1599-1611. doi:10.1007/s13555-021-00577-x
- 42. Wollenberg A, Nakahara T, Maari C, et al. Impact of baricitinib in combination with topical steroids on atopic dermatitis symptoms, quality of life and functioning in adult patients with moderate-tosevere atopic dermatitis from the BREEZE-AD7 Phase 3 randomized trial. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Jul 2021;35(7):1543-1552. doi:10.1111/jdv.17278
- 43. Cork MJ, McMichael A, Teng J, et al. Impact of oral abrocitinib on signs, symptoms and quality of life among adolescents with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: an analysis of patient-reported outcomes. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*. Nov 7 2021;doi:10.1111/jdv.17792
- 44. Silverberg JI, Simpson EL, Wollenberg A, et al. Long-term Efficacy of Baricitinib in Adults With Moderate to Severe Atopic Dermatitis Who Were Treatment Responders or Partial Responders: An Extension Study of 2 Randomized Clinical Trials. JAMA Dermatol. Jun 1 2021;157(6):691-699. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2021.1273

Wrong Comparator

- 45. Chen X, Liu M, Wu S, et al. Treatment-emergent adverse events in dupilumab-treated patients with allergic diseases: A meta-analysis. *Allergy*. Feb 2021;76(2):593-596. doi:10.1111/all.14610
- Ramachandran V, Cline A, Feldman SR, Strowd LC. Evaluating crisaborole as a treatment option for atopic dermatitis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. Jun 2019;20(9):1057-1063. doi:10.1080/14656566.2019.1604688

- 47. Uppal SK, Chat VS, Kearns DG, Wu JJ. Topical Agents Currently in Phase II or Phase III Trials for Atopic Dermatitis. *J Drugs Dermatol*. Oct 1 2020;19(10):956-959. doi:10.36849/jdd.2020.5214
- Tan XL, Thomas BR, Tan YJ, O'Toole EA. Effects of systemic therapies on pruritus in adults with atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Exp Dermatol*. Oct 13 2021;doi:10.1111/ced.14976
- 49. Yazdanian N, Mozafarpoor S, Goodarzi A. Phosphodiesterase inhibitors and prostaglandin analogues in dermatology: A comprehensive review. *Dermatol Ther*. Jan 2021;34(1):e14669. doi:10.1111/dth.14669
- 50. Agache I, Song Y, Posso M, et al. Efficacy and safety of dupilumab for moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: A systematic review for the EAACI biologicals guidelines. *Allergy*. Jan 2021;76(1):45-58. doi:10.1111/all.14510
- 51. Yang H, Wang J, Zhang X, et al. Application of Topical Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitors in Mild to Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Dermatol*. May 1 2019;155(5):585-593. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2019.0008
- 52. Wang FP, Tang XJ, Wei CQ, Xu LR, Mao H, Luo FM. Dupilumab treatment in moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dermatol Sci*. May 2018;90(2):190-198. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2018.01.016
- 53. ADTH Common Drug Reviews. *Clinical Review Report: Dupilumab (Dupixent): (Sanofi Genzyme, a division of sanofi-aventis Canada Inc): Indication: Indicated for the treatment of patients aged 12 years and older with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis whose disease is not adequately controlled with topical prescription therapies or when those therapies are not advisable*. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health Copyright © 2020 Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.; 2020.
- 54. Pereyra-Rodriguez JJ, Alcantara-Luna S, Domínguez-Cruz J, et al. Short-Term Effectiveness and Safety of Biologics and Small Molecule Drugs for Moderate to Severe Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. *Life (Basel)*. Sep 6 2021;11(9)doi:10.3390/life11090927
- 55. Wollenberg A, Blauvelt A, Guttman-Yassky E, et al. Tralokinumab for moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: results from two 52-week, randomized, double-blind, multicentre, placebo-controlled phase III trials (ECZTRA 1 and ECZTRA 2). *Br J Dermatol*. Mar 2021;184(3):437-449. doi:10.1111/bjd.19574
- 56. Silverberg JI, Toth D, Bieber T, et al. Tralokinumab plus topical corticosteroids for the treatment of moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: results from the double-blind, randomized, multicentre, placebo-controlled phase III ECZTRA 3 trial. *Br J Dermatol*. Mar 2021;184(3):450-463. doi:10.1111/bjd.19573
- 57. Gutermuth J, Pink AE, Worm M, Soldbro L, Bjerregård Øland C, Weidinger S. Tralokinumab plus topical corticosteroids in adults with severe atopic dermatitis and inadequate response to or intolerance of cyclosporine A: a placebo-controlled, randomized, Phase 3 clinical trial (ECZTRA 7). *Br J Dermatol*. Oct 26 2021;doi:10.1111/bjd.20832

<u>Duplicate</u>

58. Agache I, Song Y, Posso M, et al. Efficacy and safety of dupilumab for moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: A systematic review for the EAACI biologicals guidelines. *Allergy*. Jan 2021;76(1):45-58. doi:10.1111/all.14510

- 59. Arora CJ, Khattak FA, Yousafzai MT, Ibitoye BM, Shumack S. The effectiveness of Janus kinase inhibitors in treating atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dermatol Ther*. Jul 2020;33(4):e13685. doi:10.1111/dth.13685
- 60. CADTH Common Drug Reviews. Clinical Review Report: Dupilumab (Dupixent): (Sanofi-Aventis Canada Inc): Indication: Moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (AD). Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health Copyright © 2018 Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.; 2018.
- 61. Siegels D, Heratizadeh A, Abraham S, et al. Systemic treatments in the management of atopic dermatitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Allergy*. Apr 2021;76(4):1053-1076. doi:10.1111/all.14631

Wrong Intervention

- 62. Sawangjit R, Dilokthornsakul P, Lloyd-Lavery A, Lai NM, Dellavalle R, Chaiyakunapruk N. Systemic treatments for eczema: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Sep 14 2020;9(9):Cd013206. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD013206.pub2
- 63. Mobasher P, Heydari Seradj M, Raffi J, Juhasz M, Atanaskova Mesinkovska N. Oral small molecules for the treatment of atopic dermatitis: a systematic review. *J Dermatolog Treat*. Sep 2019;30(6):550-557. doi:10.1080/09546634.2018.1544412
- 64. Seger EW, Wechter T, Strowd L, Feldman SR. Relative efficacy of systemic treatments for atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Feb 2019;80(2):411-416.e4. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2018.09.053

<u>Outdated</u>

- 65. Kerschbaumer A, Smolen JS, Nash P, et al. Points to consider for the treatment of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases with Janus kinase inhibitors: a systematic literature research. *RMD Open*. Nov 2020;6(3)doi:10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001374
- 66. Drucker AM, Ellis AG, Bohdanowicz M, et al. Systemic Immunomodulatory Treatments for Patients With Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. *JAMA Dermatol*. Jun 1 2020;156(6):659-667. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.0796
- 67. Silverberg JI, de Bruin-Weller M, Bieber T, et al. Upadacitinib plus topical corticosteroids in atopic dermatitis: Week 52 AD Up study results. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. Aug 14 2021;doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2021.07.036

Wrong Setting

68. Merola JF, Bagel J, Almgren P, et al. Tralokinumab does not impact vaccine-induced immune responses: Results from a 30-week, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jul 2021;85(1):71-78. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2021.03.032